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Mont val e Pl anni ng Board Meeti ng

UB Chestnut LLC c/o Regency Centers

Tuesday, Decenber 16, 2025
7:42 p. m

Bor ough of Mbontval e Muni ci pal Conpl ex
12 DePiero Drive
Mont val e, NJ 07645

Reported by: Eric Kim
JOB NO 7779566
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1 APPEARANCES
2 List of Attendees:
3 John DePinto, Chairman
4 William Lintner, Vice Chairman
Robert Regan, Board Attorney
6 Chris Gruber, Construction/Zoning Official
7 Dieter Koelling, Council Liaison
8
9

(&)

John Ryan, Mayor's Designee
Jeanne Fondacaro, Planning Coordinator
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1 PROCEEDINGS
2 MR. DEPINTO: May | havearall cal,
3 please?
4 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. John Culhane?
5 MR. CULHANE: Here.
6 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Chris Gruber?
7 MR. GRUBER: Here.
8 MS. FONDACARO: Council Member
9 Kodlling?

10 Darlene Greene, Borough Planner 10 MR. KOELLING: Here.
11 Carl O'Brien, Borough Engineer 11 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. William Lintner?
12 John Culhane, Board Member 12 MR. LINTNER: Here.
13 Frank Stefanelli, Board Member 13 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. John Ryan?
14 Joseph Puglisi, First Alternate 14 MR. RYAN: Here.
15 Anita Bagdat, Second Alternate 15 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Frank Stefanelli?
16 16 MR. STEFANELLI: Here.
17 17 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Javid Huseynov?
18 18 Mr. Sherwin Tsai? Mr. Joseph Puglisi?
19 19 MR. PUGLISI: Here.
20 20 MS. FONDACARO: Ms. AnitaBagdat?
21 21 MS. BAGDAT: Here.
22 22 MS. FONDACARO: Chairman John DePinto?
23 23 MR. DEPINTO: Here.
24 24 Okay. Environmental Commission
25 25 report -- and Mr. Tsai's not here this evening, so
Page 3 Page 5
1 EXHIBITS 1 we'll carry that to next month's meeting.
2 NO. DESCRIPTION PAGE 2 Site plan review committee
3 Exhibit A Proposed Floorplan Alterations for 3 report -- Bill?
4 136 Summit Avenue 11 4 MR. LINTNER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
5 Exhibit A1 Initial Application Package 35 5 Tonight, we actually had a continued
6 Exhibit A2 Pad Site Plans 56 6 hearing, the job we're on, Montvale, which is the gas
7 Exhibit A3 New JMC Drawings, C0O00 - MML-904, 7 station up on Chestnut Ridge Road where the Dunkin
8 Drawing L200, Lighting Plan 77 8 Donutsis now; the owner is proposing to change
9 Exhibit A4 Drawing C010, Existing Conditions 77 9 branding to a Tim Horton's coffee shop.
10 Exhibit A5  Proposed Conditions 82 10 They came before us last month and we
11 Exhibit A6 L2100, Landscaping 91 11 suggested they go back and review the origina
12 Exhibit A7 Revised Stormwater Management 12 approval back in 2004, which they did. It was
13 Report 93 13 determined that they will till be in compliance with
14 Exhibit A8  Soil Moving Documentation 99 14 that approval. The Board told the applicant that we
15 Exhibit A9  Truck Turning Analysis - Montvale 15 will handle this as a smple use permit; we will not
16 Aeria Fire Truck 154 16 have a-- we don't find it necessary they do a
17 Exhibit B1 Montvale Fire Department Review 17 complete site plan approval.
18 L etter 150 18 So he'll come before us with an
19 19 application for a use permit in the future; we will do
20 20 an approval resolution on this to provide arecord.
21 21 We've also asked, and the applicant agreed, to meet
22 22 with our engineer and our construction officia to
23 23 determine some striping for the parking lot and
24 24 directional striping to get in and out of the
25 25 property. And the applicant's also going to look into
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1 dternative colorsfor Tim Horton signs. So we expect 1 Also, the minutes of December 2, 2025,
2 to see ause permit application sometime in the near 2 have been distributed to board members. Chair will
3 future from that. 3 entertain amotion to approve.
4 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you. Hasthe 4 MR. LINTNER: So moved.
5 Master Plan Committee made a report on that? 5 MR. DEPINTO: Mr. Lintner, seconded Mr.
6 MR. LINTNER: Master Plan does not meet 6 Stefanelli.
7 tonight; there's no report. 7 Discussion?
8 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. 8 Hearing none, roll call vote, please.
9 The zoning report, Mr. Gruber? 9 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Culhane?
10 MR. GRUBER: There's nothing to report 10 MR. CULHANE: Yes.
11 tonight. 11 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Gruber?
12 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Thank you. 12 MR. GRUBER: Abstain.
13 Correspondence -- members of the board 13 MS. FONDACARQ: Council Member
14 received copies of correspondence that were received 14 Koelling?
15 by the board secretary and distributed to them. 15 MR. KOELLING: Yes.
16 Board members, anybody have any 16 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Litner?
17 questions or comments with respect to same? 17 MR. LINTNER: Yes.
18 Hearing none, members of the public 18 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Ryan?
19 that may have an interest in reviewing said 19 MR. RYAN: Yes.
20 correspondence, please be advised it's available for 20 MS. FONDACARQO: Mr. Stefanelli?
21 inspection on the table in the rear of the room. 21 MR. STEFANELLI: Yes.
22 Minutes have been distributed for the 22 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Puglisi?
23 October 7th meeting. Chair will entertain amotion to 23 MR. PUGLISI: Yes.
24 gpprove. 24 MS. FONDACAROQO: Ms. Bagdat?
25 MR. STEFANELLI: So moved. 25 MS. BAGDAT: Yes.
Page 7 Page 9
1 MR. KOELLING: I'll second. 1 MS. FONDACARO: Chairman DePinto?
2 MR. DEPINTO: Dieter seconded. I'm 2 MR. DEPINTO: Yes.
3 sorry, Frank -- 3 Okay. Let's move on to use permits.
4 Discussion? 4 Block 1903, Lot 6, 136 Summit Avenue, Suite 203A,
5 Hearing none, roll call vote, please. 5 Magitech Paul, LLC.
6 MS. FONDACAROQO: Mr. Culhane? 6 MR. BOLSON: Good evening, Mr.
7 MR. CULHANE: Abstain. 7 Chairman. Andrew Bolson from Myerson Fox & Conte on
8 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Gruber? 8 behalf of the applicant.
9 MR. GRUBER: Abstain; | think | said 9 MR. REGAN: Counsel, I'm going to swear
10 that. 10 your client.
11 MS. FONDACARO: Council Member 11 So raiseright hand. Do you swear or
12 Koelling? 12 affirm that the testimony you will givein this --
13 MR. KOELLING: Yes. 13 MR. BOLSON: Did you hear him? I'm
14 MS. FONDACARQ: Mr. Lintner? 14 sorry -
15 MR. LINTNER: Yes. 15 WHEREUPON,
16 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Ryan? 16 WHEDON PAM,
17 MR. RYAN: Abstain. 17 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn
18 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Stefanelli? 18 totell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
19 MR. STEFANELLI: Yes. 19 the truth, was examined and testified as follows:
20 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Puglisi? 20 MR. REGAN: Now | will just -- your
21 MR. PUGLISI: Yes. 21 full name and spell your last name, please.
22 MS. FONDACAROQO: Ms. Bagdat? 22 MR. PAM: First name Whedon [ph], last
23 MS. BAGDAT: Yes. 23 name Pam, P-A-M.
24 MS. FONDACARQ: Chairman DePinto? |24 MR. REGAN: Thank you.
25 MR. DEPINTO: Yes. 25 Y ou got that, Jeanne?
3 (Pages 6 - 9)
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MR. PAM: Last name P-A-M.

MS. FONDACARO: P-A-M? Thank you.
MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. Good
evening.
Mr. Bolson, any changes or corrections
to the application?
MR. BOLSON: No, Mr. Chairman.
MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. Board
9 isin receipt of ause permit application submitted in
10 the name of Magitech Paul, LLC of Princeton, New
11 Jersey. Andrew Bolson, New Jersey attorney at law, is
12 representing the applicant this evening in this
13 matter. The name of the owner of the subject property
14 to be occupied is Ateres Y ork, LLC with a Summit
15 Avenue, Montvale, address.
16 The building intended to be occupied is
17 known as 136 Summit Avenue, Block 1903, Lot 6, in
18 Suite 203A. The property isin the OR3 zone of the
19 Borough. The building is approximately 35,000 square
20 feet; applicant intends to occupy 1,161 square feet in
21 the building.
22 Application indicates that the
23 applicant does not currently occupy any spacein the

o ~NO O WNBE
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1 bearing two signatures.

2 And, Mr. Bolson, could either you or
3 your client identify the signatures on this
4 application?
5 MR. BOLSON: Do you recognize the
6 signature of Mr. Mah [ph]?
7 MR. PAM: Oh, yes. Yes.
8 MR. BOLSON: And he's the main member
9 of Magitech Paul?
10 MR. PAM: Yes.
11 MR. BOLSON: And that is Mr. Gruber,

12 David Gruber, who isthe owner of AteresYork LLC; are
13 you aware of that?

14 MR. PAM: Yes.

15 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Attached to the

16 application isthe application for the Montvale Police
17 Department, also in exhibit marked A, which shows a
18 floor plan.

19 And, Mr. Bolson, | am sorry, the suite

20 that this defendant will be occupying is 203A7?

21 MR. BOLSON: Yes, that's correct.

22 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. And | presumethis
23 floor plan was provided to you by the landlord or

business office for a company that sells high-quality,
advanced dietary supplements.” Number of offices
contained on premises, four. Proposed alterations --
attached to this application is an Exhibit A, which
would be that floor plan.

(Exhibit A was marked for

identification.)

MR. DEPINTO: Number of employees
stocked by premises, two. Parking spaces required for
their use, two. parking space required for visitors,
one. Total number of parking spaces provided, at
least -- they've indicated parking isin common with
the other tenants, and further, that no parking spaces
will be physically marked or assigned to this tenant.
Total number of parking spaces on-site, 117 parking in
common.

23 Further, no outdoor sign will be
24 required. Applicant has provided us with employee
25 origination, ZIP codes, and aso an application

24 subject building. The date the applicant intends to 24 owner of the property?
25 occupy the premises, the application reads, 25 MR. BOLSON: That -- that would be my
Page 11 Page 13

1 "Immediately upon c/o issuance." Nature of the 1 assumption.
2 present use of premises -- it's presently vacant. 2 MR. DEPINTO: There'sno title or label
3 Premises was used previously as a 3 toit.
4 general business office for a company specializing in 4 MR. BOLSON: Yes, it must have been
5 paver and pool installation; name of that company was 5 from the landlord.
6 Creative Pavers. Intended use of premises -- "General 6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Okay. And, Mr.
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

7 Bolson, could you please ask your client to give the
8 board an overview of the nature of the business of
9 Magitech Paul, LLC, and more specifically, what
10 operations of the company are intended to take place
11 in the subject premises?

12 MR. BOLSON: Did you hear that

13 question?

14 MR. PAM: Yes.

15 MR. BOLSON: What will you be doing at

16 thislocation?

17 MR. PAM: Thisisfor general office

18 for -- Magitech only for supplement, or -- supplement
19 supply and for, like --

20 MR. BOLSON: So your company's a

21 dietary supplement --

22 MR. PAM: Dietary supplement, yes.

23 MR. BOLSON: Andthisisjust ageneral
24 business office?

25 MR. PAM: General -- general business
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1 office.
2 MR. BOLSON: It's not awarehouse?
3 MR. PAM: Not warehouse, not a --
4 MR. BOLSON: Not a manufacturer?
5 MR. PAM: Not manufacturer.
6 MR. BOLSON: Just an office?
7 MR. PAM: Just an office.
8 MR. BOLSON: And where do you sell
9 these products?

10 MR. PAM: We sell the office -- online

11 -- Amazon or some warehouse sale.

Page 16

1 Chairman.

2 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.

3 Chris?

4 MR. GRUBER: Just make sure he hasa

5 new tenant certificate, and if there's any remodeling

6 of the space, helll have to pull out a permit.

7 MR. BOLSON: Yes.

8 MR. GRUBER: And on the door of his

9 offices, they have that name and the number of the
10 store.

11 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: You haveto have

12 MR. BOLSON: Do you have awarehouse | 12 the suite number outside; we'll put it in an email.
13 somewhere else? 13 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
14 MR. PAM: Amazon -- awarehouse. We | 14 Bill?
15 only shift to -- directly from the manufacturer -- 15 MR. LINTNER: No questions, Mr.
16 manufacturer to FBA. 16 Chairman.
17 MR. DEPINTO: So you maintain no 17 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
18 inventory on the property, no distribution, no intake | 18 John?
19 of product or shipping of product out of the subject | 19 MR. RYAN: No questions, Mr. Chairman.
20 premises; isthat correct? 20 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
21 MR. BOLSON: Weéll, you have samples at | 21 Joe?
22 thelocation? 22 MR. PUGLISI: | have no questions, Mr.
23 MR. PAM: We have samplesin location; |23 Chairman.
24 just the sample. But the main product, weareship | 24 MR. DEPINTO: Anita?
25 through Amazon for a FBA warehouse. 25 MS. BAGDAT: | have one.
Page 15 Page 17
1 MR. DEPINTO: So your product is 1 Are you moving from Princeton? Will
2 primarily shipped out of awarehouse and you're using 2 this be another location for you, or are you moving
3 this office just for administrative purposes? 3 your business from Princeton to Montvale?
4 MR. PAM: Yeah, and | visit office also 4 MR. PAM: Y eah, moving from Princeton
5 to contact the client, show the sample to them. 5 to this-- this office.
6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. But these are not 6 MS. BAGDAT: And how long you beenin
7 retails? 7 business?
8 MR. PAM: Not retall, it iswholesale. 8 MR. PAM: Four, five years -- yeah.
9 MR. DEPINTO: So your clients are 9 MS. BAGDAT: Thank you.
10 wholesale -- 10 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
11 MR. PAM: Yes-- wholesale, yes. Some 11 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Thank you.
12 clients-- 12 Mike, do you have anything on this?
13 MR. DEPINTO: Distributors or -- orders 13 MR. O'BRIEN: Yeah, onthe police
14 or whatever? 14 department application, you have down that there's a
15 MR. PAM: Yeah. Yes. 15 firealarmin that building. Asfar as| know,
16 MR. DEPINTO: So there will be no 16 there's not -- we have on-premises fireand it calls
17 retail activity? That'sreally the basis of the 17 to the police department.
18 question. 18 MR. BOLSON: We're checking that out.
19 MR. PAM: No retail activity there, no. 19 MR. OBRIEN: There's not onein that
20 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. 20 building; there's no sprinkler, no fire alarm.
21 Mr. Stefanelli, any questions? 21 MR. BOLSON: Okay. Do you want usto
22 MR. STEFANELLI: | have no questions, 22 amend? Well amend?
23 Mr. Chairman. 23 MR. O'BRIEN: | would, yeah, take that
24 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you. 24 off of there, 'cause somebody's going to assume it's
25 MR. CULHANE: No questions, Mr. 25 there. Same on the next one.
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1 MR. BOLSON: Yeah. Okay. 1 MR. BOLSON: No changes.
2 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you. 2 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. Board
3 Okay. Mr. Bolson, anything in close? 3 isinreceipt of ause permit application submitted in
4 MR. BOLSON: No, Mr. Chairman. 4 the name of Nova Electric & Security, Inc. of Park
5 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Chair will 5 Ridge. Andrew Bolson, New Jersey attorney of law, is
6 entertain amotion to approve. 6 representing the applicant this evening in this
7 MR. STEFANELLI: So moved. 7 matter. Owner of the property is Ateres York, LLC,
8 MR. DEPINTO: Frank and John. 8 with aMontvale address. Building intended to be
9 Discussion? 9 occupied isknown as 136 Summit Avenue, Suite 203,
10 Hearing none, roll call vote, please. 10 block 1903, Lot 6, which isin the OR3 zone of the
11 MS. FONDACAROQO: Mr. Culhane? 11 Borough.
12 MR. CULHANE: Yes. 12 The size of the building is
13 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Gruber? 13 approximately 35,000 sguare feet. Applicant intends
14 MR. GRUBER: Yes. 14 to occupy 884 square feet in the subject building.
15 MS. FONDACARO: Council member 15 Applicant indicates that he does not currently occupy
16 Koelling? 16 any spacein the subject building.
17 MR. KOELLING: Yes. 17 The date the applicant intends to
18 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Lintner? 18 occupy the premises, application indicates
19 MR. LINTNER: Yes. 19 "Immediately upon c/o issuance." Nature of present
20 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Ryan? 20 use of premises, application indicates " Presently
21 MR. RYAN: Yes. 21 vacant; premises was used previously as a general
22 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Stefanelli? 22 business office for a" -- blank.
23 MR. STEFANELLI: Yes. 23 MR. BOLSON: I'm not sure.
24 MS. FONDACARQO: Mr. Puglisi? 24 Do you know what was previously used
25 MR. STEFANELLI: Yes. 25 for?
Page 19 Page 21
1 MS. FONDACARO: Ms. Bagdat? 1 MR. MURTHEH: It was previously --
2 MS. BAGDAT: Yes. 2 Creative Pavers --
3 MS. FONDACARO: And Chairman DePinto? 3 MR. BOLSON: Oh, that'sright, Crezative
4 MR. DEPINTO: Yes. 4 Papers. They split the -- they split this case.
5 Thank you. Welcometo Montvale and 5 MR. DEPINTO: Crestive --
6 thank you. 6 MR. BOLSON: Papers.
7 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: You'reall set. 7 MR. DEPINTO: Papers. So, Mr. Bolson,
8 MR. PAM: Thank you. Thank you. 8 we're going to amend the application to reflect that?
9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Next application, 9 MR. BOLSON: Yes.
10 NovaElectric & Security, Inc. of Park Ridge. 10 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Intended use of
11 MR. REGAN: Counsdl, I'm going to swear 11 premises, general business office for Electric &
12 your clientin. 12 Security Company. Offices contained on premises,
13 WHEREUPON, 13 three. Proposed alterations intended; they've
14 KEVIN MURTHEH, 14 indicated that they have a floor plan attached, marked
15 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn 15 asA. Daysand hours of operation, Monday through
16 totell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but 16 Friday, 8:00 am. to 4:30 p.m.
17 the truth, was examined and testified as follows: 17 Application indicates therell be three
18 MR. REGAN: For the record, state your 18 employees; three parking spaces required for their

19 full name and spell your last name, please.
20 MR. MURTHEH: It's Kevin Murtheh, and
21 it'sM-U-R-T-H-E-H.

22 MR. REGAN: Thank you.
23 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.
24 Mr. Bolson, any changes or corrections

25 to the application?

=
(o]

use, two parking spaces required for visitors.

Parking isin common with the other tenants of the
property. Therewill be no physically marked or
assigned parking spaces, and the site contains 117
common parking spaces. Further, no outdoor signswill
24 berequired. The employee origination ZIP codeis

25 provided and the application bears two signatures.

NN NN
W N PPk O
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1 And, Mr. Bolson, can either you or your 1 MR. GRUBER: Standard new tenant
2 client identify the signatures on this application? 2 certificate, building permits if you're going to do
3 MR. BOLSON: Yes, Mr. Chairman. 3 anything, and your name and number on the building.
4 Can you identify your signature? 4 That'sall.
5 MR. MURTHEH: Yes. 5 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No questions,
6 MR. BOLSON: And that is"Kevin 6 Mr. Chairman.
7 Murtheh"? 7 MR. DEPINTO: John?
8 MR. MURTHEH: Yes. 8 MR. CULHANE: Question, Mr. Chairman.
9 MR. BOLSON: And then can youidentify | 9 Looking at the layout of the offices for the previous
10 the signature of the owner of the property? 10 application and this one, the previous application
11 MR. MURTHEH: Yes. 11 location was 1,161 square feet; thisis 84. Looking
12 MR. BOLSON: And that's David Gruber? | 12 at the layout, appears to me that this application has
13 MR. MURTHEH: Yes. 13 thelarger space than the prior one; | question the
14 MR. DEPINTO: Very good, thank you. 14 size on the application. No other comments.
15 Attached to the application, Montvale Police 15 MR. DEPINTO: And, Mr. Bolson, isyour

16 Department application form as well as the floor plan| 16 client -- has he entered into a lease and does that
17 indicating the space which the applicant intendsto | 17 lease set forth the square footage?

18 occupy. 18 MR. MURTHEH: It does.
19 And, Mr. Bolson, could you please have 19 MR. BOLSON: It setsforth asquare
20 your client give us an overview of the nature of the | 20 footage of 884 square feet?
21 business, and more specifically what operations of the 21 MR. MURTHEH: Correct.
22 company are intended to take -- 22 MR. DEPINTO: And isthat net or gross
23 MR. BOLSON: Mr. Murtheh, can you 23 area?
24 describe what's going to be happening in the unit? 24 MR. MURTHEH: Not sure.
25 MR. MURTHEH: It's primarily just 25 MR. BOLSON: You've been in the space?
Page 23 Page 25

1 administrative and clerical, and some estimating. 1 MR. MURTHEH: | have.
2 MR. BOLSON: Andit'syou and -- 2 MR. BOLSON: Isthis consistent with
3 MR. MURTHEH: And an officemanager. | 3 your understanding of what the space looks like?
4 MR. BOLSON: And what -- can you 4 MR. MURTHEH: It's accurate -- the
5 describe the nature of what you do in terms of -- 5 depiction, not --
6 you'rejust ageneral electrician? 6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. We're going to
7 MR. MURTHEH: Yeah, just -- just 7 have to get confirmation on that, so.
8 paperwork; estimates, invoices, estimates. 8 Chris, prior to the issuance of the
9 MR. BOLSON: Okay. 9 C/O, you do an inspection on the property. If you
10 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Soyoudo-- I'm | 10 could confirm the accuracy of the dimensions that are
11 sorry -- security systems, electric? 11 shown on the -- Exhibit A down below.
12 MR. MURTHEH: Electrical. 12 Joe, do you have anything?
13 MR. DEPINTO: Electrical security 13 MR. PUGLISI: | have no questions, Mr.
14 systems. There's no retail sale of product? 14 Chairman.
15 MR. MURTHEH: No. 15 MR. DEPINTO: Anita?
16 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Andyou are 16 MS. BAGDAT: No questions.
17 operating in-business now at Park Ridge; isthat the | 17 MR. DEPINTO: Frank?
18 case? 18 MR. STEFANELLI: Yeah, | have --
19 MR. MURTHEH: Correct. 19 Do you handle residential, or
20 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. 20 commercial, or both?
21 Questions from board members, starting 21 MR. MURTHEH: Mostly commercial, but --
22 with Dieter? 22 but both.
23 MR. KOELLING: Noquestions. Thank | 23 MR. STEFANELLI: Mostly commercial?
24 you. 24 MR. MURTHEH: But both.
25 MR. DEPINTO: Chris? 25 MR. STEFANELLI: And you do fire alarm

7 (Pages 22 - 25)
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systems?

MR. MURTHEH: We do not.

MR. STEFANELLI: No?

MR. MURTHEH: No.

MR. STEFANELLI: Sojust strictly
burglar security cameras, things of that nature?

MR. MURTHEH: Yes. Yep.

MR. STEFANELLI: No further questions.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.

And Mike?

MR. OBRIEN: Y ou going to do any
monitoring on the location?

©O©oO~NOOULhA WNPEF
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13 MR. MURTHEH: On thelocation?

14 MR. BOLSON: Or out of the location.

15 MR. MURTHEH: No. No.

16 MR. OBRIEN: And you're going to amend
17 about the fire dlarm?

18 MR. MURTHEH: Yes.

19 MR. BOLSON: | aready noted that.
20 MR. O'BRIEN: That'sall | got.

21 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.
22 And with respect to the usage of that

23 space, there's no storage of equipment, there's no

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN PP
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MR. LINTNER: Yes.

MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Ryan?

MR. RYAN: Yes.

MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Stefanelli?

MR. STEFANELLI: Yes.

MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Puglisi?

MR. PUGLISI: Yes.

MS. FONDACARO: Ms. Bagdat?

MS. BAGDAT: Yes.

MS. FONDACARO: And Chairman DePinto?

MR. DEPINTO: Yes.

Okay, thank you and welcome to
Montvale.

MR. MURTHEH: Thank you.

Good night, everyone.

MR. DEPINTO: Good night.

Okay. Next, we have anew public
hearing on Block 3101, Lot 1, 1-30 Chestnut Ridge
Road, UB Chestnut, LLC, they're -- Regency Centers.
It's an application for amended site plan approva and
related variances.

THE REPORTER: I'm sorry, can we stop
for asecond? Can we stop for a second?

24 vehicles|eft overnight in the parking area? 24 MR. DEPINTO: Yeah.
25 MR. MURTHEH: Correct. 25 (Off the record.)
Page 27 Page 29
1 MR. DEPINTO: And again, it's limited 1 MR. DEPINTO: -- | understand that
2 to administrative purposes or used to support Nova 2 you're going to arrange to have atranscript done of
3 Electric & Security? 3 that recording to provide it to the board attorney, so
4 MR. MURTHEH: Correct. Yes, Sir. 4 that we can include that information in aresolution
5 Yeah. 5 whenit's set and done.
6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. 6 MS. PRICE: Correct.
7 With that said, Mr. Bolson, anything in 7 MR. DEPINTO: We have quite afew
8 closing? 8 people out here. | know we have a number of a
9 MR. BOLSON: No, Mr. Chairman. 9 witnesses here; | believe the other people are here
10 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Chair will 10 because they may have an interest in this public
11 entertain a motion to approve. 11 hearing of this particular application.
12 MR. KOELLING: So moved. 12 And if, infact, you are here -- |
13 MR. DEPINTO: Dieter; second? 13 don't know if you've ever had an opportunity to
14 MR. LINTNER: Second. 14 participate in a public hearing of the Planning Board,
15 MR. DEPINTO: Bill. 15 but basically, thisisaquasi-judicia board. It
16 Discussion? 16 hearsthe application for either subdivision or site
17 Hearing none, roll call vote, please. 17 plan approval, or any properties that are developed or
18 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Culhane? 18 intended to be developed within the Borough of
19 MR. CULHANE: Yes. 19 Montvale.
20 MS. FONDACARO: Mr. Gruber? 20 A property owner hastheright to
21 MR. GRUBER: Yes. 21 appear before the Committee with any plans that they
22 MS. FONDACARO: Council Member 22 may have for such development. The property owner has
23 Koelling? 23 theright to present to the board professionasto
24 MR. KOELLING: Yes. 24 testify asto what they're seeking to do in order to
25 MS. FONDACAROQ: Mr. Lintner? 25 get the necessary approvals to achieve those goals.
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1 The way the public hearing is held, the

2 attorney for the applicant is kind of a coordinator.

3 Andinthiscase, Ms. Price is appearing before this

4 board on communications -- process that we go through.

5 Shewill present witnesses in the order that she so

6 deems appropriate. The Board will listen to the

7 testimony of that witness, and board members will have

8 the opportunity to ask questions of that particul ar

9 witness.
10
11

After al of the board members have
asked their questions through the Chair, the meeting
12 will be opened to the public, and you as a member of
13 the public will have that same opportunity to ask
14 questions of that professional. When all people have
15 been given that opportunity to speak, the meeting will
16 be closed to the public and the attorney for the
17 applicant will then present her next witness, and so
18 it will go throughout the evening.
19 | ask that members of the public that
20 do get up to ask or to speak, you limit your statement
21 to questions of the testimony that you heard. It's
22 not an opportunity to give your opinion. So she may
23 present an engineer, and if the engineer testifies as
24 to what he or she is doing, our questions will be
25 focused on what that engineer said, and your questions
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1 somebody in the back that --
2 It wasn't very important what he said,
3 soyou didn't miss much. You didn't miss much; |
4 hearditall. Your turn, good --

5 And, Ms. Price, you're up.
6 MS. PRICE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
7 1I'm going to apologize for my raspy -- so I'll take a
8 sipof my --
9 MR. DEPINTO: Y ou're a copycat.

10 MS. PRICE: -- ginger de.

1 MR. DEPINTO: You're acopycat.

12 MS. PRICE: It'stoo raspy.

13 MR. DEPINTO: the Chair has abad

14 voice, so you've got to have -- okay, I'm good.

15 MS. PRICE: Gail Price from the firm of

16 Price Meese Sculman and D'Arminio, 50 Tice Boulevard,
17 Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey. | think my first hearing
18 wasin thisroomin 1982, so I'm dating myself.

19 I'm here this evening, as the Chairman

20 said, in conjunction with an amended site plan

21 application for preliminary and final approval

22 together with certain variants and waiver relief to

23 hopefully finish out the Chestnut Ridge Shopping

24 Center in away that you'll be very proud of how the
25 Center looks -- the residents will be very proud of
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1 should be the same.

2 At the end of the hearing, | will open
3 up the meeting to the public, and that's when you can
4 giveyour closing comments. You could say, "Thisis
5 better than sliced bread" or "I think it's terrible";
6 you can say anything you want at that point.
7 So there's a process that we go
8 through. Please recognize the fact you will be heard.
9 Wedo not -- limit -- as many towns do. Please take
10 as much time as you feel necessary; we take as much as
11 time we feel necessary.
12 And with that said, we're going to move
13 on. And again, I'm going to allow Counsel for the
14 applicant to introduce herself.
15 MR. REGAN: -- Mr. Chairman, before the
16 applicant's Counsel.

17 MR. DEPINTO: Sure.
18 MR. REGAN: First, I'm advised that the
19 notices are delivered according to the board --

20 jurisdictions. We've also been advised of

21 correspondence dated today that the D(1) use variance
22 component of the application has been withdrawn. |
23 could probably request one -- request three members --
24 MR. DEPINTO: And, Bob, if you could

25 turn your microphone on, because | got asign from

Page 33
1 how the Center looks, and some very up-to-date -- both

2 shopping experiences will be made available and the
3 siteitself will be made much more attractive and safe
4 from an overall perspective.
5 This evening, | do have multiple
6 witnesses, asthe Chair noted. My first witness will
7 be arepresentative from Regency; then, | will go to
8 our project architect; from there, to our civil
9 engineer; from there, to my traffic engineer; and then
10 wrapping up with our professional planner, whose job
11 will beto tell the story of how everyone's testimony
12 fits-- fits within the positive and negative criteria
13 of the municipal land use law with regard to the
14 variances and waivers that were being sought in
15 conjunction with the application.
16 Asyour Board Council notice noted, we
17 had provided notice back in November for the December
18 2nd meeting, and that notice was carried forward to
19 tonight. And we also -- | submitted arevised,
20 updated letter today noting also that we were not
21 proceeding with aD(1) variance in any regard.
22 All of the outdoor tables and chairs
23 previoudly shown by the three outparcel restaurants
24 have been removed from our plans, and we will not be
25 seeking any variance approval for those uses. We will
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1 abide by Montvale's dining coordinates and seek
2 approval for permit application once the restaurants
3 areopen.
4 We had supplied an original package
5 about, | don't know, afoot thick of plans;
6 architecture, engineering, a stormwater management
7 report, traffic report; that'sit. And we received
8 reports from your planner and your engineer, as well
9 asthe Montvale Fire Department and Police Department.
10 What | asked our expertsto do wasto
11 go through those reports, particularly your planner
12 and your engineer, and respond with exhibits, which
13 you received -- you should have received at the end of
14 last week or the beginning of thisweek. Not to be
15 considered as full -- fully-filed new plans, but
16 rather as exhibits addressing how the conditions
17 raised in your professionals reports could in fact be
18 addressed. And our witnesses will reconfirm that, but
19 | wanted -- | charged our experts with the duty to
20 advise your experts with how those conditions could,
21 infact, be met.
22 The other variance that we did
23 eliminate was Darlene had called out a C variance for
24 building height on the outparcel building. It had
25 been previously shown at 26 feet; code allows 25 feet.
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1 MR. REGAN: -- of course, probably has
2 different dates.
3 MS. PRICE: No, the application -- I'll

4 giveyouthem. I'll start with Mr. Allegretti, if he
5 could be swornin, and I'll give you those dates, Bob.

6 MR. REGAN: Okay.

7 MS. PRICE: | think that's everything.

8 If | can call Mr. Allegretti up to be sworn.

9 MR. REGAN: Okay. We can swear himin

10 and then I'm also going to swear in the Board of

11 Professionas, Ms. Green and Mr. O'Brien,

12 simultaneously.

13 WHEREUPON,

14 JOSEPH ALLEGRETTI,

15 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn
16 totell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but

17 thetruth, was examined and testified as follows:

18 WHEREUPON,

19 CARL O'BRIEN,

20 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn
21 totell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but

22 thetruth, was examined and testified as follows:

23 WHEREUPON,

24 DARLENE GREEN,

25 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn
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We are reducing it to comply with 25 feet; we will not

require a building height guidance for that.

And I'll take you through the rest of
our relief with the appropriate witnesses, but |
wanted to note those two items since they came from my
end. | have also pre-marked some of the exhibits for
tonight, and I've asked Mr. Regan if it's okay if we
have my entire initial application package marked as
Al for the record.

MR. REGAN: Wecan. Areyou going to
specify Al and sub-parts?

MS. PRICE: No, A1 will be everything
that we first submitted in November. And then I'll
take you through, Bob, and I'm happy to supply you
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15 with afull list after tonight.

16 (Exhibit A1 was marked for

17 identification.)

18 MR. REGAN: Yeah, | think we need to be
19 clear on the record, though, what is being --

20 MS. PRICE: Alis--

21 MR. REGAN: The application package?
22 MS. PRICE: The application package --
23 MR. REGAN: -- what time?

24 MS. PRICE: That was submitted with the
25 initial application and record --
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1 to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but

2 thetruth, was examined and testified as follows:

3 MR. REGAN: Let the record reflect that

4 Borough Planner Green and Carl O'Brien have been sworn

5 in successfully.

6 Sir, could we have your full name

7 please?

8 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Good evening, happy

9 holidays -- happy holidays to the audience. Joseph
10 Allegretti, Joe Allegretti.
11 MR. REGAN: Could you spell your last
12 name just for the record?

13 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Sure, A-L-L-E-G-R-E-T-
14 T-I.

15 MR. REGAN: Thank you.

16 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Apologies, | have a

17 raspy voice, too.

18 MR. REGAN: It'sfashionable.

19 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Thank you all for --
20 for having ustonight. Personally, I'm very happy to
21 be here; it'salong time coming. I'm Joe Allegretti;
22 1'm the vice president and market officer of Regency
23 Centers Northern New Jersey and New Y ork regions.
24 MR. DEPINTO: Joe, hold on one second.
25 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Sure.
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MR. DEPINTO: Can you guys hear in
The back?
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yes.
MR. ALLEGRETTI: Isthat better? Is
5 that better? Hello? Hello? I'll try totalk a--

A OWN PR

6 I'll -- I'll try to talk alittle bit louder.
7 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
8 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Joe Allegretti; I'm

9 the vice president and market officer for Regency
10 Centersof our Northern New Jersey and New Y ork
11 regions. | currently oversee about 50 assets, just
12 under 4 million square feet of mostly retail space.
13 I've been in the real estate business
14 24 years, both on the tenant side and the landlord
15 side, and I've been working on this particular
16 property for amost 12 years.
17 Regency became 100 percent owner in
18 this property August 12, 2025. Regency Centersisa
19 Jacksonville-based publicly-traded real estate
20 investment trust. We trade on the NASDAQ under the
21 ticker symbol "REG." Regency was founded in 1963 and
22 owns approximately 485 properties across the nation
23 gpanning just over 58 million square feet of retail
24 spacein major metro USM SAs.
25 We're an S& P 500 company and we have 20
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1 which we're going to present tonight, is building up
2 on previous concept iterations which were informally
3 discussed with the Borough over the last ten to
4 fifteen years, and we're following through on a
5 commitment to the -- to the Borough that our companies
6 made, and | personally made, to bring this application
7 to life to enhance the property and modernize it.
8 Regency Centersis fully committed to this application
9 and fully authorizes the application.
10 The main theme which you're going to
11 hear from me tonight is -- isto reactivate the site.
12 We're going to accomplish that by creating better
13 traffic flow, including ingress and egress aswell as
14 loading, site circulation, and utilization of avast
15 parking field.
16 We're proposing to upgrade and
17 improve -- upgrade and improve in each site plan,
18 including the elimination of manual parking, more
19 clearly-defined driving and walking paths throughout
20 the site; the introduction of several sustainability
21 concepts, including EV stations aswell as new LED
22 lighting throughout, as well as areduction in overall
23 lot coverage and improved safety and aesthetic
24 viewpoints; upgrading aged infrastructure, including
25 site work, landscaping, paving, curbing, site
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1 regional offices. | residein our Bronxville, New
2 York, officelocated at 111 Kraft Ave, Suite 2, in
3 Bronxville, New York. And I'm part of ateam of two
4 market officersin the Northeast region, which runs
5 from Northern Jersey to Boston.
6 Regency Centers, we currently maintain
7 an A- Stable S&P credit rating aswell asan A3 Stable
8 Moody's credit rating; we're very proud of that. Our
9 nationwide philosophy isto create ideal locations
10 with best-in-class retailers, representing --
11 representative of our communities that we serve
12 through creative merchandising, place-making, and
13 connecting with our -- our local communities. Last
14 year, Newsweek added usto America's Most Responsible
15 Companies list, which we're also very proud of.
16 So just high-level, our site
17 application, we're presenting the opportunity to -- to
18 reactivate, reinvigorate, and energize the Chestnut
19 Ridge Shopping Center and its entire site, which was
20 built inthe 60's, almost 60 years ago -- alittle
21 over 60 years ago.
22 We've put together a dynamic and
23 thoughtful team to reposition and restore this asset
24 as one of the feature propertiesin Montvale and the
25 regional trade area. The most current iteration,
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lighting, waste management upgrades, utility and
mechanical upgrades, aswell as site drainage.

We're proposing to improve the
aesthetics of the Center with a modern yet classic,
architecture trying to fit in nicely with the recent
aesthetically pleasing, high-end, redly first-class
developments that have been brought to Montvale in the
expanded trade areain recent years. And we're
proposing to add additional place-making, including
safe connectivity on the site and to provide community
accessibility to tenants and community dining areas to
really enjoy the property. We're also proposing to
13 add new tenants that are known as some of the best in
14 category, best in class, and bringing the tenant mix
15 forward.
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
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Pending approval and sufficement of any
and all contingencies, our plan isto re-let the
current grocery store, The Fresh Market, to another
national grocer, Trader Joe's, in approximately 13,500
square feet. And we're going to accomplish that by
removing roughly 7,600 square feet off the north end
of The Fresh Market.
23 We're going to activate 360-degree
24 access on the north side of the current building,
25 including more convenient parking for our employees

11 (Pages 38 - 41)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



Page 42 Page 44
1 and patrons, more convenient loading for ease of 1 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
2 access for trucks and making it safer. 2 Dieter?
3 We're also proposing to build aroughly 3 MR. KOELLING: Not to start with.
4 7,600 square foot outparcel building in the middle -- 4 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
5 roughly the middle of the site with three best-in- 5 MR. STEFANELLI: Chris, question?
6 class users -- Shake Shack, Honeygrow, and CAVA -- 6 MR. GRUBER: Not to start with.
7 while, again, utilizing the land to maintain a safe 7 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
8 traffic pattern throughout the site. 8 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Nothing yet.
9 In my opening, I've touched on alot 9 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
10 that our experts are going to get into in greater 10 John?
11 detail. And | do want to note that at the outset, 11 MR. RYAN: No questions, Mr. Chairman.
12 some operational info for alot of our tenants that 12 MR. DEPINTO: Down below, Jog?
13 we're looking to bring in remains premature, and until 13 MR. PUGLISI: | have no questions at
14 our planisfully refined and developed -- will we 14 thistime.
15 have some of those answers. Thank you. 15 MR. DEPINTO: Anita?
16 MS. PRICE: Joe, one question. Canyou 16 MS. BAGDAT: Not at thistime.
17 confirm for the record that leases are in place? 17 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
18 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Contingent |leases are 18 And | have no other questions. With
19 in place, yes. 19 that said, Chair will entertain a motion to open the
20 MS. PRICE: Okay, thank you. 20 meeting to the public.
21 MR. DEPINTO: And the question, Mr. 21 MR. CULHANE: So moved.
22 Allegretti, with respect to other properties that 22 MR. DEPINTO: John and John.
23 Regency has, let's say in northern New Jersey, can you 23 Discussion?
24 identify any of them for us? 24 Hearing none, al in favor?
25 MS. PRICE: Sure. We own the -- we own 25 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.
Page 43 Page 45
1 Emerson Plaza, which is the ShopRite-anchored shopping 1 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Members of the

2 center in Emerson, New Jersey. We own Washington
3 Commons, which isthe Stop & Shop-anchored center in
4 Dumont, New Jersey. We own the Cedar Hill Shopping
5 Center, whichisat 525 Cedar Hill Avenue in Wykoff.
6 We have the Midland Park Shopping Center located at 85
7 Godwin Avenue, Midland Park, New Jersey. We own
8 Waldwick Plazain Waldwick, New Jersey.
9 We own the Waldwick Rite Aid Center --
10 excuse me, Rite Aid's actually out of business, also
11 in Waldwick, which we're redevel oping. We own the
12 Kinnelon Shopping Center on Route 23 in Kinnelon, New
13 Jersey. We own the Pompton Lake Shopping Center in
14 Pompton Lakes, new Jersey. We own the Valley Ridge
15 Shopping Center, Whole Foods-anchored, in Wayne, New
16 Jersey. We own Plaza Square, an Aldi-anchored
17 shopping center in Wayne, New Jersey, amongst others.
18 MR. DEPINTO: Well, thank you. |
19 appreciate it.
20 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Y eah, thank you.
21 Appreciateit.
22 MR. DEPINTO: Questions from board
23 members, and | guess starting with Mr. Stefanelli.
24 MR. STEFANELLI: No questions, Mr.
25 Chairman.

2 public that are here this evening that have any

3 questions of Mr. Allegretti -- and again, thisiswith

4 reference to anything that he testified to -- thisis

5 your chance, just like aboard member, to ask him any
6 questions. If you do wish to be recognized, raise

7 your hand, kindly step forward, state your name and

8 address, and then we'll go from there.

9 Anyone wish to be heard?

10 Sure, you have to step forward, though.
11 MS. PORTNQOY: Sure-- sure. I'm sorry.
12 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: And we need your

13 name and address.

14 MR. DEPINTO: And we need your name and
15 address.
16 MS. PORTNQY: Sure. My name's Debbie

17 Portnoy and I'm at 99 Woodcrest Drive, which isin the

18 neighborhood behind the Regency Shopping Center where
19 those changes are taking place.

20 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Nice meet you.

21 MS. PORTNOY: Niceto meet you too. |

22 think one of my bhiggest concerns -- and | know my

23 neighbors share the same concern -- is the safety that

24 more commerce in the parking lot will bring to our

25 neighborhood. | know you mentioned that you're going
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1 to make everything safer. 1'm just wondering, does
2 that include things like in-site driveway -- like, are
3 you going to be adding atraffic light in order to
4 make that a safer exit and entrance over there?
5 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, I'm going to
6 interrupt you at thistime. Questions like that are
7 better asked of the engineer rather than of this
8 particular witness. Questions relative to the
9 operation of the shopping center is experience in
10 developing or redevel oping shopping centers; anything
11 aong those lineswould be --
12 MS. PORTNOQY: Then maybe my questions
13 are better for the engineer, ‘cause | think I'm more
14 focused on the safety, not the --
15 MR. DEPINTO: Just -- hisfeelings
16 won't be hurt; okay?

17 Okay. Anyone else? No? Chair will

18 entertain --

19 Oh, I'm sorry.

20 MONTVALE PUBLIC: | live at 96 Woodmont
21 Drive.

22 MR. DEPINTO: Yes.

23 MONTVALE PUBLIC: | just havea

24 question. You mentioned thiswas Al. How arethe
25 plansfinalized? Will there be revisions later on?

Page 48
MR. DEPINTO: Yes.

1

2 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Or received prior?

3 MR. DEPINTO: And we're going to have

4 Ms. Price answer those questions.

5 MS. PRICE: Al consists of the site

6 plan review and variance application and checklist

7 filed on November 20th, together with the signed and

8 sealed plans prepared by IMC dated November 14th,

9 consisting of 29 sheets starting with CO00 and running
10 through sheet CCL-901, atraffic study entitled
11 "Chestnut Ridge Shopping Center" prepared by IMC
12 Planning, dated November 18, 2025; an environmental
13 impact statement entitled "Chestnut Ridge Shopping
14 Center" prepared by IMC Planning and Engineering,
15 dated November 14, 2025; signed and sealed plans
16 prepared by CREATE Architecture Planning and Design
17 dated November 14, 2025, consisting of six sheets --
18 consisting of sheet 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6; and
19 stormwater management reports entitled " Chestnut Ridge
20 Shopping Center" prepared by IMC, dated November 10 --
21 I'm sorry, November 19, 2025.
22 Those are the application documents
23 consisting of our initial submittal and what should be
24 referenced as A1, as requested of the board attorney.
25 MR. DEPINTO: And aquestion of Carl

Page 47
1 MR. DEPINTO: Y eah, the applicant has

2 submitted plans for review by the board and the board
3 professionals. The board professionals did technical
4 reviews, which they're required to do so, and they
5 have deemed the application complete. Copies of those
6 plansare available for public inspection aswell as
7 thereview letters of the Board's professionals.
8 What the applicant also did was they
9 took the review letters from Montvale professionals,
10 which they received last week, and they made changes
11 to their plan reflecting the requirements of the Board
12 professionals. They're not available -- they weren't
13 available until today for public inspection. So there
14 wasthe origina plan set, there are al the documents
15 to go with it, but they have been supplemented and
16 there will be testimony with regard to that
17 supplement.
18 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Sofor clarity of the
19 record, can the applicant specify tonight exactly
20 which site plans, traffic studies, and drainage
21 exhibitsareincluded in A1?

22 MR. DEPINTO: Yes.
23 MS. PRICE: Yes.
24 MONTVALE PUBLIC: And which documents

25 will be submitted later?

Page 49
1 O'Brien, Board engineer -- Carl, have you received
2 copies of all of the documents referenced by Ms.
3 Price?
4 MR. OBRIEN: | believe we have.
5 MR. DEPINTO: That'syour pile?
6 MR. ALLEGRETTI: That'sthe pile --
-- verifying everything -- we did

8 receive that point-by-point comment letter, so that's

9 very good. We're going to go right through
10 everything, cross reference it. Anything that's still
11 outstanding for whatever reason, we will be in touch
12 with your professionals from the engineering side.
13 | don't want to speak from my
14 counterpart in Planning, but I'm sure the same would
15 go with Darlene aswdll, and we'll diveinto it.
16 MR. DEPINTO: And, Ms. Green, have --
17 have you received copies of all the documents
18 referenced?
19 MS. GREEN: Anything in here with the
20 environmental impact statements?
21 MS. PRICE: No, that wasin the
22 original submission --

~

23 MS. GREEN: Right, part of A1?
24 MS. PRICE: Yeah. Part of Al, yes.
25 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, very good.
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1 Please continue.

2 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Sure. So my next

3 concernisthe Trader Joe's parking a spillover. So

1
2
3

Questions? We good? | think we're good.
Chair will entertain a motion to close
the meeting to the public.

Page 52

4 Trader Joe'sis known for peak parking demand; has the 4 MR. STEFANELLI: So moved.
5 applicant conducted a Trader Joe's-specific parking 5 MR. KOELLING: Second.
6 demand analysis? How -- how does that -- 6 MR. DEPINTO: Frank, second Dieter.
7 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, that -- that'sa 7 All infavor?
8 question that you're going to have to hold off until 8 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.
9 we hear from their engineer. It's more appropriate 9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, very good.
10 for him to give you that answer. 10 Thank you, Mr. Allegretti.
11 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Okay. So 11 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Thank you.
12 deliveries and loading -- applicant-specified expected 12 MS. PRICE: -- got to beswornin.
13 delivery hours and truck routing for Trader Joe's and 13 WHEREUPON,
14 the three proposed food tenants and confirm whether 14 FRANKIE CAMPIONE,
15 any deliveries will occur during peak customer 15 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn
16 traffic? 16 totell thetruth, the whole truth, and nothing but
17 MR. DEPINTO: Gail, it'syour call. 17 thetruth, was examined and testified as follows:
18 You want this withess to answer that question? 18 MR. REGAN: For the record, state your
19 MS. PRICE: Wéll, | don't think -- | 19 full name, please spell your last name.
20 think Mr. Allegretti referenced that some of the 20 MR. CAMPIONE: Frankie Campione, C-A-M-
21 operations information has not been refined yet from 21 P-1-O-N-E.
22 wherewe are. | think both Mr. Allegretti and our 22 MS. PRICE: Mr. Campione, would you
23 traffic engineer can probably make general reference 23 provide the board and the members of the public here
24 to the fact that we'll have -- we need to comply with 24 this evening with a brief synopsis of your educational
25 the New Jersey Noise Control Act and the Montvale 25 and professional background?
Page 51 Page 53
1 noise provisions, which -- which we have to, or else 1 MR. CAMPIONE: Certainly. | havean --
2 weface a$3,000 aday pendty. Andit'smy 2 anactua architecture degree from the University of
3 understanding that Trader Joe'sis a different 3 Cincinnati. I've furthered my studies at Parsons
4 operation than The Fresh Market. 4 School of Design. I've been the principal of CREATE
5 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yeah, I'll --I'll 5 since 1996, licensed in New Jersey since 1997. I'm
6 speak toit alittle bit. So Trader Joe's -- | think 6 licensed in 36 other states and Puerto Rico and
7 weveal shopped at Trader Joe's; my wife certainly 7 maintain alicensein al of them.
8 does. All of their -- more than 80 percent of their 8 MR. REGAN: Have you previously been
9 products are Trader Joe's-labeled proprietary. 9 qualified as an architect before aland use board in
10 Because of that, their delivery isthrough asingle- 10 New Jersey?
11 source vendor. So we actually anticipate decreased 11 MR. CAMPIONE: | have, most recently in
12 deliveriesthan the current operator for Trader Joe's. 12 West Windsor in New Jersey. | do not believe I've
13 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. Next 13 appeared before you.
14 question. 14 MR. REGAN: How many boards have you
15 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Nextone. You 15 practiced before?
16 claimed improved drainage; you mentioned site drainage | 16 MR. CAMPIONE: I'm going to say at
17 improvements. Will the proposed plan result in no net 17 least half adozen.
18 increase in stormwater runoff and -- 18 MR. REGAN: Chairman, | think he can be
19 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, let's hold that for 19 qudlified.
20 the engineer. 20 MR. DEPINTO: Chair will accept
21 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Sounds good, thank 21 recommendation of Counsel.
22 you. 22 Please continue.
23 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. 23 MR. CAMPIONE: Pleasureto bein front
24 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Niceto meet you. 24 of you. I'm sure you've heard about our most recent
25 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, anyone else? 25 New Jersey project, the Glenwood Green ShopRite
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1 Target-anchored center. And then just recently, this
2 weekend, we opened Cheshire Crossing in Connecticut.
3 We've been -- we've had the pleasure of
4 working with Regency Centersfor 21 years now; every
5 year they've been busy, they've been active. They
6 produce beautiful centers, we've worked with them up
7 and down the East Coast from Floridato New Hampshire
8 and their one and only mall outside of San Francisco.
9 We've been working on this project
10 sincethe summer. Asyou've been told already, The
11 Fresh Market will be reduced by approximately 7,600
12 square feet essentially on theright side, if you're
13 looking at the front of the building, and Trader Joe's
14 will occupy the remainder of The Fresh Market as well
15 as some of the adjacent tendencies.
16 MR. DEPINTO: Mr. Campione, if | can
17 interrupt you for one second. Y ou've prepared an
18 architectural rendering of the proposed devel opment?
19 MR. CAMPIONE: Wedid. They were
20 submitted and it's sheet 2.
21 MR. DEPINTO: Yes, thank you. | would
22 liketo ask you if you could post your exhibit on that

Page 56

1 MS. PRICE: A2, thank you.

2 (Exhibit A2 was marked for

3 identification.)

4 MR. CAMPIONE: And as mentioned, these

5 have been slightly revised to address the comments
6 from Engineering and Planning. So if you will, you
7 can seethe existing Fresh Market on the top line, the
8 proposed Trader Joe's in the center below.
9 The height of the building remains the
10 same; the highest point of The Fresh Market will
11 remain the highest point of the Trader Joe's. The
12 Trader Joe's is approximately 109 feet by 123 feet.
13 1t will be 13,562 square feet and steps down
14 accordingly.
15 The parapet of the front of the
16 building has been designed to screen the rooftop units
17 that are there. And on the sidesand on the rear, you
18 will notice above the existing building line, which is
19 low -- that is existing -- that there's a screen wall
20 that will be built around the perimeter of both sides
21 aswell. Therewas areguest to identify the building
22 materialsfor the Trader Joe's. That will be EIFS and

23 easel for public -- 23 CMU.
24 MS. PRICE: I'll do mine. 24 MS. PRICE: Just reference the sheet
25 MR. DEPINTO: If you push that easel 25 number.
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1 back alittle bit, I think both the public and the 1 MR. CAMPIONE: Sheet number 4in

2 Board can see; that's probably the best spot.

3 And members of the public, | think they

4 get abetter view -- if you moveto your left, it

5 might help.

6 And again, Ms. Price, the exhibit

7 that's being posted are the architectural plans that

8 areincluded in your A1 packet; isthat correct?

9 MR. CAMPIONE: Correct.
10 MR. LINTNER: Mr. Chairman, the -- are
11 dated December 10th.

12 MS. PRICE: No -- yeah.

13 MR. LINTNER: Sothisis--

14 MR. DEPINTO: I'msorry, | didn't
15 get --

16 MS. PRICE: Yeah, thisis-- |

17 didn't -- | didn't get him to authenticate it yet, so.
18 Mr. Campione, while you're doing that
19 on the easdl, the set of plans that you are attaching
20 arethe nine-page plan sent from your office dated
21 December 10th?

22 MR. CAMPIONE: December 10th.
23 MS. PRICE: Okay.

24 Mr. Regan, if | could have --

25 MR. REGAN: A2?

2 Exhibit A2, thisidentifies what we call the pad
3 building that will sit in the parking lot, which the
4 three tenants of Shake Shack, Honeygrow, and CAVA. As
5 aresponse to the comments made previoudly, this
6 building has been reduced to atotal height of 25 feet
7 or 24.77 feet above average grade at its highest point
8 and goes between 23.77 and --
9 MR. DEPINTO: Mr. Campione, before we
10 talk about the new building, if you could put your
11 board back to the building that currently exists and
12 explain to the Board and to the public showing what
13 portion of the existing building will be removed and
14 wherethe 10 or 11,000 square feet for Trader Joe's
15 will sitin relationship to what's there.
16 MR. CAMPIONE: |sthat okay -- going
17 back to you? They're actually lined up exactly the
18 way existing had proposed, perfectly aligned. You can
19 seetotheright here, you'll see the dashed line of
20 theexisting -- building that comes right through
21 here, approximately through the "K" of The Fresh
22 Market istheline of the new wall that will be built.
23 Right through this portion to the right gets
24 demolished, approximately 7,600 square feet of space,
25 conveniently the same size as the new pad building
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being built in the parking lot.

The height of the existing building,
the cornices al getsremoved. But the height of the
existing, which is 417.34, remains the same, 417.34,
and then steps down accordingly. And then you can see
this portion of the existing building remains. So the
Trader Jo€e's occupies a portion of The Fresh Market
and a portion of the existing retail side.

MR. DEPINTO: So therefore the tenant
that currently is located contiguous to Fresh
Market -- | think it'sahair salon?

MR. ALLEGRETTI: It's--it'sa
vacant -- it's avacant former hair salon that is
relocating to the middle of the shopping center, Moxie
Blow Dry Bar.

MR. DEPINTO: So the space that Trader
Joe's will occupy will be contained within a smaller

Page 60
nature?

1
2 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yes, Chairman. Yes,
3 Chairman.
4 MR. DEPINTO: You see, years ago, the
5 basement operated as aretail space --
6 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Itwasan antique
7 market, yes.
8 MR. DEPINTO: And | wanted to make
9 certain that we had no intention of expanding the
retail spaceto the lower level.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: No, Chairman.

MS. PRICE: No.

MR. DEPINTO: That would have an impact
14 on parking, traffic flow, everything. So the space
15 that Trader Joe's will occupy will be limited to first
16 floor grade level only, plusthat areaformerly
17 occupied by Moxie?

18 footprint than what currently exists? 18 MR. CAMPIONE: That's correct.
19 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yes, Chairman. 19 MR. DEPINTO: I'mgood. Please
20 MR. CAMPIONE: Correct. Correct. 20 continue.
21 MR. DEPINTO: And with respect to the 21 MR. CAMPIONE: Thank you. Thank you
22 areathat you'retalking about, isthat al at-grade 22 for your clarification. Pad building? Pad building?
23 or issome of that 10,000 feet or 11,000 feet subgrade 23 MR. DEPINTO: Please.
24 in the basement area of the building? 24 MR. CAMPIONE: As mentioned, the pad
25 MR. CAMPIONE: The 7,600 square feet is 25 building, in response to comments that we've reduced
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1 at grade. 1 to 25feet in height, 24.77 feet above average grade
2 MR. DEPINTO: At grade. Isthere any 2 atitshighest point, which is at the Shake Shack and
3 space beneath grade? |sthere a basement? 3 the detail abovethe CAVA.
4 MR. ALLEGRETTI: So--sol --1 -- 4 Materials hereisthe sameto be
5 MS. PRICE: Y ou've got to come back up 5 complementary to the new Trader Joe's: EIFS, CMU,
6 and just -- you have to put your name back on the 6 metal panels, cementitious board; and -- and it is
7 record for answering it. 7 intended to be awhite building, as you see there.
8 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Joe Allegretti, vice 8 It's-- a black-and-white venue with some -- just
9 president and market officer, Regency Centers. So 9 accentsfor the canopies. And can't believe
10 the -- the space that was formerly Moxie Blow Dry Bar, 10 there's -- thereis a-- thereis an illuminated rail
11 whichis 1,980 square feet plus a portion of the 11 that goes around the perimeter of the outer plaza and
12 existing Fresh Market totaling 13,500, all at grade, 12 lighting throughout the perimeter of the building as
13 will be -- will be Trader Jo€'s. Below the current 13 well.
14 Fresh Market space there is an existing basement; it's 14 We are indeed -- you can seeit on this
15 anon-selling basement. A portion of that basement 15 elevation and | will also show you an enlarged plan,

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

will be cut off when we cut off the north side of the
building and it'll be anon-selling basement as well.

MR. DEPINTO: So the public --

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Not apart of the
13,500 ground floor area.

MR. DEPINTO: So the public will not
have access to the lower level?

MR. ALLEGRETTI: No, Chairman.

MR. DEPINTO: That lower level will be
used for storage of product, equipment, things of that

=
»

which is sheet 6. We are indeed asking for variance
with regard to signage at the Trader Joe's and the

three tenants. Approximately three feet in height for
all the front-facing signs on the pad building; the
Shake Shack isthree feet high by 30 feet, two inches
wide. The CAVA isactualy threefoot, oneinchin
height. The Honeygrow, the lowercase letter "H" is 36
inches, you can see, but they're -- they're asmaller

24 signin general because then they use lowercase

25 letters. The"H" is 36 inches, but as you might have
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1 depicted on the front elevation of the pad building,

2 it'ssurrounded by abox. That box or frameis
3 actually 45 inches, that frames the word --

4 MR. DEPINTO: Intheinterest of -- is
5 it compliant with Montvale sign ordinance

6 requirements?

7 MR. CAMPIONE: No.
8 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Soyou need
9 variances?

10 MR. CAMPIONE: We need variances.

11 MR. DEPINTO: Do you need variances for
12 dl three of the storesthat are proposed?

13 MR. CAMPIONE: Four.

14 MR. DEPINTO: Four including Trader
15 Joe's?

16 MR. CAMPIONE: Correct.

17 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Let'shold off

18 sign variancestill we're done with site detail.

19 MR. CAMPIONE: Okay.

20 MR. DEPINTO: Continue. We'll deal

21 with signs on the backside.

22 MR. CAMPIONE: AndI'll -- | wasgoing
23 to say -- well, back side, aso keep in mind that we
24 are proposing three signs on the rear of the pad

25 building facing back towards the shopping center.

Page 64
1 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Good job. Keepit
2 going.
3 MR. CAMPIONE: That'sall | have for
4 you, so.
5 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, good. Thank you.
6 MR. CAMPIONE: Thank you.
7 MS. PRICE: Witness can be -- isnow --
8 questions.
9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, let's move on.

10 Questions from board members, starting with Dieter.
11 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Asit standsright
12 now -- maybe thisis more of agenera public -- or
13 actualy, persond -- of somekind. Where --

14 lives -- behind the shopping center, | was just

15 wondering, can you see the roofs of the -- of the

16 shopping center? Can you see --

17 MS. PRICE: Oh, you were asking --

18 couldn't actually -- this gentleman lives right

19 behind -- you can answer. Can you see the roofs --

20 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, hold on -- hold on.
21 MONTVALE PUBLIC: I'm sorry.
22 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. When we open it tq

23 thepublic, I'll allow you to ask -- ask the question
24 and answer. So from this architect's point of view,
25 areyou aware of whether or not you can see the

Page 63
MR. DEPINTO: Well dea with all the

signs when we're done with engineering, architecture,
traffic. That'sthe way we deal with this-- we put
it on the backside.

MR. CAMPIONE: Okay. Okay. Then
essentially, because |'ve already previously mentioned
that the packets and the screening will be provided,
we did add to this supplemental set sheet 7 and sheet
8, which are preliminary roof plans. Based on our
historical knowledge of having done these tenants
before, we are showing the proposed rooftop units for
the Trader Joe's as well asthe three retail tenants.
And again, the intent is that the parapets for the
screen wall will screen those rooftop units
accordingly.

MR. DEPINTO: Sotheair handlers
mounted on the roof of that building will not be
visible to cars traveling on Chestnut Ridge Road?

MR. CAMPIONE: That istheintent, yes.

MR. DEPINTO: And when you're looking
from the existing shopping center down towards the
back of the buildings, will the rooftop air handlers
bevisible?

MR. CAMPIONE: No, that isthe -- the
pad building is four-sided architecture with --

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN PP
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1 rooftop air equipment, exchange equipment from the

2 rear yard of the subject property? Can you testify to
3 that?

4 MR. CAMPIONE: | believe currently on
5 therear of Fresh Market you can see rooftop units

6 from adjacent property. Y ou will not be able to when
7 weredone.
8 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. When we openit tq
9 the public, then we'll get their opinion. Okay.

10 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Seeif there's
11 a--
12 MR. DEPINTO: Thereyou go. Anything

13 elsehere? Okay, good. Thank you.

14 Group?

15 MONTVALE PUBLIC: | don't have any
16 questions. No questions to your architect.

17 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.

18 MR. KOELLING: A couple questions on
19 sheet 2. The attorney notes -- to be stark white --
20 going to be white, and then there's a note,

21 "Existing -- will be repainted.” Has acolor been
22 selected?

23 MR. CAMPIONE: It hasnot. But knowing
24 my client, he's thinking white.

25 MR. DEPINTO: Knowing your client --
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1 I'msorry, | missed that.

2 MR. CAMPIONE: He'sthinking white.
3 MR. DEPINTO: And John, what -- what
4 you're dealing with --
5 MR. KOELLING: No, | just wanted to
6 know from the information point of view of how far it
7 progressed with the layout -- it's my understanding
8 that's not yet been sorted.
9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
10 MR. KOELLING: On sheet 4, | don't
11 know -- had a question maybe, but sorry. Sheet 3, |
12 noticed on the west wall, two stores have one rear
13 exit, but CAVA hastwo. I'm just curious, why
14 would -- why would that store have two?
15 MR. CAMPIONE: Based on our
16 understanding of how their test fit will work, one
17 will exit from their kitchen, and we don't want the
18 public going through the kitchen to exit for
19 emergency, so the other one -- exit's for the public.
20 MR. KOELLING: No other comments at
21 thistime, Mr. Chairman.

Page 68
1 MR. CAMPIONE: We will be applying for
2 the shell permit only, which iswhat Regency is
3 required to build per lease obligation. And each
4 tenant will comein to do their own tenant bid-out and
5 submit what we call "TI drawings," tenant improvement
6 drawings, on their own for separate permits.
7 MS. GREEN: So our parking
8 requirement’s based on seats, so I'm not sure how
9 weregoing to get to preliminary if we don't have
10 a-- how we're going to get final approval if we don't

11 have alayout of seats.

12 MR. DEPINTO: Let'sgoto Ms. Price.
13 Can you answer that, please?

14 MS. PRICE: Ms. Price can -- can answer

15 that. Can Ms. Price have a minute? Because | have
16 that flagged.

17 MR. DEPINTO: Sure.

18 Do you -- while Ms. Priceis checking

19 on that --

20 MS. GREEN: Yes, I've got another

21 question. Mentioned -- and I'm not sureiif thisis

22 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. 22 best for Mr. Campione or Mr. Allegretti -- you're
23 Joe? 23 filling in a portion of the basement, so that means
24 MR. PUGLISI: Just aquestion following | 24 you're going to be bringing in dirt to fill that?
25 on Dieter's observation. You havemovers--anda | 25 MR. CAMPIONE: On theright side,
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1 parapet on the Trader Joe'sroof. Isthat for -- or 1 correct.
2 for -- covered by -- parapets? 2 MS. GREEN: Do you have any idea of how

3 MR. CAMPIONE: The -- therear

4 elevation is the bottom left, and that has the same

5 screen proposed. So that is the rear that faces our

6 neighbors; that is proposed to receive the same movers
7 aswe have on theside.

8 MR. REGAN: Thank you.

9 No further questions, Mr. Chairman.
10 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
11 Anita?
12 MS. BAGDAT: No.
13 MR. DEPINTO: Frank?
14 MR. STEFANELLI: I'll wait for the
15 engineer.
16 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.
17 And Darlene?
18 MS. GREEN: | have afew by my --
19 not -- not on my letter, just in general. Sheet 3 of

20 the plansisthe new building. It does not have a

21 detailed floor plan. Now, from my understanding from
22 Ms. Price, you're seeking apreliminary final. In

23 order to receive afinal, we have to have a detailed

24 floor plan showing layout, tables, chairs, when will

25 wereceive that?

3 big of aspace you arefilling? Because where I'm

4 heading is does this trigger amajor soil moving

5 permit and if so, has that notice been done?

6 MR. REGAN: | haven't seen an

7 application for --

8 MS. GREEN: | didn't seeitin my --

9 either, and that's why I'm asking, because | want to
10 make sure that, you know, we're putting everything in
11 that's necessary for the approvals.

12 MS. PRICE: Yeah.

13 MS. GREEN: 500 --

14 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Can| -- can | speak
15 to that?

16 MR. DEPINTO: Yeah.

17 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Joe Allegretti, vice

18 President and market officer, Regency Center.
19 | -- Ms. Green, | think our -- our
20 engineer could testify to that question. And --

21 MS. GREEN: Okay. With how many cubig
22 yards?

23 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yes. Yeah--

24 MS. GREEN: All right.

25 MR. REGAN: Anything over 500 will
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1 still need an application.
2 MS. GREEN: Right.
3 MR. DEPINTO: Let'scarry that --
4 MS. GREEN: Perfect, thank you.
5 MS. PRICE: | can -- and | can respond

6 on the seats, because we assumed a number of seatsin
7 our parking calculation for each of these. For Shake
8 Shack, we figured 89; for Honeygrow, 62; and CAVA, 62
9 on the seat calculation when we --
10 MS. GREEN: Understood. | -- | guess
11 what | would say is-- | don't know that we've ever
12 granted final site plan application without some sort

13 of floor plan.
14 MS. PRICE: Wsdll --
15 MS. GREEN: Even -- evenif it were

16 subject to change, | mean, there's got to be a

17 template floor plan for each one of these tenants.

18 MS. PRICE: Wdll, | can --

19 MR. CAMPIONE: Wecall it -- yeah, we
20 cal it a"test fit."

21 MS. PRICE: Yeah--

22 MR. CAMPIONE: That's how we -- that's

23 how we are able to address that -- the double door in
24 the back of the-- 110. So I'm sure we'd be able to

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
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application and my site engineer will show you afull,
complete site plan, exactly whereiit's going to fit
into the parking lot.

MR. ALTADANA: Okay. Okay. That was
the question.

MR. DEPINTO: Good, thank you.

Anyone else? A question? Yes?

MONTVALE PUBLIC: -- 96 Woodmont Drive,
Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey. So this question is
regarding rooftop noise and screening. Since the
rooftop mechanical plans are preliminary, will
final -- noise analysis be submitted to confirm
compliance with township noise standards, especially
in proximity for residential areas?

MR. CAMPIONE: Anything that we have to
do to comply will we done.

MONTVALE PUBLIC: Okay. For clarity,
can the architect confirm that A2, dated December
10th, represents architectural plans that have --
that -- seeking approval on tonight and that any
future change require board review?

MR. CAMPIONE: Well, | can't -- | can't
attest that it requires board review, but | can attest
that what we're submitting now on December 10th, sheet
2, isour intended design.

25 obtain that --
Page 71
1 MS. PRICE: Yeah.
2 MR. DEPINTO: Go ahead. Darlene, what
3 elsedo you have?
4 MS. GREEN: That'sall for now.
5 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Very good.
6 Anyone else have any questions that can
7 be-- on? No? With that, Chair would like to
8 entertain a motion to open the meeting to the public.
9 MR. KOELLING: So moved.
10 MR. STEFANELLI: Second.
11 MR. DEPINTO: Dieter, second Frank.
12 All infavor?
13 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.
14 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Anyone from the
15 public have any questions of the architect?
16 Gentleman in the far right?
17 MONTVALE PUBLIC: I'm good.
18 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
19 MR. ALTADANA: -- sure. I'm John

20 Altadana. | live at 4 Diane Court in Woodcliff Lake.
21 Onething that wasn't specified or wasn't in hereis
22 wherethat pad and -- and Honeygrow will goin

23 relation to the Trader Joe's and the rest of the strip
24 mall.

25 MR. CAMPIONE: Thesite plan
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MONTVALE PUBLIC: All right, thank you.

Can the applicant confirm whether the use of the
basement for storage will increase delivery frequency
or early morning operations compared to the existing
supermarket?

MR. CAMPIONE: | can't attest to what
their -- what the use -- going to be --

MONTVALE PUBLIC: We discussed the
basement --

MR. DEPINTO: We discussed the basement
with respect to the use. With respect to the
operation, | don't think the architect can testify.

MONTVALE PUBLIC: Well, you mentioned
quality of life; right? It'saretail space versus
deliveries; will there be an impact?

So moving along, has the pad building
been designed to accommodate outdoor seating, and if
so, where is that seating shown and how many seats are
inthis--

MS. PRICE: No, | stipulated --

MR. CAMPIONE: We -- we removed the
outdoor seating --

MS. PRICE: Right. | stipulated at the
outset that the outdoor seating has been removed.

MONTVALE PUBLIC: All right. Where are
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1 trash, recycling, and grease storage areas located for
2 the pad tenants, and are those areas fully screened
3 from public view?
4 MR. CAMPIONE: | can answer that they
5 arefully screened, and my site engineer will show you
6 exactly where they sit for both the pad and for the --

7 address.
8 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Thank you.
9 MR. CAMPIONE: Y ou welcome.
10 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Anyone else? No?
11 We're good? Okay.
12 Chair will entertain a motion to close
13 the meeting to the public.
14 MR. KOELLING: So moved.
15 MR. LINTNER: Seconded.
16 MR. DEPINTO: Dieter, Bill.
17 All in favor?
18 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.
19 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you very much.
20 MR. CAMPIONE: Thank you.
21 MS. PRICE: Okay. I'll call my civil
22 engineer.

23 MR. REGAN: Sir, would you raise your
24 right hand, please?

Page 76
1 MR. REGAN: Have you previously been

2 qualified as aprofessional engineer before aland use

3 board in New Jersey?

4 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yes, sir, | have,

5 specifically in Union Township, Toms River, Highlands,
6 Montclair, and Kinnelon.

7 MR. REGAN: Chairman, you can continue
8 to qualify.
9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Chair will accept

10 recommendation of Counsel.

11 Please continue.

12 MS. PRICE: Wéll, we aready marked

13 your initial plans as part of A1 and you heard me make
14 reference at the beginning of my overview to drawings
15 having been submitted; isthat correct?

16 MR. AIELLO: That's correct.

17 MS. PRICE: And your revised drawings

18 are-- can you reference what your drawings -- the

19 date? The new ones.

20 MR. AIELLO: The new ones -- yes,

21 they're al dated December 10th, 2025.

22 MS. PRICE: Okay.

23 And collectively, if we can mark those,

24 Mr. Regan, as A3 -- the new IMC drawings, which | will

25 /1 25 giveyou thelist in one second -- that goes from C000
Page 75 Page 77
1 WHEREUPON, 1 and it goesall the way through MML-904. And it's
2 ROBERT AIELLO, 2 originaly dated November 18, 2025, last revised
3 called as awitness and having been first duly sworn 3 December 10, 2025.
4 to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but 4 (Exhibit A3 was marked for
5 thetruth, was examined and testified as follows: 5 identification.)
6 MR. REGAN: -- your full name and spell 6 MR. REGAN: A3?
7 your last name, please. 7 MS. PRICE: A3.
8 MR. AIELLO: My nameis Robert Aiello, 8 MR. AIELLO: And then we have Exhibit
9 spelled A-I-E-L-L-O. 9 A4
10 MR. REGAN: Thank you. 10 (Exhibit A4 was marked for
11 MS. PRICE: Rob, could you give your 11 identification.)
12 educational and professional background for membersof | 12 MS. PRICE: Yep. Andyou have an
13 the board and the public? 13 exhibit up onthe easal. If you could just
14 MR. AIELLO: Sure. 14 describe -- we've pre-marked that as Exhibit A4; just
15 | hold a bachelor of science degreein 15 explain what that board represents.
16 engineering from Manhattan Collegeand | amalicensed | 16 MR. AIELLO: So that is Drawing C010,
17 professional engineer in New Jersey as well as other 17 which was previously submitted to the Board. But the

18 statesin the Atlantic area and New England area and
19 the Tri-State area. 1'm a partner with the firm of

20 JMC Site Development Consultants and our firm is aso
21 authorized to practice engineering in the state of New
22 Jersey. I've practiced for 28 years working on a

23 variety of different projectsincluding retail centers

24 and shopping centers, residential, commercial, self-

25 storage, laboratory-type space.

differenceis-- iswe've added color onto the site
plan as well as an aerial photo in the background for
better context and clarity.

MS. PRICE: And you've been present for
Mr. Allegretti and our architect's testimony; correct?

23 MR. AIELLO: | have.
24 MS. PRICE: So you've heard questions
25 both from the members of the public and of the Chair?
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1 MR. AIELLO: | have.

2 MS. PRICE: Sol'm goingto ask youin
3 narrative form to take us through existing conditions
4 proposed. And I'd ask that you address the standard
5 items, lighting, landscaping, stormwater -- which |
6 know that report is about three inches thick, but I'd
7 ask that you address those el ements, and we'll stop at
8 different times.
9 MR. AIELLO: Okay, thank you.
10 So the -- the exhibit we have here, A4,
11 showsthe site in existing conditions. Aswe'reall
12 aware, the site consists of a single main retail
13 building with retail uses and restaurant uses. And
14 that overall gross floor area, including the basement,
15 s 89,585 square feet; at 74,000 -- I'm sorry, 75,159
16 squarefeet isthe main level.
17 MR. REGAN: Could you give me that
18 number again?

19 MR. AIELLO: Themain level is75,159.
20 MR. REGAN: Okay.
21 MR. AIELLO: So with regard to existing

22 conditions of the parking, there are currently 527

23 parking spaces which currently exist on the property.
24 And the existing traffic configuration is angled

25 parking, so you can only drive one way in any one of

Page 80
about this center isthat it'sadead end. So trucks,

including the ones that go to The Fresh Market as well
as al the tenant spaces in the back, have adead end
that they need to deal with, and they have aK turn or
aseries of turns they need to makein order to leave
the site after they've entered it. So that isnot a

typical arrangement for a shopping center, and that is
one that we are looking to improve with our proposed
conditions.

We should also note that the existing
driveway at Chestnut Ridge Road to the north, when you
come in, there'simmediate decisions that need to be
made by people, and it's different sources of conflict
or potential conflict with vehicles.

When you come in, you have the access
drive along the frontage, you have this angled drive
that brings you over to The Fresh Market space, that
all intersect very close to the intersection with
Chestnut Ridge Road, which does not allow for really
much queuing to occur in this area with the existing
configuration. So that is something that we are
looking to remedy with this application that welll
demonstrate on our next exhibit.

The existing right-in/right-out
driveway, we are getting rid of; that'sthe one in the
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1 thelanes. Andit's not your typica alignment for a
2 shopping center of thistown.
3 With regard to access, we have three
4 drivewaysin existing conditions. We have one on
5 Woodmont Drive; we have another on -- we have two on
6 Chestnut Ridge Road, one to the north -- which isto
7 theright on this plan -- and the other in the middle,
8 which isaright-in/right-out drive.
9 So the onein the middle is aright-
10 in/right-out only; the one to Woodmont is a full-
11 accessdrive, aternative movements are permitted both
12 in and out; as well as the northern drive to the right
13 on Chestnut Ridge Road, which is also afull-access
14 driveway. Thereisatraffic light at the
15 intersection of Chestnut Ridge Road and Woodmont.
16 So with regard to landscaping and
17 existing conditions -- there'sreally limited
18 opportunity for landscaping within the actual parking
19 field itself. Thereissome over by The Fresh Market
20 from when that was built most recently, but the main
21 parking field of the shopping center has limited
22 landscaping.
23 With regard to the rear of the center
24 or therear of the building, that iswhere al the
25 loading operations currently occur. What's atypical

Page 81
middle of the frontage of Chestnut Ridge Road. And we

thought that made sense to not have -- and | would
point this out on the proposed conditions plan, but |
think it'simportant to see in the context of the
existing plan -- it would be important to not have the
in-and-out activity, people coming in from Chestnut
Ridge Road right in front of where we will have
pedestrians for the future pad side -- so we'll point

9 that out again on the proposed plan, but just wanted
10 to give context on the existing.
11 And then the existing driveway on
12 Woodmont is remaining in its current location and its
13 current configuration. We are modifying some of the
14 parking on either side to allow for better truck
15 operation because thisis the driveway that the truck
16 deliveries occur -- that the truck deliveries use
17 currently going to the back of the building. That was
18 based on conversations with Regency and their -- and
19 based on conversations they've had with their
20 operators. So thisiswhere the trucks currently come
21 inand out.
22 Y ou know what -- could you please set
23 that board up too, please?
24 MS. PRICE: And, Rob, before you go to
25 the next exhibit, is this northern end of the site

o ~NO O WNPE
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1 constrained in any way by any stormwater or related
2 items?
3 MR. AIELLO: | neglected to mention
that thereis an existing stream that runs along the
northern portion of property. And it issubject to
6 Jersey DEP flood hazard area requirements, and it also
7 has ariparian zone associated with it that encroaches
8 well into the existing parking lot in existing
9 conditions.
10 So thisis Exhibit A5, which is drawing
11 C100, again with the aerial photography showing in the
12 background for context aswell asthe site plan
13 rendered for better clarity in terms of what's being
14 proposed.
15 (Exhibit A5 was marked for
16 identification.)
17 MR. AIELLO: So with regard to the
18 changesthat we are proposing, we are removing
19 approximately 6,200 sguare feet of building footprint
20 onthe north side of the current Fresh Market. We are
21 aso removing and filling in the basement with the
22 corresponding 6,300 square feet below it. So welll be
23 building anew wall on the north end; the remaining
24 basement would stay, but this areawould be filled up
25 to the grade of basically the finished floor elevation

o b
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1 where we could provide ADA spaces that were compliant
2 interms of slope, and that's why they're located in
3 thisareahere.
4 So aswe look at the improvements going
5 forward towards Chestnut Ridge Road, you'll see there
6 are other things happening in front of the grocer. We
7 are proposing a hatched areain front to designate
8 that thisis a pedestrian area just to bring awareness
9 to vehicles who are drivers as they're driving through
10 this area-- to be aware that there are, you know,
11 people crossing in this area with shopping carts and
12 thelike.
13 And you'll notice that we've added some
14 additional green space, but particularly, there's an
15 island here at this portion of the parking lot. And
16 that's enabled us to use that as a grade-change island
17 with asmall retaining wall within it, because the
18 existing parking field in front is about 8 or 9
19 percent in pitch, which is pretty steep for aretail
20 use.
21 We are making that better; I'm making
22 that about 6 percent or so. | forget the exact
23 number, but | believe it's about 6 percent in front
24 which will flatten that areaout. And we are using
25 thisexisting -- for this proposed island for purposes

Page 83

1 of the current building.

2 That allows us to provide additional

3 parking along the northern edge as well as an

4 opportunity to provide the access lane that provides

5 the 360 -- the 360 circulation around the building

6 that you typically seein a shopping center of this

7 nature.

8 Thereisasmall infill of about 500

9 square feet, basically squaring off the footprint of
10 the existing Fresh Market. And that iswhere the
11 entry to the Trader Joe's space -- that'sin the
12 southeast corner of the Trader Jo€'s space.
13 We are widening the sidewalk and
14 reconstructing the sidewalk along the frontage of the
15 Trader Joe's store, aswell asin front of some of the
16 existing stores adjacent -- the two existing spaces,
17 or one and a half of the existing spaces -- to allow
18 for better grading ADA access in terms of sidewalks.
19 And we're also proposing a cart storage areain the
20 front of the building, which is customary for a Trader
21 Joe's store.
22 We have added our ADA spaces -- two ADA
23 spacesfor the Trader Joe's stores on the side of the
24 building in thislocation. Because it was formally a
25 building, it wasflat, and that was our best location

Page 85
1 of providing some grade change.

2 Asyou work forward towards the new
3 driveway, you'll seethat thisdriveway is
4 significantly different than what currently exists.
5 As| mentioned, when you come into Chestnut Ridge Road
6 from Chestnut Ridge Road, there are a number of
7 opportunities for conflict because there are a number
8 of intersections very close to the intersection of
9 Chestnut Ridge Road.
10 So what this does is provides for
11 queuing of about -- | believeit to be 90 feet of
12 vehicles, which is about four or five vehicles, where
13 you currently really have very little queuing ability
14 when you enter or leave the site.
15 You'l also notice that we've
16 introduced a curve here. And this curve alowsfor
17 peoplethat are arriving at the site to enter the
18 site, have about 100 feet or so to recognize that
19 they're now in the Center, and then, if they're
20 continuing to the Trader Joe's, they can bear right
21 and go into the parking field while they're on the
22 north sideor at front. Or if they're intending to
23 come to the Center to go to other -- the existing uses
24 or our proposed pad site, it'd be continue along the
25 road, and it provides a nice break in terms of the
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1 traffic flow between the Trader Joe's/food use and the

2 remaining tenants on the property.

3 Another change that we've made iswe've

4 added this center access driveto allow for better

5 accessto the pad site, to the existing buildings, and

6 tothe parking fields. So thiswill provide

7 conductivity directly from driveway to driveway and

8 also allow for people to come into the property,

9 decide where they are going and where they would like
10 to park to be ableto comein.
11 We've made this a one-way up the page
12 westerly, so that way, we eliminate any conflictsin
13 terms of people trying to turn into this location.
14 And, you know, people can continue here, come around,
15 cometo the pad site or comein off of Woodmont and
16 have the same opportunity to continue straight, go
17 into the lower parking fields or the upper parking
18 fieldsfor the main building.
19 So in regard to the pad site -- forgive
20 me, alot of notes and numbers. The pad siteis 7,600
21 square feet in size with three tenants. Shake Shack,
22 Honeygrow and CAVA are the anticipated users for those
23 gpaces, Shake Shack being 3,200 square feet, Honeygrow
24 being 2,200, and CAVA also being 2,200 square feet.
25 Because we have a good amount of grade
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1 the pad site didn't have to deal with people that were
2 coming in or leaving the site. It just minimizesthe
3 potential for conflicts.
4 So thisroute then continues all the
5 way up the page. And thisisan ADA-accessible route,
6 meaning that no point of that route is greater than 5
7 percent in pitch. So that is ADA-compliant route out
8 to the bus stop on Chestnut Ridge Road that can bring
9 you all theway up to the Drop Fitness gym space here.
10 And then you can get to anywhere along the front of
11 thebuilding to the existing tenants as well asthe
12 Trader Joe's.
13 We've also provided another connection
14 here with asidewalk or crosswalk to get you into the
15 Trader Doors parking field in case that is more
16 convenient, but thisis our ADA-accessible route.
17 -- yeah, okay. So here -- here's
18 the -- Steve, thisisthe -- the driveway off of
19 Chestnut Ridge Road; we have one lane coming in and
20 two lanes coming out. And thisisthe existing
21 driveway on Woodmont Drive remaining in its current
22 location, but we provided for some additional striping
23 here, no parking, to make it easier for trucks to get
24 in and out of that driveway aswell as to have better
25 sitevisihility. So carsaren't blocking your field

Page 87
change across the parking lot, putting in the building

1
2 requiresa-- aretaining wall along the front of the
3 building. And that retaining wall varies from
4 basicaly acurb, or zero-foot-high wall, to awall
5 that's about five and a half feet tall at this
6 northeast corner.
7 We provided aramp area on the north
8 side of the building. And that's not related to the
9 ADA spaces; our ADA spaces are actually located on
10 the -- on the south side of the pad side. It'sreally
11 provided as more of aconvenience for people regarding
12 strollers or something of that nature so that they can
13 just go up here without having to walk acrossthe
14 stairs -- so there's an opportunity to come up without
15 having to go on the stairs.
16 We also have our ADA spaces proposed in
17 thislocation here aswell asthree EV spaces for
18 electronic vehicles, and we have a new connection for
19 pedestrians located here that brings you out to the
20 existing sidewalk on Chestnut Ridge Road.
21 So right in this vicinity isthe area
22 of the existing right-in/right-out driveway. And
23 because of the activity and action happening here, we
24 thought it would be best to close that driveway so
25 that people walking along the parking area, going into

Page 89
of view as you're coming in the property.

Now, you'll also notice that if you
look at these two plans side by side -- and I'll try
to get out of your way so you can see them -- we have
Exhibit A4 on the left, existing conditions, and
Exhibit A5 on the right, proposed conditions. And you
can seein addition to -- oh, | forgot to mention that
it's all 90-degree parking now, so it's, you know,
conventional parking you typically see at a shopping
center. But we also have significant opportunitiesto
work additional landscaping along the front -- or
within the entire front parking area.

So I'll talk more about stormwater
management in a moment, but we do have areduction of
9,800 square feet, 0.2 acres of the pervious area. So
there will be more pervious areain post conditions
than what currently exists.

So in addition to planting additional
19 treeswithin the interior of the parking lot, we also
20 just have simply additional green space, which hasa
21 benefit from a stormwater management standpoint and
22 helps us to achieve both reductionsin runoff as well
23 as-- grades. Sothat's anet benefit in terms of the
24 stormwater management. But | figured aside by side
25 view of the two would be helpful to understand
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differencesin the traffic flow and circulation as

well asthe --

In addition, on Exhibit A5, we do have
anumber of different signs proposed for traffic
calming and for traffic routing. We'veincluded some
correctional signage so that when you comein from
either Woodmont or from Chestnut Ridge Road, you'll
know which way to go to go to either the grocer or
towards the pad site, what have you. Again, just
trying to help people navigate the site more easily in
addition to al of your standard signage for ADA
parking spaces, EV parking spaces, stop signs,
pedestrian yield signs and the like.

And | did also forget to mention that
as atraffic highway measure, because we didn't want
thisto be just a straight shot, this pedestrian
island is an -- pedestrian -- pedestrian crosswalk.

So it's a speed table which helps protect pedestrians
but also hel ps reduce speed as you're driving through
that new center driveway.

Okay. | kind of went off my notes; |
want to make sure | didn't miss anything. Okay, so
with regard to landscaping, thisis Exhibit A6 on the

Page 92
1 accordance with the Borough's requirements for

2 lighting.

3 And the existing lighting and the --

4 here from the Trader Jo€e's space to this|ocation
5 here, we are not proposing the change as part of this
6 application because we are actually making some
7 improvements in the back here with the loading
8 operations for the Trader Joe's. There are three new
9 lightslocated in this area, but we made sure that
10 those three lights were -- aswell as any of the
11 perimeter lights, the oneslabeled as"V1," have
12 shields on them so that the light source will be
13 shielded from view from the back of the light.
14 So in other words, you know, we know
15 many of you live in the area behind, so we want to
16 make sure that any of the -- any new light we propose
17 here has a shielded light source, so you won't see the
18 light source. But these lights also have aforward
19 throw optic, which will project the light forward and
20 not backward so as not to have spill on any of our
21 residentia properties, throughout the Center.
22 That's the overview of the site
23 improvements. | think there are some housekeeping

24 |eft. 24 things, | think, with regard to variances and things
25 // 25 likethat.
Page 91 Page 93
1 (Exhibit A6 was marked for MS. PRICE: Yes, | wantto -- yes. And
2 identification.) first, let me ask you a question.
3 MR. AIELLO: Andin order to make use MR. AIELLO: Yes. Oh, that, yes.
4 of the additional 9,800 square foot of green space on MS. PRICE: | want to -- aquestion

5

6

7

8
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21
22
23
24
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the property, we used this as an opportunity to

provide additional shade trees. Our original

submission for November included a combination of
shade trees as well as ornamental trees, but in our

more recent submittal -- as Exhibit A6 -- we've

included all shade treesin order to -- in order to,

you know, meet the requirement for the number of shade
trees. But that's all outlined in our response letter

to the Planner's comments and her in that memorandum.

MS. PRICE: And just for the record, A6
is sheet L100; correct?

MR. AIELLO: Yes, A6issheet L100--
sorry -- again, with color and the agrial provided for
context.

Thisis Exhibit A3, which is drawing
L 200, and it's the lighting plan that we included with
our submittal. So because we're reconfiguring the
entire configuration of the parking lot, we're also
redoing all of the lights within the front and side of
the Center. So these will be new LED fixtures
throughout the parking lot; they'll be 25 feet tall in

A1l was the stormwater management report that your

office prepared dated November 19th; that was part of

Al. And then thisis my new workout equipment -- this

isthe revised stormwater management report, which is
10 revised through December 9th, which -- | skipped one,
11 Exhibit --

1
2
3
4
5 arose about stormwater management. With A1, part of
6
7
8
9

12 MR. REGAN: | think we'reon A7?
13 MS. PRICE: A7.

14 (Exhibit A7 was marked for

15 identification.)

16 MR. AIELLO: Yes. And then

17 corresponding to --

18 MS. PRICE: Correct.

19 MR. AIELLO: I'm sorry?

20 MS. PRICE: ThisisA7, correct.
21 This--

22 MR. AIELLO: Yes, itis.

23 MS. PRICE: Okay. And thisisthe
24 revised stormwater --

25 MR. AIELLO: Let mefind my --
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1 MS. PRICE: No, thisis-- | have --
2 thetruck turning templates will be 8.
3 MR. AIELLO: Okay. So with regard to

4 stormwater management, Exhibit A3, Drawing C300, is
5 our utilities plan. And this utilities plan was
6 designed in conjunction with the stormwater management
7 report we had just discussed.
8 So we are achieving reductionsin
9 runoff aswell as peak rates of runoff vis-a-visthe
10 reductionsin pervious area. Because we're removing
11 9,800 square feet, we will in turn have less
12 stormwater runoff and flow exiting from the site. As
13 we went through our calculations -- and, you know,
14 thisreport will be reviewed both by the Borough
15 engineer as well as the DEP because we need an
16 individual permit from them for the work that we're
17 doing because of the riparian zone and the flood
18 hazard area.
19 Because of one of the storms analyzed
20 within that report -- and we'relooking at A, B, C, D
21 soilsaswell as existing rainfal intensities as well
22 as projected rainfall intensities -- one of the
23 anaysesthat we did show adlight increase. So what
24 we've doneis we have posed stormwater
25 retention -- I'm sorry, stormwater detention herein

Page 96
And with that, | think I'm --

MS. PRICE: Let'sjust -- the
variances.

MR. AIELLO: Thevariances. Okay. So
our zoning discussions really fall into three
categories -- existing nonconforming that will be
reduced; of variance or variances; and -- waiver.

So with regard to lot coverage, Section
444C, the siteis currently existing nonconforming at
73.17 percent, but with the reduction in impervious
area, we will be making that existing nonconformity
better and reducing it to 70.84 percent.

With regard to building height, as our
architect mentioned, the pad site is compliant with
regard to height as currently proposed and the grocery
storeis an existing noncompliant element. It's 27
feet where 25 is permitted, but that is an existing
nonconformity that would be reduced because we are
reducing the footprint of the building compared to
existing conditions because the existing building is
larger than the proposed Trader Joe's space.

With regard to parking setbacks,
section 457C, we do have two additional parking spaces
within the 10-foot area -- the 10-foot setback on
Chestnut Ridge Road. So thisline here on Exhibit A5
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the areain front of Trader Joe's as well aswithin

the current basement space that's going to be filled

in on the north side of Trader Joe's. So we are
providing significant storage of stormwater runoff as
part of the application.

With regard to water quality, we do
have areduction of motor vehicle area of about 8.63
percent, which is significant because motor vehicle
areas have hydrocarbons associated with them because
of carsand the like, and other -- salt, et cetera.

So our reduction in impervious area helps us keep up
more quality requirements.

And, you know, the site does have a
remedial action work plan associated with it with the
DEP from a prior historic dry cleaning use on the
property. So we're not able to do recharge, so that's
why we're proposing detention facilities instead of
recharge.

With regard to utilities, we do show
new connections for sewer, for water, and for
stormwater going out to Chestnut Ridge Road, but that
22 isall subject to approvals with the Borough as well
23 aswith Bergen County as we'll need get a permit from
24 them for al the work that we're proposing in the
25 Chestnut Ridge right-of-way.
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shows the 10-foot setback. Much of the existing

1
2 parking islocated within that setback, but the two
3 additional parking spacesthat we have isreally
4 associated with closing the driveway.
5 So we do have more parking within the
6 setback, but we're not moving the parking any closer
7 to Chestnut Ridge than it currently is. Conversely,
8 on Woodmont Drive, we actually have three fewer
9 parking spaces within the 10-foot setback, so that is
areduction in the nonconformity.

Pursuant to Section 454l, with regard
to having alandscape bed along 50 percent of the
building, we are looking for a variance there along
the pad site with the overhangs that we have proposed
as part of the pad site. We did add some landscaping
islands on the north side, but that constitutes 60
percent of the building as opposed to the 50 percent
required under that section.

And the grocery store on Exhibit A5 --
look at the more recent drawings that we submitted
under Exhibit A3, we have added additional |andscaping
aong the north end, but we do not meet that
requirement. And just of note, that's a 16 percent
24 requirement, but because technically it would be the
25 overdl building, | would think that we'd ook at the
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1 percentage; we did just look at it in terms of the two

2 faces of the building that were changed.
3 Lastly, with regard to parking, in
4 existing conditions there are 527 parking spaces, and
5 in proposed conditions we will have 409 spaces. But
6 itisimportant to note that even with the reduction
7 in parking that we're proposing, we are seeking a
8 variance of 36 parking spaces. But the Center will
9 till have the proposed conditions, a parking ratio of
10 5.36 spaces per thousand; that's excluding the
11 basement area. So -- which iswell above industry
12 standard for the Institute of Traffic Engineersfor a
13 shopping center of thistype, which requires under
14 ITE -- or not requires, but under that standard is 4.5
15 per thousand. So we exceed that industry standard of
16 4.5 aswe're proposing 5.36.
17 MS. PRICE: Canyou just addressthe
18 soil? | know we'll need Bergen County Planning Board
19 approval, Bergen County Soil Conservation District,
20 NJDEP approval, and the board's planner made reference
21 to amajor soil permit.
22 MR. AIELLO: Yes. So response number
23 ninein Exhibit A3, which isthe letter dated December

Page 100
MS. PRICE: A3, right.
MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Anything else?
MS. PRICE: | think that he can answer
any questions.
MR. DEPINTO: Y ou're done with your
witness?
MS. PRICE: Yesh.
MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Okay.
9 Mr. Aiéello, thank you very much for
10 appearing thisevening. | believe you did a-- afine
11 job of presenting the proposed development. | do have
12 afew questions, though. Number one, referring to
13 plan L200, which is site lighting, it'safairly large
14 siteand there'salot of lighting that currently
15 existsand is proposed to be changed. My concernis
16 overflow lighting at the perimeter of the property;
17 areyou in compliance with Montvale code?
18 MR. AIELLO: Yes, weare. Weve
19 included the Footcandle levels on Drawing L200 and we
20 demonstrated that on the residential side and on
21 the-- St. Jo€'s side, we have no spill off the
22 property aswe go out onto the street. There'salso a
23 requirement that you have at least three Footcandles,

o ~NO O WNBE

24 12th in response to the Borough -- 24 which we've upped at each driveway, which means we've
25 MR. REGAN: Isthat actually marked? 25 upgraded those at each driveway. So correspondingly,
Page 99 Page 101
1 No. That hasto be marked in the record. 1 we do have some very low light levels that spill out
2 MS. PRICE: No. No, that needsto go 2 onto Chestnut Ridge and the eastern portion of
3 inasa-- welll mark that as A8; how's that? 3 Woodmont.
4 MR. AIELLO: Oh, that's A8? 4 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. And that spillage
5 MS. PRICE: Yeah. 5 will not interfere with motorists seeking to access or
6 (Exhibit A8 was marked for 6 exit the site; isthat correct?
7 identification.) 7 MR. AIELLO: | believethat to betrue,
8 MR. AIELLO: Okay. Okay. So A8, 8 yes.
9 response humber 9 on page 5, we did calculate -- we | 9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. With regard to the
10 did acut-and-fill for the overall project and the 10 type of lighting, | see on your detail sheet you have

11 analysis shows that there's a cut of 2,300 cubic yards
12 and afill of 5,148 yards. So that meansthere'sa

13 net import of 2,810 yards. Now, keep in mind the
14 majority of that fill isin the basement area that

15 we'refilling in, so that's where the majority of that
16 fill isbeing generated.

17 Now, we -- we didn't submit the formal

18 soil movement application because it included things
19 like a contractor'sinformation and different things
20 interms of their logistics, and we don't have a

21 contractor signed up yet. So that's why we didn't

22 include the application; we -- we could, if it'sthe

23 preference of the Borough. But we did do the

24 analysis, and that analysis is shown on Drawing C250
25 of Exhibit A3.

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

different types of fixtures?

MR. AIELLO: Yes.

MR. DEPINTO: Some of them are more
ornamental, others are not. Why have you changed --
why aren't you doing them all the same?

MR. AIELLO: So the parking lot
lighting are your standard parking |ot-type lights,
shoebox-type lights. And those are the ones that are
showing in red, blue -- the red and green -- or red,
blue, and green on the plan.

There are other areas where we're
proposing some different types of lighting. For
23 example, we do have some of the gooseneck-type lights
24 proposed -- actually no, I'm sorry. We have some
25 building perimeter lights that's proposed around the
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1 perimeter of the pad site. Those are building lights

2 that wereintended to light the sidewalk, and those

3 arethe more ornamental type.

4 We also have lighting that's proposed

5 within the handrails of the ramp on the north side of

6 the building and also along the handrail of the guard

7 that's on top of the retaining wall in front of the --

8 the pad site.

9 So there'savariety of different
10 lights being used -- either building-mounted lights,
11 handrail lights -- in addition to the parking lot
12 lights. Thereis-- however, Mr. Chairman, thereis
13 onelight on Drawing L209 of Exhibit A3. That isthe
14 Lexington post-top light; that may be the more
15 decorative light that you're referring to. That was
16 used in the original design but when we coordinated
17 thelighting plan with the building overhangs, we've
18 actually removed that from the lighting plan, but it's
19 till on the detail sheet. So we need to remove that.
20 MR. DEPINTO: Because obviously one of
21 the goalsthat we have isto improve the aesthetics of
22 this project, and I'm sure the applicant appreciates
23 that and is cooperating with us. There should be, in
24 my opinion, a certain consistency of the type of
25 lighting fixtures that are used. When | look at a

isall remaining. And thereis parking remaining
aong the corner of Trader Jo€'s.

MR. DEPINTO: No, | understand that,
but I'm concerned about the smaller retailers, that
the employees park -- you're saying that those park

MR. AIELLO: That's correct.

MR. DEPINTO: Andit'sincluded inthe
overal count?
10 MR. AIELLO: ltis.

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN PP

11 MR. DEPINTO: And from an operations --
12 though you are not operations, but from an operations

13 point, isthere apolicy or practice in place that
14 instructs employees to park to the rear of the

15 shopping center and not in the public area on the east

16 side of the property?
17 MR. AIELLO: Yes.

18 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Because my concern
19 dealswith the new grocery store, and I've been to one
20 or two Trader Joe's, and they do generate more traffic
21 than | believe the current grocer is generating on the

22 site. So | dowant to make certain that the parking
23 that we're going to provide for Trader Joe'sis

24 adequate to take care of the projected number of
25 visitorsto the site, but to make certain that

spaces will remain as part of the overall improvement?

Page 104
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1 colonial sample on the detail sheet and then | look at
2 some of the other L-shaped LEDs, it's not consistent.
3 Sojust reassure us that it will be made consistent.
4 MR. AIELLO: It will be, and that
5 Lexington post-top is no longer utilized on the
6 lighting plan.
7 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Now, with respect
8 to parking, the storesin between the proposed Trader
9 Joe's and the existing gym, there are eight or ten or

10 twelve stores now; isthat correct?

11 MR. AIELLO: Looking at Exhibit A5 --
12 I'm seeing thirteen spaces.

13 MR. DEPINTO: Thirteen?

14 MR. AIELLO: Yes.

15 MR. DEPINTO: And from plansthat I'm

16 looking at, if I'm reading them correctly, there

17 currently exists parking behind those stores, which |
18 presumeis probably utilized by the employees that
19 work in those stores?

20 MR. AIELLO: That is my understanding,
21 yes.

22 MR. DEPINTO: And isthat parking to
23 remain or to be removed?

24 MR. AIELLO: Sothe-- the parkingin

25 thisareaherein the "middle" of the building, that

employee parking is limited to a certain area of the
lot.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Can| -- can| comment

1
2
3
4 onthat?

5 MR. DEPINTO: Sure. Just identify

6 yourself again for the record.

7 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Sure. Joe Allegrett
8
9

Regency Centers' vice president and market officer.
To answer your question, we've put provisionsin each

10 of the contingent leases that allow us to provide --

11 MR. DEPINTO: | know, but the question

12 isenforcement; do you enforce the conditions?
13 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yes.

14 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. That'swhat I'm
15 concerned about.

16 MR. ALLEGRETTI: Yes.

17 MR. DEPINTO: Now, when | went to one

18 or two of these Trader Joe's to check them out, |

19 noticed that | was only able to push my cart a certain

20 distance. And more particularly, it wasin the
21 Clifton location off of Route 3. | could only go

22 about 150 feet, 100 feet, something like that, and the

23 golf -- the golf cart -- the push cart, a shopping

24 cart, awheel would lock. And they did not have, at

25 least in Clifton, corrals where you could push your

Page 105

27 (Pages 102 - 105)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



Page 106
cart to. | seeno corras herefor carts. Does that
mean Trader Joe's is going to use alocking wheel-
type -- cart --

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Wéll, that's --
there -- we have -- there are two cart corrasin the
parking field directly in front of -- the front door.

MR. DEPINTO: Soisthat what we're
doing, cart corrals, not locking wheels? | likethe
locking wheels.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: We'regoing to have
cart corrals. | can't answer if -- go to Costco for
anything like --

MR. DEPINTO: | want you to explore
that; okay?

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Fair. Fair.

MR. DEPINTO: Because of the grade of
the property and the retail stores on the high side of
the property. And if you're talking a7 or 8 percent
grade, | can see shopping carts rolling downhill. Not
everyone is so courteous as to put their cart back
into acorral.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Sowe're, we're --
one, we're reducing it to around 6 percent. And
number two, we -- we absolutely will explore that with
thetime. | think it's a good suggestion.

Page 108
1 wanted to know --
2 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Questionsfrom
3 board members? And I'm starting with Dieter.
4 MR. AIELLO: Mr. Chair -- Mr. Chair, if
5 I may -- again, Rob Aiello -- | did find it in my
6 notes. The existing gradein the front is 8.1 and
7 weremaking it 6.9.
8 MR. DEPINTO: Which is good.
9 MR. AIELLO: Yeah. It--it'san
10 improvement.

11 MR. DEPINTO: But cartswill roll down
12 24/7 --

13 MR. AIELLO: They will go down that.
14 MR. DEPINTO: --if you don't put locks
15 onthem.

16 MR. AIELLO: Yeah.

17 MR. DEPINTO: And what | did noticeis

18 the operators of that Trader Joe's had people out

19 there within a certain perimeter of the door, because

20 they knew where the wheels lock. And when you reach
21 that point, they come and they grab the car from me.

22 Sothey didn't need corrals.

23 MR. AIELLO: Got it.

24 MR. DEPINTO: Solook at your plan, if

25 we don't need corrals and you can address rolling
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MR. DEPINTO: Yesah. Check out Clifton
Trader Joe's. | bought a case of water and | parked
about 300 feet away, and | had to carry the water from
the cart where the cart wouldn't let me push it to my
car 300 feet away.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Fair.

MR. DEPINTO: And | wasreally angry at
that point, but | thought it was absolutely brilliant
because their grade was such that if the wheels didn't
lock, the carts would be going al over the place.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Makes sense.

MR. DEPINTO: And that's a pet peeve of
mine; | want it addressed.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: It'll be addressed.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Andit'sapet peeve
of mine too.

MR. DEPINTO: Beg your pardon?

MR. ALLEGRETTI: It'sapet peeve of
mine, also.

MR. DEPINTO: Good. Go to Clifton, but
don't buy a case of water. Pick up cookies or
something.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: We need to get Gail
one of those for this -- for this case of stuff she

Page 109

1 carts by thislocking mechanism. Check into it --

2 MR. AIELLO: Yes.

3 MR. DEPINTO: I'm sorry?

4 MR. KOELLING: | -- no, you took my

5 questions, and that's -- with the lighting and the

6 cart rolling down the hill.

7 MR. DEPINTO: Chris?

8 MR. GRUBER: Okay, so| have -- | have

9 two separate questions. One's a zoning question and
10 oneisgoing to be a construction question, whoever
11 wantsto answer these two questions.
12 First of al, | noticed you have trees,
13 which are going to be nice, planted throughout the
14 parking lot. Arethey going to be protected during
15 the winter seasons when people are spraying salt --
16 and tons of salt? Because that is a sloped property,
17 arethey going to be protected? Because we've had
18 other sitesin town where the trees have taken a
19 beating and died because of the excess salt prevalent.
20 MR. AIELLO: so the honey locust shade
21 master tree that we're proposing is one that we've
22 donewith First Sentinel Properties, which was
23 subsequently bought by Regency. And those are salt-
24 tolerant trees, so by species, they tend to be more
25 resistant to salt. But we can certainly, you know,
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1 look and make sure that that is the best choice.
2 MR. GRUBER: Okay. I'mthe zoning
3 officer, sowhentreesdie, | -- | have the -- the job
4 of going out there and sending letters and having the
5 code enforcement officer send you lettersto fix them.
6 MR. AIELLO: Understood.
7 MR. GRUBER: It kind of falls on deaf
8 ears sometimes. The second question, which | fedl is
9 the more important question, if you -- and this
10 part -- the engineering part of this-- looked into or
11 have reached out to Veoliafor water calculations for
12 water usage for three separate restaurants you're
13 going to be getting to the site?
14 MR. AIELLO: We did have discussions
15 with them; they know that we are coming. We explained
16 our anticipated usage from our environmental impact
17 statement of about -- we estimated about 7,500 gallons
18 per day both from the water and the sewer. We are
19 looking into and will serve aletter from them, and we
20 need to follow up with them. We haven't heard
21 anything negative so far, but we don't have awill-
22 serveletter in hand.
23 MR. GRUBER: Okay. Because moving
24 forward with any kind of permits from the Building

Page 112

from Chestnut Ridge Road and exit onto Woodmont.

And | believe we also have another
exhibit -- yes, A3, C801, that shows the same truck
entering from Woodmont if needed and then exiting out
to Woodmont. So it's not our intention to limit the
other tenants from loading in the way that they
currently load. We were showing the deltaif you
were -- or the difference related to the Trader Joe's
because that's our -- our new allocation.

MR. LINTNER: Okay. Soyou werejust
addressing Trader Joe's service -- okay, that's fine.
And on Drawing C250, which is where you've got your
table for the major soil, your table does not agree
with your responses to the letter, so that'll need to
berevised. And | question -- you mentioned you --
the basement you said was about 6,200 square feet that
you're going to be eliminating? 1'm not sureif |
heard that correctly or not.

MR. AIELLO: Yes--yes.

MR. LINTNER: Wéll, if the basement's
6,200 square feet, you're going to have a significant
amount of fill in there, and | think it's going to be
more than you're anticipating.
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25 Department, that is aprior approval that will be
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1 needed -- prior approvals from -- the will-serve
2 letters. But understood. That'sall | have.
3 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
4 Bill?
5 MR. LINTNER: Just two quick questions.
6 Inyour drawing package in the 800 series, you have a
7 bunch of turning radiuses.
8 MR. AIELLO: Yes.
9 MS. PRICE: Yes.
10 MR. LINTNER: Isthetraffic expert
11 going to describe what's going on in those drawings or

12 isthis part of your presentation?

13 MR. AIELLO: | -- | can take that.
14 MR. LINTNER: Weéll, the question is, it
15 appearsthat your -- each one of your truck turning

16
17
18

entries going to the rear of the building are going
aong the -- coming from Chestnut Ridge Road going
aong the north side of the building. Isit your

19 intent to make that a one-way?
20 MR. AIELLO: No, it--itisnot. It's
21 our intention -- we were showing the loading

22 operations specifically for Trader Joe's, and that was
23 not our intention. We wanted to show on this exhibit,
24 C800 specifically, that a WB-65 truck could enter

25 either driveway or could -- could -- it could enter

24 MR. AIELLO: Don't forget, those are
25 cubic yards -- those numbers.
Page 113
1 MR. LINTNER: Okay.
2 MR. AIELLO: Thefiller, cubic yards.

3 And soit's-- so if there'sa-- asignificant --

4 there's an order of magnitude of three times when yoy

5 go from cubic feet to cubic yards.

6 MR. LINTNER: Oh, yes, yes. But 6,200

7 square feet -- you got -- what are you, eight feet,

8 ten feet deep?

9 MR. AIELLO: Correct. But the numbers
10 that we mentioned before, fill, are cubic yards.

11 MR. LINTNER: Okay. So that's 62,000
12 cubic feet?
13 MR. AIELLO: Right. You divide that by

14 27 to get it to be cubic yards.

15 MR. LINTNER: Andisn't that a

16 significant amount, 62,000 divided by 27? That'sa
17 large number.

18 MR. AIELLO: WEe'l be certain to double
19 check the math and make sure everything's right --
20 MR. LINTNER: Yeah, | would -- double
21 check it, because | believeit's significantly higher
22 than what you've indicated.

23 Nothing further, Mr. Chairman.
24 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Thank you.
25 John?
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MR. RYAN: Back to the parking
reduction, you mentioned the 5.36 number per thousand
square feet?

MR. AIELLO: Yes.

MR. RYAN: | guesstwo -- two thoughts
on that. One, Trader Joe's does see alot of volume,
so I'm not sure if maybe you want that to be alittle
higher. But also the -- the new business that are
going in on the pad are also ones that | would expect
to be generating alot of volume. So | was wondering
if that had been factored in, the fact that it's
Trader Joe's and some other businesses that would be
having alot to go through -- parking lot.

MR. AIELLO: Yes, the | TE standards,
when they're looking at a combined ratio for a
shopping center, are building in basically a shared
parking-type analysis where the Trader Joe's may not
be as busy when the restaurants are or when the gym
is. Sothere'sthat element to it -- of shared
parking, where these different uses are peaking at a
different -- at different times. So that isthe way
it's built into the 4.5 per thousand reference that |
had mentioned under ITE.

MR. RYAN: It's probably around five
o'clock, 5:30, you're going to see alot of traffic
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1 adeqguate for that particular store. There'sa Trader
2 Joe'sin Westwood; they have a number of handicap
3 spotsfar in excess of three.
4 MR. AIELLO: We can certainly talk
5 about that with Trader Joe's and see if they noticed
6 the -- an increase to date.

7 MR. CULHANE: | suggest you reexamine
8 that.
9 No other comments for --

10 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.

11 Joe?

12 MR. PUGLISI: So areyou intending to

13 continue to encourage deliveries through the Woodmont
14 entrance, or isthat going to be l&ft to the

15 discretion of the truckers?

16 MR. AIELLO: | would think

17 operationally we would leave it at the discretion of

18 the -- of the truckers. It'sjust kind of the pattern

19 they fitin.

20 MR. PUGLISI: Sothereason| ask is

21 the now only ingress and egress on Chestnut Ridge Road
22 will be encumbered somewhat by trucks making that wide
23 turninor leaving. So you may want to just take that

24 into consideration when you look at your operating

25 tenants.
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1 there. Just making sure there's cushion because
2 the -- the shopping center just over to the other side
3 seemsto run out of parking spotsin the grocery
4 aress.
5 MR. AIELLO: Understood.
6 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you, John.
7 MR. CULHANE: | have aquestion on the

8 handicap parking. How many have been basically

9 allocated to accommodate Trader Joe's and how many are
10 basically being provided for the entire center?
11 MR. AIELLO: Sowe havethree
12 specifically located near Trader Joe's. So -- |
13 believe we have 11 spaces proposed for the overall
14 center.
15 MR. CULHANE: Sorry, Trader Joe'sis--
16 has how many? Three?

17 MR. AIELLO: Three; correct.

18 MR. CULHANE: Isthat adequate?

19 MR. AIELLO: Itis.

20 MR. CULHANE: What's that based on?
21 MR. AIELLO: So what we did was we

22 looked at the overall requirement for the overall

23 center, and then we looked to distribute them to the
24 different uses.

25 MR. CULHANE: | questionif that is

Page 117
1 MR. AIELLO: Interms of encouraging
2 them to use Woodmont --
3 MR. PUGLISI: Yeah.
4 MR. AIELLO: Yeah, well do that.
5 Thank you.
6 MR. PUGLISI: Okay.
7 | have no other comments --
8 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
9 Anita?

10 MS. BAGDAT: Yeah, if | heard you
11 correctly, did you say that currently there was 537
12 parking spots?

13 MR. AIELLO: | think it was 527. Yeah,
14 527.
15 MS. BAGDAT: Okay. And then you said

16 after -- all done, it -- it will be 4097

17 MR. AIELLO: Correct.

18 MS. BAGDAT: Okay. So therewould be
19 reduction of amosgt, like, 120 --

20 MR. AIELLO: 1 think it was 103 --

21 MS. BAGDAT: Yeah, 1087 108

22 spots-- 118 spots less?

23 MR. AIELLO: Yes.
24 MS. PRICE: But the credit --
25 MS. BAGDAT: That'sfor the entire area
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1 or just for the new construction?
2 MR. AIELLO: I'm sorry?
3 MS. BAGDAT: All -- dl of it -- the
4 entire --
5 MR. AIELLO: It'sfor the entire
6 shopping center, yes.
7 MS. BAGDAT: Okay, thank you. And
8 currently -- | mean, you know, forgive me, | do not --
9 but will there be any EV charging stations?

MR. AIELLO: Therewill be. Actualy,
thereisaprior site plan approval, which included
ten EV parking spaces that we've incorporated into
this plan to the south of the gym building, and then
we've also included three additional ones near the pad
site. And we've taken the corresponding credit as
permitted under the ordinance for providing those
spaces; there's a deduction from the department
requiring it.

19 MS. BAGDAT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
20 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.

21 Frank?

22 MR. STEFANELLI: Yes. | know you're

23 keeping the one monument sign; you're going to refresh

Page 120
1 before we open it to the public, Darlene, anything on
2 engineering? Or were you going to hold off on your
3 review until we enter your exhibit -- your |etter as
4 in exhibit?

5 MS. GREEN: WEell hold off.

6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Thank you.

7 Carl?

8 MR. OBRIEN: Just afew thingsthat --
9 MR. DEPINTO: Engineering questions?

10 MR. OBRIEN: Engineering --

11 engineering -- we'll dive into all this stuff.

12 MR. AIELLO: Sure.

13 MR. OBRIEN: So that'sonething. The
14 guiderail, it's going along the northern border

15 driveway?

16 MR. AIELLO: That's correct.

17 MR. OBRIEN: Okay. The checkerboard
18 stripe, which is unique, | suggest a maintenance plan
19 with that aso. That will fade over time with the
20 amount of traffic that's going to go over that. So
21 every year, every two years, whatever it is, | would
22 havethat part of your operational maintenance plan
23 with everything.

24 it? 24 MR. AIELLO: Makes sense.
25 MR. AIELLO: Yes. 25 MR. O'BRIEN: Y our stormwater
Page 119 Page 121
1 MR. STEFANELLI: What about The Fresh management, | didn't check yet, but we're going to do
2 Market sign that's currently there at the entrance? test pits, soil boring, al that stuff. Make sure
3 MR. AIELLO: Right, so there -- there it -- 'cause you're -- you're going with the -- the

4 aretwo signs. We -- we call the one that's kind of
5 aong the middle of the frontage the -- the monument
6 sign, and then the other isthe -- it's the pylon
7 sign. And theintentionisfor thoseto remain.
8 MR. STEFANELLI: Soyou'regoingto
9 rebrand that to --
10 MR. AIELLO: "Fresh Market" would be
11 replaced with Trader Joe's.
12 MS. PRICE: Just the verbiageis
13 changing; right? Just the name, we're not changing
14 any part of the structure.
15 MR. STEFANELLI: Okay. But| don't see
16 it on the drawing -- that's why -- that'swhy |
17 brought it up.

18 MR. AIELLO: On the new exhibits, they
19 are.

20 MS. PRICE: On the new -- on the new
21 exhibits --

22 MR. STEFANELLI: -- addressthat.

23 Thank you.

24 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.

25 And, Dieter -- okay. | haveto go --

1
2
3
4 half-moon pipes; right?
5 MR. AIELLO: Weéll, but we're actually
6 not taking credit for infiltration and we're actually
7 going put around it because of the groundwater --
8 because of the remediation plan that's -- at the site.
9 Soit'sstrictly for retention.
MR. O'BRIEN: Gotit. Soyou're going
to hold it back and you're going to slowly release?
MR. AIELLO: Correct.
13 MR. OBRIEN: Okay. Well -- well
14 check the numbers on that, make sure it works. And
15 you said you have a DEP permit going in with that. So
16 actually -- and you have Bergen County Sail, so you're
17 going to be triple-checked on your stormwater.

10
11
12

18 MR. AIELLO: Correct.
19 MS. PRICE: Yes.
20 MR. O'BRIEN: So one misses, the other

21 two will pick it up.

22 MR. AIELLO: Agreed.

23 MR. OBRIEN: So that -- that's what we
24 havewith that. Your paving plan, little unique with
25 it because it looks like you're paving three quarters
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of your site. You're not repaving behind the
buildings, so | just want to make sure that behind the
buildings, it's okay.
MR. AIELLO: Okay. That's-- that's

MR. O'BRIEN: You know, if -- if it's
pothole-ridden, it's amess, it probably makes sense,
since you're paving everything, you might as well pave
everything; but that's what | would do.

MR. ALLEGRETTI: Wewant it to be
first-class, so.

MR. OBRIEN: Yeah, I'm-- I'm making a
recommendation; you guys do what you want, but that's
how | -- | seeit. The other thing isthe switchback
on the pad sitein thefront. So | --
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16 MR. AIELLO: Yes. With theramp?
17 MR. OBRIEN: Theramp, yes. So onthe
18 south side, it'savery short one; it'sjust -- it's

19 just alittleramp. On the northern side, it's 100
20 foot or so -- 120 foot by the time you walk up and
21 back.

22 MR. AIELLO: Correct.

23 MR. O'BRIEN: Y ou got about a six foot
24 changein grade there. Not saying I'm against it or
25 for it, just -- I'm sure you checked out the grading.
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| open -- sorry. Before | open the meeting to the
public, | want to recognize Fire Chief Gibbonsis
here, and | believe he wants to be heard.

Chief?

MR. GIBBONS: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

| don't know --

MR. DEPINTO: Jeff, we're going to have
to swear you in.
WHEREUPON,

JEFFERY GIBBONS,

called as awitness and having been first duly sworn
to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth, was examined and testified as follows:

MR. REGAN: For the record, can | get a
full name, please?

MR. GIBBONS: Jeffery Gibbons.

MR. REGAN: Thank you.

MR. GIBBONS: So, Chairman, | don't
know if it's appropriate at thistime or not. | did
submit aletter that was reviewed by our committee.
Some of the issues have been brought up at this point,
some of them haven't. So | don't know where you want
me to -- to testify?

MR. DEPINTO: Yeah, | think | would
like to hear next from the public based on the

Page 123
1 | would take alook at that, revisit it, seeif that
2 switchback makes sense, if you can do something a
3 littledifferent. I'm not sure, I'm just throwing it
4 out there, 120 feet to walk, it -- it'skind of far to
5 get to the front of those three stores. Just
6 something to look at; you know --
7 MR. AIELLO: Understood.
8 MR. OBRIEN: Onthe-- onthe
9 handicapped parking side, you have the short distance.
10 On the other side, the more northern portion of it,
11 it's-- you've got to pack alunch to walk that.
12 MR. AIELLO: Yes. Yes. Andagain,
13 that was really provided for convenience, for people
14 with strollers but who didn't want it -- a barrier at
15 theside.
16 MR. OBRIEN: That'swhat | --
17 MR. AIELLO: Butyeah, it'sa--it'sa
18 journey. Yeah.
19 MR. O'BRIEN: | mean, you do have abig
20 grade changer there. Sol -- | get what you're --
21 what you're proposing. Overal, that's -- that's it
22 for right now until wediveintoit. | just wanted to
23 throw that out there.
24 MR. AIELLO: Okay.
25 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you. Before
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testimony. We're then going to take a five-minute
break, and when we come back, we'll introduce your
review letter and then have you expand upon it.

MR. GIBBONS: Okay.

MR. DEPINTO: Just give usafew.

MR. GIBBONS: Yep. Thank you.

MR. DEPINTO: We're going to take a
five-minute break.

To the public, we need a breather; that
was very titillating and exciting. So give usfive
minutes and we'll be back.

(Off the record.)

MR. DEPINTO: Okay. We're going to
open the meeting to the public. Chair will entertain
amotion.

MR. LINTNER: So moved.

MR. DEPINTO: Bill, second is John.

All infavor?

MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Members of the
public that have questions of the engineer, please
raise your hand and step forward and identify.

Yes, Sir?

MR. NUNEZ: Good evening, Steven Nunez;
I liveon 3 Taryn Court. How areyou? Sol havea

32 (Pages 122 - 125)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



Page 126
few questions. The driveway on Woodmont, asit stands
today, it's already a pretty dangerous driveway; alot
of delivery trucks as you said and kind of the main
route coming in and out for residential traffic as

5 well. How has this been examined after cutting it
6 down from three driveways down to two? What type of
7 traffic count been taken into --
8 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, | believe -- |
9 believe, Ms. Price, your next witness --
10 MS. PRICE: Isatraffic engineer.
11 MR. DEPINTO: -- isatraffic engineer.
12 MS. PRICE: Correct.
13 MR. DEPINTO: So I'm going to ask, sir,
14 that you hold that question until the next witness,
15 who will be the most qualified to answer that.
16 MR. NUNEZ: Okay. Okay, next question,
17 1 know you mentioned earlier 100 plus parking spots
18 are going to be removed. Have there been any
19 considerations that you -- well, with that, | would
20 assume there's going to be overflow that's going to be
21 leaving thismain parking lot, likely to be on
22 Woodmont. Would there be no parking signs put up?
23 What other things are going to be put into
24 consideration to limit overflow now there's going to
25 be less parking spotsin the --

w N -

i
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MS. PRICE: Can -- let me-- let me --
and you can answer.

But | should have prefaced it with the
Board as well, we've already discussed this plan with
Bergen County, which was one of the reasons for this
layout because of the traffic signal at Woodmont and
Chestnut Ridge, which istheir jurisdiction -- of that
traffic signal. And the other driveway at the
northern sideis their jurisdiction. So they've
reviewed this site several times since I've been
involved with the site.

So both the southern and at the
intersection at -- and the northern end of the
14 existing driveway are the two points under Bergen
15 County jurisdiction as well as Montvale jurisdiction.
16 So that was the design that, you know, we kept, given
17 thefact that Bergen County would also be looking at
18 traffic on Chestnut Ridge Road.
19 | don't know, Rob, if you have
20 anything.
21
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MR. AIELLO: Sure, thank you.

22 So the reason why we elected to keep

23 the existing driveway on Woodmont is because it gives
24 us access to the signalized intersection at Woodmont,
25 like Ms. Pricejust mentioned. If we wereto provide
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1 MR. DEPINTO: | don't know how we could
2 answer that.
3 Gail, doyou --
4

MS. PRICE: Wél, | mean, from the --
5 from an applicant's standpoint, that's -- that's why
6 we haveto present expert testimony that the numbers
7 and theratio is adequate as recognized by the
8 Ingtitute of Traffic Engineers. If you wanted no
9 parking signs, | mean, I'm not speaking in the stead
10 of Montvale's Borough Council, but the governing body
11 would need to implement no parking signs on the
12 streetsin the Woodmont section. |f you wanted no
13 parking during particular times of the day, it would
14 need to be adopted by ordinance.
15 MR. NUNEZ: Okay.
16 MS. PRICE: | guess| did just speak
17 in -- that's -- that's the mechanism.
18 MR. NUNEZ: So something, | guess,
19 could be considered; isthat right? | guess back to
20 driveways, what other configurations were considered,
21 proposed? Why did we land on reducing to two? Why
22 these specific two; why do we not consider two just on
23 Chestnut Ridge Road and close Woodmont? How did we
24 come to this conclusion, that this was the most ideal
25 driveway scenario?

Page 129
1 adriveway somewhere along Chestnut Ridge Road in this
2 vicinity, that would interfere with the queuing
3 operations of the signal, so that wouldn't be a
4 candidate, for the existing -- for -- for anew
5 driveway in thislocation would interfere with the
6 lane use configurations here approaching that traffic
7 signal. That's why the existing driveway wasright in
8 and right out.
9 And then we are constrained -- we want
10 to make sure we got this driveway, and the reason why
11 it'swhereitisnow is because it's as far away from
12 theintersection as possible, but also respecting our
13 environmental constraints associated with the street.
14 So that's why these two driveways are proposed in this
15 plan.
16 MR. NUNEZ: | guessjust piggybacking
17 off of that alittle bit, again, going back to the
18 overflow that | expect will happen in this plazawith
19 Trader Joe's and three other restaurants in here and
20 reduced parking spots, what other things are being
21 done or considered for pedestrian traffic? For
22 example, Woodmont, now | would expect alot more foot
23 traffic, especially with a preschool that's getting
24 built acrossthe street aswell. Anything being
25 considered for a crosswalk, walking path; anything --

33 (Pages 126 - 129)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



Page 130
1 anything on Woodmont?
2 Can't seeit here, it'sjust off this
3 areaof view, but right here, there's a preschool
4 being built. And, you know, my opinion is, like,
5 should we consider some sort of cross volunteers --
6 since all of thiswill be the in main traffic for all
7 trucks and pretty much the majority of driven cars as
8 wall.
9 MR. AIELLO: Soif we wereto look at
providing a crosswalk at this driveway across
Woodmont, it would be amidblock crossing and
potentially interfere with the queuing operations, but
it would really only be serving people coming from
this development over. But thereis opportunity for
pedestrians to use the existing sidewalk system that's
here, come across, and then connect to our, you know,
pedestrian connections that we're already proposing.
We always like to try to have our pedestrian
connections to the main road because that's usually

20 where most pedestrian traffic will be.

21 MR. NUNEZ: There'salso no sidewalk on
22 thisentire -- opposite side on this side.

23 MR. AIELLO: Yeah, it's on the opposite
24 side.

25 MR. NUNEZ: So technicaly, from the

Page 132
1 enclosure here for trash right up against the
2 building -- and recycling. And then there's another
3 enclosure here for pallet storage because Trader Joe's
4 typically takestheir deliveries on pallets and they
5 promote -- they have an enclosure to shield -- to --
6 you know, to place those when they're waiting to be
7 picked up.
8 MR. NUNEZ: Excellent, thank you.
9 That'sit, thank you.

10 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.

11 Any other questions?

12 WEell, let me get some other people.

13 How about we --

14 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Go ahead.
15 MR. DEPINTO: Good evening.

16 MR. TYLER: Hi, my name's Robert Tyler;
17 1 live at 67 Woodcrest Drive. And one of my questions
18 iswhat is the anticipated time for construction?

19 MR. AIELLO: I'll answer that --

20 Y eah, go ahead.

21 MS. PRICE: "Time" like the length of

22 time or when?

23 MR. TYLER: Yeah, how longisthis
24 going to take and where is the construction entrance?
25 MR. AIELLO: Yeah, so asfar astiming
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1 only sidewak on Woodmont, there's no crosswalk -- can
2 gettothe-- so | would consider --
3 MR. AIELLO: Oh, sorry. | took your --
4 MR. REGAN: No problem. Last comment |
5 think isjust more general, but just on garbage,
6 trash, you didn't touch on any -- that in-the-closet
7 stuff. What's the facts of that?
8 MR. AIELLO: You areright, apologies.
9 Sowe are proposing -- for the pad site buildings,
10 there's atrash enclosure here that's proposed. It
11 will have an enclosure as shown on the architectural
12 that will be aesthetically pleasing, but in addition,
13 we have landscaping proposed around the perimeter to
14 screenit.
15 So we do have this area here where
16 there's areceptacle that's -- there was another
17 comment from a member of the public before about where
18 will the grease be stored; it would be within this
19 dumpster area. So thisisthe refuse areafor the pad
20 site. Thisback area, this back sidewalk isto the
21 service doors of the pad site spaces. So they will
22 come out, go here, and then put the trash, recycling,
23 and grease in that location. That's for the pad site.
24 For Trader Jo€'s, there are two
25 enclosures proposed specifically. Thereisan
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1 goes, alot of it's going to depend on our overall
2 approval; our approvals from the Borough, DEP --
3 MR. TYLER: Weéll, once you start to
4 completion?
5 MR. AIELLO: We're -- our -- our
6 anticipated timeline's about 12 months.
7 MR. TYLER: Okay. Andwhereisyour
8 construction entrance where trucks will be going in
9 and out?
10 MR. AIELLO: We're -- we're not that
11 far in our -- our development of our plans yet, but
12 it's going to be something we're going to have
13 develop.
14 MR. TYLER: Okay. And wherewill
15 everyone park within those 12 months when you're using
16 probably 30 percent of the parking lot for that?
17 MR. AIELLO: That's part of our plan
18 we're going to have to develop. We're not that far
19 yet. Sorry.
20 MR. TYLER: Do you know how long
21 Chestnut Ridge Road will be closed when you have to
22 run al of the new utilities? And what -- where all
23 that traffic coming out?
24 MR. AIELLO: So when the utilities are
25 installed, you have to do it in accordance with the
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1 County'srequirements. They stipulate hours of
2 operation, which -- in which it can occur, and it's
3 basically usually trying to avoid rush hour. So when
4 you're installing new utilities, there might be some
5 temporary disturbances to the traffic during those
6 off-peak hours, but the requirement would be that the
7 utilities and excavations would be plated so that
8 traffic can reopen to minimize impact.
9 MR. TYLER: Okay. That'snot really
10 our experience on Chestnut Ridge Grove. They just did
11 the preschool; they did it al day long, so. And as
12 far asthe exit here, thisisincredibly dangerous --
13 to make aleft out of the shopping center now. With
14 the increased traffic, how do you envision that
15 happening with no traffic right there? | don't know
16 if there's anyone from the police department here, but
17 there's -- there's accidents there pretty regularly.
18 MR. AIELLO: That will be part of our
19 traffic testimony, the methodol ogies and -- and our
20 analysis and the resullts.

21 MR. NUNEZ: Okay. That'sal | have.

22 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.

23 MONTVALE PUBLIC: -- 96 Woodmont Drive.
24 Early on in your presentation, you mentioned that most

25 deliveries take place from the Woodmont entrance. Do
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1 rerouting. Specifically in this case, just off the
2 top of my head, there is opportunity to cut through
3 the -- there is opportunity to cut through, | believe,
4 from this parking -- from this parking lot --

5 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: That isnot --
6 no--
7 MR. AIELLO: So there's no connection?

8 Well, okay. That would be certainly handled by the

9 emergency responders at the scene.
10 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Okay. Also, we have,
11 you know, buses -- school buses picking children up
12 for school till early onin the morning. How isthat
13 traffic going to impact traffic -- morning traffic
14 with deliveries and such --
15 MR. DEPINTO: Again, | think that's
16 better asked of -- the traffic expert --
17 MONTVALE PUBLIC: He presented it.
18 That deliveries should be --
19 MR. AIELLO: | -- | stated that
20 deliveries occur there based on conversations with the
21 shopping center -- and the board member that --
22 MS. PRICE: Wéll, just -- | mean, just
23 for the record, the -- the deliveries cannot go around
24 the northern end of the shopping center right now
25 because the building comes up to the northern end of
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1 you have that information available? Becausel live
2 on Woodmont; this gym is busy early on, around 5:00
3 am. These are where most of the members park. It's
4 impossible -- this truck, to make this turn.
5 I'm also curious of what the Fire Chief
6 thinks, there'safire, God forbid, how that truck's
7 going to get by. Same thing on this side; how wideis
8 this? With the cars parked here, how's the trucks
9 going to get by? That doesn't make any sense. So
10 that'sone. Next, you referenced approximately 90
11 feet of queuing at Chestnut Ridge. How's the queuing
12 length being tested against peak weekend conditions
13 for Trade Joes and the restaurants?
14 MR. AIELLO: A queuing analysis has
15 been done as part of our traffic study, and that will
16 be part of our testimony.
17 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Awesome. So what
18 happens, God forbid a truck flips over here and
19 there's an emergency on Woodmont, how are we supposed
20 to get out if you're directing all the traffic this
21 way, especially delivery trucks? That's what you
22 recommended; right? It'sall on here?
23 MR. AIELLO: Weéll, in the event of any
24 significant accident like that, the emergency services
25 would be activated to deal with traffic and pedestrian

Page 137
1 the property and the constrained DEP area.
2 MONTVALE PUBLIC: But you have an extra
3 entrance and exit; right? That's where they can --
4 MS. PRICE: No --
5 MR. AIELLO: All of the current Fresh
6 Market deliveries are coming through WWoodmont.
7 They're going around the south side of the building
8 where Drop Fitnessis. They're going to the far north
9 back corner of the site; they do a K-turn and that's
where every single tractor trailer that's delivering
to Fresh Market delivers. There probably are box
trucks that deliver to the front of the site, but they
13 al comein from Woodmont. And if they comein from
14 Chestnut Ridge, based on current conditions, it's
15 probably during off-peak hours. So | -- | personally
16 witnessed it --
17 MONTVALE PUBLIC: So we have trucks
18 going there at peak hours?

19 MR. AIELLO: No.

20 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Déelivery trucks?
21 MR. AIELLO: No. No.

22 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Okay. That'swhat
23 you said.

24 MR. AIELLO: | mean, there could be,

25 yeah. Not -- not to our knowledge.
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MONTVALE PUBLIC: Thank you.
MR. AIELLO: Y ou're welcome.
MR. DEPINTO: Okay, thank you.
Anyone else?
Yes, sir?

6 MR. ALTADANA: My nameisJohn

7 Altadang; | live at 4 Diane Court, which is pretty

8 much on the corner of Woodmont and Diane Court up

9 here. It'sliterally right behind -- that's me right
10 here; I'm literaly right behind Drop Fitness. And |
11 don't think any -- any intentions been made to the --
12 there's a mixed-use office space here with a small
13 parking lot which overfillsal thetime. And | can
14 attest that everybody parks on Woodmont. So I'm
15 just -- | understand that they want a variance for 30
16 extraspots, or they're short of 30 spots, and I'm
17 just -- | just can't see it being enough with the
18 amount of retail space they want.
19 | guess my question is -- iswhat to do
20 in case of overflow? Because on Woodmont Drive,
21 there's, like, no room for parking whatsoever. And |
22 guess I'm just worried that people would start parking
23 up Woodmont, up by Diane Court.
24 | think they -- the Board asked before
25 about if | could see directly into theroof. | don't

a b wWwN PP
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1 My concern with you is from an

2 engineering standpoint, we have low water pressurein

3 town; | know our mayor's here. We have -- | happen to

4 live at the end of the run for the utility company,

5 which, when it was a skating rink before it became

6 Four Seasons at Ridgemont, was part of Rockland

7 Electric and has since gone over to PSEG.

8 Becauseit's a 55 plus active devel oped

9 community, and we have to -- to your point, we have a
10 number of people who have disability requirements, and
11 we have certainly more handicapped parking spaces than
12 are being proposed here -- that -- that we are going
13 toruninto autility problem with the electric
14 company, and | want to know if that's being addressed
15 with them in terms of power requirements going
16 forward. Especidly as-- again, asthe KPMG property
17 eventually gets developed, we've had power outages.
18 There's no reason to believe that --
19 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Let mejust
20 interrupt you one second.

21 MR. BERNSTEIN: Yeah.
22 MR. DEPINTO: So your concernis
23 whether or not this applicant has communicated or
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1 know if thisisthe right time for that, but | can see
2 intotheroof. | think the raised pad here, I'll be
3 ableto see aswell from the back of my house.
4 I've been there for, like, 13 years; |
5 havefour small kids. Just traffic alone and car
6 spots, it just -- | don't think it's enough and |
7 think it'sjust an overdevelopment of the site. I'm
8 happy with Trader Joe's but | think the pad addition
9 isjust overkill, in my opinion.

10 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, very good. Thank
11 you.

12 Anyone else?

13 Yes, sir?

14 MR. BERNSTEIN: Yezah, I'm Peter

15 Bernstein; | live at 308 Four Seasons Drive, the

16 Montvale part of Four Seasons at Ridgemont. We are,
17 if you look at the map, right here.

18 | have a-- I'll have a bunch of

19 concerns when we get to the traffic study. And also
20 as somebody who abuts KPMG, I'm worried going forward
21 that the Board is thinking about -- the Planning Board
22 isthinking about what happens when we have maybe
23 2,000 residents across the street from this, and how

24 arethey going to get there? Just something to think
25 about.

24 attempted to communicate with the utility companies;
25 isthat correct?
Page 141
1 MR. BERNSTEIN: And the water company.
2 MR. DEPINTO: Asl said, utility
3 companies.
4 MR. BERNSTEIN: Yes--andl'dliketo
5 know what the result was.
6 MR. DEPINTO: Right.
7 Have you communicated with the utility
8 companies or will serve letters?
9 MR. AIELLO: We have been in contact
10 with Veoliafor water. We have not yet contacted the

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

other utility owners.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay.

MR. BERNSTEIN: And onelast one --
because | had six months of experience dealing with
Bergen County's engineering department on this -- to
adjust the traffic light timing at that intersection
in order to allow people with mobility devicesto have
enough time to cross the street, has -- has Bergen
County's Engineering Department been consulted about
both that and what timing may need to be done, in this
event -- Traffic Department when St. Joe's gets out at

22 2:30?
23 MR. DEPINTO: Yesh.
24 MS. PRICE: We've reached out to Bergen

25 County and we've sent them our plan. And I've talked
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1 to Eric Timsak myself; he's the lead engineer. 1 dimension you need. The -- the bays of parking are
2 MR. BERNSTEIN: Yeah, | know -- | know 2 60-foot bays. The aisles are 24, so that means that
3 him. 3 the spaces are 18 feet each, which isindustry
4 MR. DEPINTO: | -- | don't know -- and 4 standard for parking. Interms of the width, they're
5 | don't know, Gail, you can answer this, or Carl -- 5 9feet wide, which is also standard.
6 with respect to control of that light, isthat under 6 MS. PORTNOQOY: Okay. And that's what
7 Woodcliff Lake or the County -- 7 they are now or what they're going to be?
8 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: The County. 8 MR. AIELLO: That's what they're going
9 MR. DEPINTO: County hasfull control 9 to be.
10 of that light? 10 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. What are they
11 MS. PRICE: Yep. 11 now -- what the reduction is?
12 MR. BERNSTEIN: So | hate to interject, 12 MR. AIELLO: Now, | measured afew of
13 but I know from getting the three Leaning Tower of 13 them. It'sexisting conditions; they can vary. I'm
14 Pizatraffic poles that were -- that were a threat 14 seeing what looks to be just under nine foot in width
15 that happened to be in Woodcliff Lake, there was a 15 on the angled parking spaces. And in spots, it's 20
16 fight between Verizon and PSEG over who was 16 foot wide, but that's because -- or 20 foot long, but
17 responsible and how it was going to get fixed, and 17 angled parking spaces inherently are inefficient
18 whether Bergen County Engineering Department was going| 18 because you might be close on one side and far away on
19 to get involved. 19 the other so they tend to haveto be alittle bit
20 They finally mediated the situation 20 deeper. Soin general, they're going to be, | think,
21 there, but it did take me, as aformer member of the 21 based onwhat | scaled, alittle wider and the same
22 HOA board, six months to get them to change the signal 22 length.
23 sequence on the traffic light after consultation with 23 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. And then | know
24 and atraffic study done by the Woodcliff Lake and the 24 now there's directional guides, so you can go, like,
25 Montvale Police Departments on the timing of the 25 one way essentially through the parking lanes to help
Page 143 Page 145
1 light. Sothisis--thisisnot true. Just 1 keep things safe and the traffic moving -- the traffic
2 something -- 2 moving safely and, you know, one direction. Isit
3 MR. DEPINTO: WEell, noted. And welll 3 going to be still, like, directional sides, or isit
4 haveto get someinput on it from the County as well 4 going to be two-way parking lanes?
5 asMontvale Police Department. 5 MR. AIELLO: Wéll, angled parking,
6 MR. BERNSTEIN: Thank you. 6 because of its nature, has to be one-way and it hasto
7 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you. 7 besigned that way.
8 Okay. Yes, maam? 8 MS. PORTNOY: Understood.
9 MS. PORTNOY: Hi, Deborah Portnoy again 9 MR. AIELLO: Wewill have two-way
10 from 99 Woodcrest Drive. Most of my questions are 10 trafficin the aides, but at the ends of every aisle,

11 traffic related, so | just have two small questions 11 we do have stop signs and stop bars to control the
12 for right now. Specifically, | know that you're 12 traffic.

13 mentioning that the parking spots are going from 13 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. Just one concern
14 angular to 90-degree parking spots. What's the 14 based on the two-way traffic isthat -- sure we've all

=
(6]

15 reduction in size of each parking spot from what it is
16 currently to what the proposed parking spots sizes

been to DePiero's and, you know, Starbucks and
Orangetheory, and that whole area on a Saturday

=
»

17 are? 17 morning or, like, an early dismissal of school is

18 | know currently the parking spots are 18 really -- like, accidents waiting to happen. 1I'm

19 pretty generous and -- 19 shocked that people -- get hurt there. It's so

20 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yes, they are. 20 unsafe.

21 MS. PORTNOY: Like, if you'retaking 21 So it's concerning that we're going to

22 about, like, DePiero's -- like, by Starbucks and 22 hekind of going towards asimilar parking lot layout
23 thingslike that, or by SQ and Naya, those parking 23 where we're adding in Trader Joe's and three very high
24 spotsare, like, minuscule. So that's why 1'm asking. 24 traffic volume restaurants into this parking lot

25 MR. AIELLO: Sorry. You never havethe 25 that's aready busy with Drop Fitness. And then you
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1 havethe St. Joe's kids walking in, you've got the new
2 Goddard daycare that's going to be, you know, coming
3 out at rush hour; I'm sure those parents are going to
4 be hopping into these stores for dinner. I'll also
5 haveto --
6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay, I'm going to have
7 tointerrupt you --
8 MS. PORTNOY: Mm-hmm. So just my
9 concern.
10 MR. DEPINTO: You haveto put it --
11 okay. You haveto putitinthe form of aquestion
12 based upon the testimony that we've heard from this
13 engineer.
14 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. Okay. All right.
15 MR. DEPINTO: So do you have any
16 further questions of the engineer?

17 MS. PORTNOY: So has there been a
18 parking study that takes into effect or into account
19 all those factors?

20 MR. AIELLO: A parking --

21 MS. PORTNOY': A study of the parking
22 lot. | know you guys have done a traffic study.

23 MR. AIELLO: Weéll, | think part of your
24 gquestion was the difference between the angled parking
25 spaces and the 90-degree spaces and which oneis

Page 148
start and go through the checklist of a sign-off on
everyone, so.

MR. DEPINTO: Chris Gruber, who is our
construction code official -- Chris, you've been here
anumber of years now. With applications for
restaurants in shopping centers that have been
approved by the Montvale Board and Municipality, how
do you -- how does your department deal with this
particular question -- facility?

MR. AIELLO: It's not arequirement to
have a scrub -- air scrubber to take out odors from
restaurants, but it is something that we can ask them
to do. But asfar as codes go, it doesn't -- there's
no requirement for it.

MONTVALE PUBLIC: Isthat aconcern?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Especialy to
your residence. It's across the street; right?

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN PP
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18 MR. DEPINTO: We€ll -- well, we have a
19 number of food establishments at DePiero's.

20 MR. GRUBER: Yes.

21 MR. DEPINTO: Do theretailersthat are
22 sdlling food have those scrubbers that you're --

23 MR. GRUBER: Chipotle -- Chipotle put
24 onein.

25 MR. DEPINTO: Chipotle?

Page 147
better?

MS. PORTNOQY: Wéll, the safety between
putting that -- making the lanes two-way parking
lanes.

MR. AIELLO: Weéll, | can say the vast
majority of shopping centersin the country are two-
way with 90-degree parking, and very few arein this
configuration. Soit'sindustry standardto doitin
thisway, which is because it's a safer design.

MS. PORTNOY: Okay.

MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.

Yes, sir?

13 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Given thethree
14 proposed food service uses, can the applicant explain
15 how the kitchen exhaust odors will be controlled and
16 whether exhaust stacks are designed to prevent odors
17 from impacting -- pedestrian areas, adjacent

18 properties, or nearby residences? Will any odor

19 control or filtration systems be incorporated into the
20 exhaust design?

21 MS. PRICE: Yeah, we're going to have

22 to comply with all building code provisions for the
23 uses. And -- and we're going to need to do -- as

24 Montvale requires, as most towns require, we're going
25 to have to do a pre-construction meeting before we

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN PP
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1 MR. GRUBER: Yeah.
2 MR. DEPINTO: How about the other
3 stores?
4 MR. GRUBER: No.
5 MR. DEPINTO: So they're the only one?
6 And | would presume Fleming's might have it?
7 MR. GRUBER: No.
8 MR. DEPINTO: No? So do we have
9 complaints relative to that?

MR. GRUBER: We haven't had any.
11 MR. DEPINTO: And that would go -- if
12 wedid, it would go through your office?
13 MR. GRUBER: It would -- it would come
14 through zoning, yeah. People would call and complain
15 about smoke and whatnot. The -- the systems that they
16 put in the restaurants, they -- they literally will
17 shoot up and not out. You'll probably get smell --
18 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Wéll, we're higher
19 up. Sowith Montval€'s -- on the elevation --
20 MR. GRUBER: It's something we would
21 haveto -- to ask the restaurants.
22 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We got anywhere
23 else-- Taco Bell -- got amore residential --
24 MR. GRUBER: No. No, | -- I think that
25 the-- the new restaurants that are coming in are
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further away than other restaurants that are there.
So | -- | don't think you're going to have a problem
with it, but we -- we can --

MONTVALE PUBLIC: It'savalid concern?

MR. GRUBER: -- ask the question.

MONTVALE PUBLIC: Thank you.

MR. GRUBER: Thank you.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Anyoneelse? Any
other questions? Okay, no; Chair wants to entertain a
motion to close the meeting to the public.

MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: So moved.

MR. DEPINTO: John, Frank --

All infavor?

MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Before you
introduce your next witness, | want to go back to
Chief Gibbons.

Chief, if you'd step forward. And |
believe we're going to mark into evidence as B1 the
Montvale Fire Department review |etter.

(Exhibit B1 was marked for

identification.)

MR. GIBBONS: SoI'm sorry, | don't
have a copy of the letter with me, so I'm going to
shoot myself in the hip here.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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there were no yard heights, and | don't remember what
we asked for. | think we asked for four -- three or
four depending upon the location of that one. Oneon
the north side, just short of the -- this-- one on
the north side, somewhere over here, one on the south
side, either here or by the entrance off of Woodmont.

I think we asked for one -- yeah, one in the middle of
the back, and then one on the west side of the new pad
building.

'Cause right now our only hydrant would
be -- like | said, if you close off that entrance,
it's out on Chestnut Ridge Road approximately where
that pad building is, so we have no way that -- we
have to lay alot of homesto get back there.

The other things are -- are basically
normal as far as what we're asking for on the FDCs or
whatever. But two things that were brought up during
the testimony before is locating garbage, the pallets,
and whatever storage next to the building is not a
good idea. If thereisafire, it's closeto the
building; that needs to be -- | believe the code's a
minimum 20 feet away. Don't quote me on that one, but
it has to be away from the building.

And the last is some type of -- with
the parapet walls that are going in, some type of roof
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MS. PRICE: | have one; do you want it?

MR. GIBBONS: | think | got ong; it's
all good.

MS. PRICE: Okay.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay.

MR. GIBBONS: So as was stated before,
one of our complaints -- or not complaints, but one of
our issuesiswater in town. So thefirstthingis
the Fire Department is looking for a copy of aletter
from Veolia of the current water flow test in the area
at Q20 under worst-case conditions. So that's when
our water tank hits -- basically it's down two-thirds.

We're also requesting a letter from
Veolia stating whether they need to provide any
infrastructure upgrades in the area to provide for
adequate water flow for fire protection.

While we're talking about water,
they're closing off the middle driveway, which is--
right now, if we have afire call, the hydrant is
located just before that, so we hit that hydrant and
we lay up to the front of the building or we have to
come from Woodmont and lay around in the back of the
building al the way to the north end.

We are requesting yard hydrants to be
put into this complex. When this building was built,
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access from inside the building so that if we have to
get onto the roof -- right now, the only way we can
get onto the roof isthere's aladder bolted into the
back of the building behind the gym, other than our
ladder truck. So additional -- some type of roof
access, either through Trader Joe's or somewherein
that area where we can get up on the roof.

The last thing, which | forgot, our
concern with our ladder truck is making this turn.
Right now, our plan is -- with the Review Committeeis
we come in on the north entrance, we loop to the
right, and if we have to go to the left in front of
the building, we do not feel that our aerial will be
able to make the turn in front of the Trader Joe's due
to the overhang on the front of the bucket.

So this -- thisisland would have to be
cut alittle bit shorter so that the -- the truck can
make the turn. Getting around the back of the
building, | don't think we have aproblem. But then
looping around and coming out the Woodmont Drive --
‘cause most likely, we're going to come in this north
entrance and go out the Woodmont Drive entrance. |If
we have to get to the new pad, obviously we can follow
the road around, so that shouldn't be a problem. But
that's -- that was another concern, is-- isthe
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aerial making that turn. That'sit.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay. So should that --
and I'm just going to add on -- can | guess the curve
radius be modified to accommodate Montvale's
equipment?

MR. AIELLO: Mr. Chairman, we actually
did analyze that. The Chief was kind enough to
provide the dimensions of the truck in the revised
comment |etter, so we do have an exhibit --

Gail, we have labeled thisA7, but I'm
not sureif it's still valid.

MS. PRICE: It's-- no, it's--

MR. REGAN: A9 now.

MS. PRICE: Oh, yeah, right. A9. A9.

MR. REGAN: What are we calling this?

MS. PRICE: It's-- "Truck Turning
Exhibit for Montvale Fire."

MR. AIELLO: "Truck Turning Analysis,
Montvale Fire Truck."

(Exhibit A9 was marked for

identification.)

MR. AIELLO: So the -- the dimensions,
we actually looked up that truck on the manufacturer's
website; it showed that it could either be between 41
and 36 feet, so weran it with a46-foot plane. And
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of -- thisisland might need to be cut one or two
spaces short to make that turn there. The problemis
Pierce -- Pierce doesn't give you --

MR. AIELLO: doesn't give you that
piece?

MR. GIBBONS: -- that piece. And
that's -- you know, thisis aladder truck; we have a
bucket, so we have a -- you know, rear-mount, so the
bucket overhangs the -- the front.

MR. AIELLO: Yeah, we can certainly do
that. | feel like there'salot of room here. The
main reason is because we have 30 foot in front -- we
have 30-foot pavings, so that gives us some
flexibility. But we need to make sure you're
satisfied, so we're happy to update the analysis
however we can.

MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Chief, anything
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el Al <
© N~ WN RO

else?

=
(o]

MR. GIBBONS: No, the -- the other
comments are al, you know, as far as with the
building; you know, FPC connections and obviously no
parking in front of the yard hydrants and in front of
FPC connections. Oh, there was one other item, now
that | think about it. Our concern was when they
fill -- when they knock down this portion of the

NN DNNDNDN
a s WNBEO

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 155
we did run this template, coming in from -- from
Chestnut Ridge Road coming up through here and then
making that turn. So there is adequate room without
encroaching into the parking spaces to make that left
turn. And then we also showed it -- the same truck
leaving the site on this exhibit.

MR. GIBBONS: Isthison the newest set
of plansthat were submitted?

MR. AIELLO: Thisisbrand new, yes.

MR. GIBBONS: So we haven't seen --

MR. AIELLO: Actually -- actually, this
wasn't even submitted. Thisisanew plan.

MR. GIBBONS: Okay. So what our
concern is, with cars parked in these parking
spaces -- up here. So the front overhang -- it's not
so much the -- the problem is this drawing doesn't
show the front overhang of the bucket. The bucket
sticks out another eight feet -- six feet, eight feet.
So to make that turn, that bucket, if there's any
street signs or if there's an overhang, we can't make
that turn. Thisisn't atrue, accurate description of
the truck.

MR. AIELLO: We're happy to -- were
happy to revise it however you need.

MR. GIBBONS: Like, itis-- like, one
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building and they fill this, you know, obviously
there's going to be some type of engineering work to
make sure that thiswall will handle the weight of
the -- the fill on the outside so that it doesn't pose
a collapse hazard or something, you know, structural.
So the Committee was a little concerned because we
knew there was a basement; we weren't 100 percent sure
if that was being filled in or not. So we want to

9 make sure that it was -- that wall is-- is properly
10 filled.
11 MR. DEPINTO: And testimony tonight was
12 that they will befilling in the basement.
13 MS. PRICE: -- not the whole basement.
14 MR. AIELLO: We'refillinginthe
15 basement under the building that's going to be
16 removed. Theremainder under the Trader Joe's store
17 will remain, but it's storage.

o ~NO O WNPE

18 MR. DEPINTO: Yes, that | understand.
19 MR. AIELLO: Yeah.
20 MR. DEPINTO: And Chief -- Mr. Gruber

21 hasaquestion, I'm sorry.

22 MR. GRUBER: Y ou had mentioned earlier,
23 | think in conversation with me, about the hot box.

24 MR. GIBBONS: Well, what happensis --
25 isbecause Veoliawill not let you put in meter pits
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anymore, so it will have to be ahot box. And the --
the water mains are -- normally it's an eight-inch
water main with -- with Veolia-approved hydrants or --
or meet their -- their spec, so.

MR. GRUBER: And ahot box would pick
up basically another parking space? It's about the
size of parking space; right?

MR. GIBBONS: Yeah, you're going to --

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN B
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Because the other thing is you're going
to have to go through al your water -- | believe all
of your sprinkler systems and everything are going to
have to go through that hot box. So most buildings,
most complexes in town now, it -- it's a giant hot box
15 because you have to have your domestic water, your --
16 your fire protection water, and then your -- your
17 hydrant water. We do not want yard hydrants on the
18 same water main as domestic water or -- or the
19 sprinkler system -- fire sprinkler system due to the
20 fact that if afiretruck hitsthat hydrant, you're
21 stealing water from the sprinkler system. So you want
22 the sprinkler system to do its job and hopefully put
23 thefire out or contain the fire before we have to do
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1 have your planner. We're obviously not going to be
2 ableto hear both of them tonight.
3 MS. PRICE: Right.
4 MR. DEPINTO: With respect to your
5 traffic engineer, on direct, how long do you think
6 it'sgoing to go?

7 MS. PRICE: Probably just ten or
8 fifteen.
9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. | think because

10 members of the public are here and they do have a
11 strong interest in hearing the traffic, I'm going to

12 ask the board membersif they'd be willing to stay to
13 about 11:30, stay about a half hour and let's hear the
14 traffic testimony.

15 Unfortunately, we're going to have to

16 carry the hearing to January 6th. And | understand
17 that your planner has acommitment, and she'll be
18 landing a helicopter or something on the roof to get
19 her here from the airport.

20 MS. PRICE: Right. Right. Should we

21 come back that day?

22 MR. DEPINTO: Well, why don't -- why
23 don't you bring forth your traffic engineer and --

24 anything else. 24 MS. PRICE: Okay.
25 MR. GRUBER: So they'll have to add 25 MR. DEPINTO: And, sir, but before you
Page 159 Page 161
1 that on the property sideto figure out -- 1 areswornin, you've been here all evening, you heard
2 MR. AIELLO: Yeah. And looking at the 2 the comments made by members of the public aswell as
3 plan, there appears to be some opportunity to do that 3 board members. | only ask that you try to focus on
4 just south of the reconstructed driveway at Chestnut 4 the concerns that you heard during the hearing.
5 Ridge Road. There's some green space there that maybe 5 MR. PETRORO: Sure, absolutely.
6 we could do it without losing the parking space. But 6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.
7 well -- well study that closer with -- 7 WHEREUPON,
8 MR. GIBBONS: 'Cause right now, The -- 8 MARC PETRORO,
9 The Fresh -- Fresh Market -- | always get them mixed 9 called asawitness and having been first duly sworn

10 up -- but The Fresh Market is-- is sprinkled 'cause
11 that's-- | believe, just the basement, because that's
12 where the -- the antique mall used to be. And then
13 the gym on the other end is sprinkled; that used to be
14 Grand Union. And I'm assuming that the new building
15 isgoing to be sprinkled too. So, you know, that's

16 all going to be -- and whether they could do it with
17 one hot box, or it might even need multiple hot boxes
18 'cause of the location where everything is, so.

19 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Thank you, Chief.
20 Thank you for coming out.

21 MR. GRUBER: Thank you.
22 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. We have closed to
23 the public.

24 It's now five after eleven. You have
25 two other witnesses; you have your traffic and you

10 to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but

11 the truth, was examined and testified as follows:

12 MR. REGAN: Can you give usyour full
13 name and spell your last name?

14 MR. PETRORO: Marc Petroro; last name
15 isP-E-T-R-O-R-O.

16 MR. REGAN: | couldn't -- couldn't hear
17 you.

18 MR. PETRORO: Sorry. Marc Petroro;
19 last name P-E-T-R-O-R-O.

20 MR. REGAN: And | still didn't --

21 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS:. P-E-T-R-O-R-O.
22 MR. PETRORO: P-E-T-R-O-R-O --it's
23 okay.

24 MS. PRICE: It'slate.

25 Marc, can you give the board and the
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members of the public your education and your
professional background?

MR. PETRORO: Sure.

| have a bachelor's of sciencein
engineering from the University of Delaware. I'm a
licensed professional engineer in New Jersey as well
as New Y ork and Connecticut. 1'm aso alicensed
professional traffic operations engineer. Practiced
civil engineering for 20 years including various
different land uses; retail shopping center,
residential, other commercial developments.

MS. PRICE: And you prepared the
traffic report that has been submitted in connection
with this application; correct?

MR. DEPINTO: Correct, dated November
18, 2025.

MR. REGAN: Have you previously been
qualified as atraffic engineer before any land use
board in New Jersey?

MR. PETRORO: In New Jersey, | have not
publicly spoken about -- I've routinely provided
testimony to multiple municipalitiesin New York and
Connecticut. 1've attended and assisted presentations
in Kinnelon, Howell, New Jersey -- West Windsor and
Parsippany.

Page 164
1 thisapplication, you took various steps as atraffic
2 engineer to analyze the proposed modifications to the
3 dite plan; correct?
4 MR. PETRORO: Correct.
5 MS. PRICE: And in preparing for
6 tonight's testimony, you reviewed the initial reports
7 that were issued by the Borough Planner and the Board
8 Engineer; correct?
9 MR. PETRORO: Correct.

MS. PRICE: Okay. Just take usthrough
the steps that you performed and how you analyzed
onsite parking, onsite driveway usage, and anything
else relevant that comes under your umbrella.

MR. PETRORO: Sure. So asfar asthe
traffic study is concerned, we followed the typical
standard study methodologies. So we actually started
with a base condition where we did counts and we
studied four intersections. We studied Woodmont Drive
and the site driveway, Chestnut Ridge Road and
Woodmont Drive, that signalized intersection, as well
as the two intersections of the site driveways on
Chestnut Ridge. So we called them "Driveway B" and
"Site Driveway C" in our traffic study.

24 We counted those intersections on a
25 weekday in the morning aswell asin the afternoon,
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MR. REGAN: And you were accepted by
the boards?

MR. PETRORO: | did not provide
testimony to those boards specifically. | assisted
and attended those meetings -- yes. But | routinely
provide testimony to various municipalitiesin New
York and Connecticut. Town of Poughkeepsie, I'm their
traffic consultant for their planning board.

MR. REGAN: But you'realso licensed in
New Jersey; correct?

MR. PETRORO: Correct.

MR. REGAN: Then | guess he can be
accepted.

MR. DEPINTO: Chair will accept the
recommendation of Counsel.

MR. PETRORO: Thank you.

MS. PRICE: And you've been here all
night, so you've heard the concerns of both members of
the board as well as members of the public; correct?

MR. PETRORO: Correct.

MS. PRICE: And you've heard Rob's
testimony?

MR. PETRORO: Correct. | heard all
previous testimony and prior comments from the public.

MS. PRICE: Okay. In connection with
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1 and then we also counted on a Saturday aswell. Sowe
2 analyzed and looked at three different count periods,
3 and we found the peak hours based on those counts.
4 And those counts that we did included turning
5 movements, straight movements, right turn movements
6 for vehicles, and they also considered and counted the
7 pedestrian movements as well as heavy vehicles. And
8 heavy vehicles are anything with six tires or more
9 touching the roadway.
10 These counts were conducted when
11 schoolswere in session and when wesather conditions
12 wereclear and dry. | know there were comments
13 previously that was mentioned by the -- the Borough's
14 consultant that we just wanted to specify that.
15 That's mentioned in the comment response that we had
16 provided. | forget what exhibit it is, but it wasin
17 that exhibit in our comment responses.
18 So based on those counts, we looked at
19 the peak hours that occurred during those times and
20 looked at those volumes during those peak hours. We
21 utilized the weekday AM hour, the weekday PM hour, and
22 the Saturday midday hour; those are the three peak
23 hoursthat we analyzed.
24 Using those, we then projected out
25 volumesto the future condition for the design year
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1 that we -- we considered for the study. So we
2 projected to ano-build condition, which is -- no-
3 build isthe future condition but without the proposed
development. And then we did the build condition,

5 which isthe same year, just it incorporates the

6 traffic bonds associated with the proposed

7 development; we call that the "build condition."

8 So under the no-build condition, we

9 consider in general growth, which istypical of any
10 traffic study; you consider general growth volumes on
11 theroadways. So that's a certain percentage that we
12 applied based on New Jersey DOT data, which was a
13 percentage per year that we increased the volumes.
14 We did have discussions through Gail's
15 office that there was no other significant
16 developments that we needed to consider, so those were
17 not considered in the study. So when you take the
18 county peak hour volumes and increase them by the
19 general growth, we got the resulting no-build
20 conditions, and those are the volumes in the future
21 without the proposed development.
22 And then, after that, we then projected
23 to the build conditions, which incorporates the
24 proposed development. So we took -- and again, what
25 was mentioned in prior testimony is we are closing one

i
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1 off -- getting agallon of milk and then going back on
2 your way; that'sapass-by trip. You're not new to
3 thearea, you're -- you're currently there, so you're
4 just really seeing that -- the driveway as aturn and
5 then continuing on your way, so it's not new tripsto
6 thearearoad network.
7 So we considered a pass-by percentage
8 for the new uses. Inthe AMR, we did not take the
9 credit 'cause ITE data did not provide data for that.
10 But wedid it based on ITE data; we considered pass-by
11 percentagesin PM and the Saturday hours, which was
12 roughly around 30 to 40 percent was pass-by generation
13 for thistype of shopping center based on Institute of
14 Transportation Engineers data.
15 The resulting primary volumes would be
16 new tripsto the road, which we calculated in our
17 study. The net additional volumes would be a
18 reduction in AM by one trip, and the PM saw a41-trip
19 increase in volumes, and Saturday hour showed 137
20 additional trips based on the ITE data.
21 | would like to state that the study
22 does not take into account any kind of volumes that
23 would beinterna to the site. Thiswould be
24 expected, say, if you go to the gym and then you go
25 visit the restaurants or anything like that. That
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of the driveways on Chestnut Ridge Road. So one of
the first things we did in the build condition iswe
took the volumes that we counted at that driveway and

4 relocated to the other driveway so that they're
5 processed through the proposed condition of just
6 having asingular driveway on Chestnut Ridge Road.
7 Second, what we did under build
8 conditionsiswe looked at what the traffic
9 projections would be for the proposed development
10 utilizing the industry standard publication of the
11 ITE -- or Ingtitute of Transportation Engineers --
12 Trip Generation Manual. We found out and determined
13 what the traffic would project for the proposed use --
14 the proposed grocer as well as the proposed restaurant
15 tenants as well on the pad sites.
16 And as part of that, as part of those
17 new projections that were incorporating the
18 development, we also considered a pass-by rate. So a
19 pass-by isa-- not anew trip to the roadway or
20 the -- the traffic roadway, but a pass-by tripisa
21 typical car that travels past the site typically, but
22 when the development's devel oped, they'll stop in, get
23 something, and then go proceeding on their way.
24 Theway | typicaly try to say itis
25 you're coming home from work, getting -- dropping

w N -
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1 would beinternal credit, so you wouldn't actually see
2 that on the arearoadways. But to provide a
3 conservative analysis, we did not incorporate that in
4 here. So you would expect that probably with this
5 type of center and these types of uses of -- an
6 internal credit; people going to the grocer, going to
7 therestaurant or vice -- or going to the -- the gym
8 and then going to the grocer, same thing. But we did
9 not take that into account to provide a conservative
10 analysisin our study.
11 What we found in the resultsin our
12 analysisisthat there's similar levels of services
13 experienced under build conditions to no-build
14 conditions. Again, just to go back to what |
15 mentioned before, build conditionsis the future
16 condition with the development and no-build isthe
17 future without the development.
18 So there's the levels of service, which
19 again are -- are letter grades based on delay
20 experienced by vehicles; they go from A to F. Those
21 levels of services are similar in both future
22 conditions at all four studied intersections that we
23 analyzed there.
24 And | know there was a -- a comment
25 from the Bureau Consultant on the queuing at the --
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the proposed two exit lane driveway in Chestnut Ridge.
So in our study, there was printoutsin our anaysis
that showed the queue lane would be about 55 feet for
the left turn lane exiting onto Chestnut Ridge, which
would be fully accommodated within the striped | eft
turn lane that we show on our -- our layout plan.

And as was mentioned, we have engaged
conversations with Bergen County as far as working on
Chestnut Ridge. So that dialogue is ongoing because
they will need to review it since they have
jurisdiction on Chestnut Ridge Road.

That's the summary of the traffic
study. | know there was some discussions of Woodmont
Driveway -- in intersection with the site driveway.

And just so -- just to -- to address some concerns
over there, the operations at that intersection, our
level of service was B or better, which is very good
from a-- adelay standpoint.

| know that there was, you know,
mention of -- of the closure of the driveway
locations. Queuing is-- isan impact on that as far
as how we looked at which driveway should be closed in
the proposed condition and why the -- the central
driveway on Chestnut Ridge was closed versus some
other configurations. Was there anything else that |
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1 volume and arecognition of the volume that Trader
2 Joe'sbrings. Thisreport seemsto rely on standard
3 data; how are we factoring -- how isthe traffic
4 report factoring in anticipated volume?
5 MR. PETRORO: So thetraffic
6 projections were based on Institute of Transportation
7 Engineers Trip Generation Manual. For the Trader
8 Joe's specifically, the supermarket land use was
9 utilized for that, and that is the land use that we've
10 done and utilized for other Trader Joe's that we've
11 doneinthearea. We've done othersin Connecticut as
12 well asin New Y ork where we use those same land use
13 datapointsin our previous traffic studies for those
14 other ones. And those were reviewed and accepted as
15 well as part of that approva process for those
16 particular locations.
17 But again, this data that the Institute
18 of Transportation provides are based on surveys that
19 aredone at similar facilities. Soit'snot -- you
20 know, just a-- itisactually based on real data,
21 essentidly.
22 MS. ZEFF: Thank you. Question related
23 to the north exit, have you seen or factored in any
24 study regarding the volume of accidents that have
25 taken place there, or was that incorporated into your
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1 missed?
2 MS. PRICE: | think that's-- | think
3 that's--
4 MR. REGAN: Do you want to have this
5 report marked?
6 MS. PRICE: It was part of --
7 MR. PETRORO: It was part of the --
8 MS. PRICE: Al
9 MR. REGAN: A1? Okay.

10 MR. PETRORO: Correct.
11 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Intheinterest of
12 time, before | open it up to board members for

13 questions, I'm going to open to the public. So Chair
14 will entertain a motion to open the meeting to the

15 public.

16 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: So moved.
17 MR. DEPINTO: -- seconded Frank.
18 All in favor?

19 MULTIPLE SPEAKERS: Aye.

20 MR. DEPINTO: Ask questions of the
21 traffic expert and the testimony he gave.

22 MS. ZEFF: Hi, Alyssa Zeff, 40

23 Woodcrest Drive; thank you all for being here so long.
24 A couple of questions. We've heard from almost

25 everyone about anticipated Trader Joe's-specific
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1 report?

2 MR. PETRORO: Accidents were not

3 specifically reviewed or requested. That would be

4 something that Bergen County would probably be looking

5 into as part of the -- our application with them since

6 they havejurisdiction on Chestnut Ridge Road.

7 MS. GREEN: Okay. My last question is

8 about the Woodmont exit. What is the anticipated

9 volumein terms of people who are going to come out
10 and go left based on the data, and how many cars can
11 queue waiting for that light?
12 MR. PETRORO: The amount to queue --
13 I'd have to actually get back to you on that number.
14 Basically what happens -- what happens right now is
15 most of the traffic is coming up Chestnut Ridge, but
16 thereis projected traffic going up Woodmont as well.
17 Most of the traffic that is going
18 through that intersection goesin and out of our
19 shopping center. Obviously thereistraffic that
20 goes-- continues on Woodmont to the residents as
21 well, but what happened many times based on the signal
22 time information we got from Bergen County for the
23 signal at Woodmont and Chestnut Ridge is that there's,
24 you know, green time that may be provided additionally
25 to that approach to provide it better -- provide more
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time to allow, you know, alesser delay. Right now,
there's no changein level of service from existing to
no-build to build, it'salevel of service D under al
study peak hours.
Additional time could be given, but

that'd be something that Bergen County would need to
look at because it would -- it would need to consider
the progression of vehicles along their corridor,

9 Chestnut Ridge Road, to seeif they could even
10 accommodeate that.
11 MS. ZEFF: | just want to make sure
12 we'retalking about the same thing. 1'm talking about
13 people coming out to here.
14 MR. PETRORO: It's--it's-- coming
15 out isnot really much the problem. It's more of
16 the-- the queuing that's along Woodmont from the
17 signd, | think is-- isthe concern.
18 MS. ZEFF: Yeah.
19 MR. PETRORO: Andit's--it'stied to
20 thetiming of that signal because the time that's
21 allowed there compared to the rest of the cycle and
22 the other phases, it issmaller, obviously. There--
23 there'saleading arrow coming out of the KPMG
24 driveway, so additional green time could be given
25 because Chestnut Ridge Road is operating at alevel of

o ~NO O WNBE
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1 get?
2 MR. PETRORO: So the Trader Joe'sisa
3 lesser square footage and | don't know specifically

4 because the -- we only counted the driveways, we

5 didn't count who was going into which specific tenant.

6 Sol don't know specifically for the site how much

7 Fresh Market is getting by themselves.

8 But when you look at the levels of

9 service at the studied intersection -- and the levels
10 of services are arange of delays. They're, you know,
11 ten, fifteen-second increments depending on the
12 scenario, whether it'ssignal or unsignalized. But
13 there's no significant degradationsin levels of
14 service at the studied intersections, is -- is what
15 is-- whether you look at future without the
16 development or future with the development.
17 MS. PORTNOY: And isthat because all
18 grocery stores are considered the same class? Isthat
19 because the grocery stores are considered comparable
20 just because the traffic study categorizesthem asa
21 grocery store?
22 MR. PETRORO: These -- these were --
23 these uses are both considered supermarket, and
24 that's, you know, their comparability as far as that.
25 But operationally the intersections are similar in no-
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1 service A under al conditions. But that was
2 something -- that would be something the County would
3 need to consider in their -- of timing.
4 MS. ZEFF: Okay. Thank you.
5 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you.
6 Okay. Anyone else have aquestion on
7 traffic?
8 Finaly.

9 MS. PORTNOY: Hi, it'sme again,
10 Deborah Portnoy, 99 Woodcrest Drive. | just -- think
11 | -- I don't -- | don't think I'm understanding, so
12 I'msorry if thisis going to sound like asilly
13 question. But are you saying that the no-build volume
14 and the build volume traffic is exactly the same for
15 the complex?
16 MR. PETRORO: So the -- the traffic I'm
17 not saying is the same, but the -- the operations at
18 the studied intersections are similar. The levels of
19 services, most of them are staying the same in future
20 with or without the devel opment.
21 MS. PORTNOY: Okay, so-- so| guess|
22 am-- I'm sorry, like, I'm just -- | just want to make
23 sure. So, like, you're saying that the amount of
24 traffic that Fresh Market currently getsis comparable
25 to the amount of traffic that Trader Joe'sis going to
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build and build conditions. The volumes, yes, are
higher because we have the restaurant uses that's not
there and such like that. So the volumes are but
processing through the intersectionsis similar.

MS. PORTNOY: Okay. Sothen | guess my
next questions are -- | understand that they're all
using the same, you know, grocery store categorization
for the traffic study purposes, and so you're using

9 thesamedata. Just, like, from areal world
10 perspective, | think, you know, we've all been to
11 different Trader Joe'sin thearea. We know that they
12 get alot more traffic volume than, like, a Fresh
13 Market doesin thislocation. My concernis-- was
14 thetraffic study used in order to figure out how many
15 parking spaces are needed in the complex or is there
16 some other data point that's being used to determine
17 the number of parking spacesthat are needed in the
18 complex?
19 MR. PETRORO: All right. So asfar as
20 parking, we -- not traffic, parking. So froma
21 parking standpoint we're using industry publications
22 for the -- what's -- you know, looking at -- we're
23 using industry standard data to determine what the
24 projected demand would be for thistype of use. And
25 that's where we looked at the ratios of square footage
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1 to parking spaces. And based on what the industry
2 usually recommends -- is those 4.5 spaces per thousand
3 square feet of building square footage for thistype
4 of site. And under post conditions we're providing
5 5.36 spaces per thousand, so it's greater than what
6 theindustry recommends for this type of location.
7 MS. PORTNOQOY: Okay. And theninthe
8 traffic studiesthat you guys have done for the Trader
9 Joe'sin Connecticut and the other ones that you had
10 mentioned, have you gone back to visit the Trader
11 Joe's and seen, like, what their parking lots ook
12 like after they've been built?
13 MR. PETRORO: | have not personally
14 been there; | believe they're not closer to where | go
15 to. But | have not heard anything significant from
16 the ownersasfar asissues.
17 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. And then | guess
18 just sort of going aong the sameline, I'm -- I'm
19 still confused at how we go from 527 parking spots
20 with the current traffic patterns and volume of
21 traffic that's going to the traffic -- to this
22 development down to 409 parking spaces when we're
23 talking about adding in a Trader Joe's, whichisa
24 much more heavily-trafficked grocery store than the
25 onein place, and then three additional restaurants.
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about -- okay, so the other concept that -- that |
would like to just take on, | think Rob -- Mr. Aidllo
mentioned in his testimony was the use of shared
parking as a concept there. So different tenants have
different times that they pesk asfar as parking
demand. So not everyone peaks all at the sametime as
far as when, you know, the grocery peaks versus the
gym or, you know, restaurants. So you're not going to
be having a-- a peak that concurs across the whole
site for everyone, essentialy. Soit's not like it
would be full at onetime, essentialy, likeit's --

MS. PORTNOQY: So what's the anticipated
peak hours of the restaurants and Trader Joe's versus
Drop Fitness and the other stores that are already in
place? Did you guys do astudy on that?

MR. DEPINTO: | can -- we didn't look
at them specifically, but to speak to the generalities
of them, basically the restaurants, you might have
a-- alunchtime hour, depends on the type of
restaurant, or you might have an evening hour rush --
you know, parking demand that's higher, basically, for
the restaurant uses. Whereas agym, you might have
more of aweekend kind of partnering on that -- that
versus aweekday.

MS. PORTNOQOY: Okay, so you -- so you're
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| guess I'm just not understanding how
we're cutting over 100 parking spots from the complex
and expecting that we're not going to have any issues
with overflow or parking along Woodmont.

Also, again, what I'm not getting --
and I'm sorry if thisisredundant, but, like, Fresh
Market has maybe -- | don't know exactly how many
employees, but I'm in there quite frequently -- maybe,
like, ten employees at atime, whereas a Trader Jo€'s
might have, like, 25 employees at atime. So we're
not only reducing the parking lot spaces for the
additional line of traffic -- of residents who will be
using these stores, but we're a so reducing the
parking spots for a grocery store that's going to have
significantly more employees and staff using the
parking lot. Sol just -- it's not making sense to me
and maybe you can explain that better.

MR. PETRORO: So the parking ratios
that | mentioned before that we talked about from the
publication that's standard, that considers all
parking demand for the whole use; employees, visitors,
al -- all the parking requirements, all the parking
associated with that. So that considers everyone,
employees and such.
25 The other thing that you mentioned was
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not familiar with, like -- | guess with Drop Fitness,
it's very busy in the morning rush hour and in the
evening rush hour aswell. Those are kind of the peak
times; | would say, like, anywhere from, like, 7:00
am. to 9:30 and then again from, like, 5:00 p.m. to
7:00 p.m., those are peak times for Drop Fitness. Are
those not peak times for the grocery store as well?

And I'm just asking these questions
becauseit -- | feel like we keep saying we're using
industry standard data here, but Fresh Market is not
the same as Trader Joe's, and they both, in terms of
industry standards, would be considered very
comparable. But in reality and what our community is
going to experience, | just don't see how you can say
honestly that they're comparable.

MR. AIELLO: -- Rob Aidlo. With
regard to parking, | want to make very clear, we're
not looking only at the industry standard minimum.
We're 20 percent beyond the minimum standard of 4.5 at
5.3. Sothereisafactor of safety built in; we're
not saying we're coming in at 4.5 and that's why it's
okay. We're coming in because we're saying we exceed
4.5 by 20 percent for the parking. So that's our
rationale for the parking.

And yes, the gyms are -- obviously do

46 (Pages 178 - 181)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



Page 182
1 function in the morning; people go therein the
2 morning, people go therein the evening. But the
3 Trader Joe'sis not busiest on the weekday during the
4 morning at five o'clock in the morning or six o'clock
5 in the morning before people go to work, so there's
6 definitely synergies between the two uses.
7 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. And then | guess
8 if you're -- | seethat you're, you know, going over
9 and above, | guess, what the industry standard
10 requirements are, but you're still asking the town of
11 Montvale for avariance to have less parking than the
12 Town thinks you need -- or the Town standard
13 requirements. So --

14 MR. AIELLO: I'm sorry, | didn't mean
15 to -- yeah.
16 MS. PORTNQY: Oh -- no, so I'mjust

17 wondering where's -- | guess, why do you feel that you
18 don't need as much parking as the Town thinks you

19 need?

20 MR. AIELLO: So when wework on

21 shopping centers throughout the Tri-State area,

22 routinely we're dealing with zoning ordinances that

23 considered park requirements from prior times. And
24 more and more over the last ten, fifteen years, we've
25 seen municipalities modifying their zoning ordinance
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1 are asking very intelligent questions, and we do

2 appreciate that and we are respectful of that, but we

3 can't share our opinion at this point.

4 MS. PORTNOQOY: Thank you. Okay,

5 understood. Thank you guys very much for your time.

6 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.

7 MR. KOELLING: Can| just take apoint

8 of clarification, just saying -- referenced the Town

9 Council. Thisisthe Planning Board, which the -- if
10 you had that question, that's -- that's fine --

11 MR. DEPINTO: The Town Council --
12 MR. KOELLING: -- isthe Town Council.
13 MR. DEPINTO: The Town Council arethe

14 elected officias, the mayor and council members. The
15 Planning Board is a board; we are not elected, we are
16 appointed by the mayor to serve on this committee.

17 That'sthedistinction.

18 MS. GREEN: Okay. Thank you. |
19 appreciateit.
20 MR. BERNSTEIN: Peter Bernstein, I'm a

21 Montvaleresident, 308 -- my half -- it'slate; | was
22 going to ask alot of questions, I'm just going to ask
23 youtwo. First oneis have you discussed with Bergen
24 County the amount of traffic that transferred from

25 Summit Avenue to the Bristol down -- turnoff -- and

Page 183
to reduce the parking criteriato be morein the
neighborhood of 4.5 per 1,000 for auselikethis.

So when we come into situations where

4 we have a zoning code that doesn't necessarily

5 consider some of these more recent studies and

6 anayses, we comein, we ask for avariance, and we

7 usetheindustry standard as ajustification.

8 MS. PORTNOY: Okay.

9 Then | guess my next question is for
10 the Montvale Town Council. Do you guysfeel like this
11 isacomplex that's not going -- that's going to need
12 lessthan Montval€'s standard of parking?
13 MR. DEPINTO: We're not ableto give
14 you an opinion until such time as we finish the
15 hearing.
16 MS. PORTNOY: Okay. Okay.
17 MR. DEPINTO: There are other experts
18 that we have to hear from; we have to hear from the
19 municipal expertsaswell. So there's no one sitting
20 herethat will give you their opinion at this point.
21 MS. PORTNOY: Understood. No, thank
22 you for your time. I'm just trying to understand and
23 it'salot of itemsthat I'm not familiar with.
24 And --
25 MR. DEPINTO: Yeah, thereis-- and you

w N -
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1 thereason | ask that is because Tice's Corner in
2 Woodcliff Lake, that -- all of us are familiar with
3 it, thereis no lefthand turn from a driveway in that
shopping center onto -- to be able to go northbound on
5 Chestnut Ridge Road. Why isthat? Why isthat? The
6 correct answer is because we don't want to have
7 accidents; we don't want peopleto get killed. That's
8
9

i

why.
What you're proposing here, it's

10 okay -- it would've been okay to keep this one here so
11 that you can make arighthand turn; it's not as
12 dangerous. Another issueisdid you -- did you ask
13 the Montvale Police Department to tell you what the
14 average speed is from Grand Avenue through the traffic
15 light by St. Joe's? It's what -- the posted speed is
16 40; no one does 40. And it'sadownhill slope toward
17 this shopping.
18 So you're talking about people driving
19 at hazardous speeds with people looking to see, "Oh,
20 can | makethat lefthand turn?' So the problem
21 that -- that we have with al thisis -- and you can
22 correct meif I'mwrong -- if it's okay -- both lights
23 -- Tice's -- shopping area -- you can't -- you can
24 egressit to make lefthand turns onto -- to go north
25 on Chestnut Ridge road out there in two places, one

47 (Pages 182 - 185)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



Page 186
1 from -- from the side and one from where the -- is.

2 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Tice and County
3 Road.

4 MR. BERNSTEIN: Yeah.

5 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: -- the traffic

6 light.

7 MR. BERNSTEIN: Well, the only place to

8 make aleft hand turn is here; that's it --

9 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. And-- and I'm

10 sorry tointerrupt you, but we're still at the

11 questioning point.

12 MR. BERNSTEIN: Right, so -- so -- but
13 the question is --

14 MR. DEPINTO: We don't need statements,
15 we need questions.

16 MR. BERNSTEIN: Right. Okay. So-- so
17 inyour professional opinion, if -- if it's not good

18 for the goose, why isit good for the gander?

19 MS. PRICE: I'm -- | don't know what

20 the-- what question that is. There's no goose and

21 there's no gander.

22 MR. DEPINTO: -- rephrase your

23 question.

24 MR. BERNSTEIN: Okay. The-- the --
25 no, but the -- the question is, Bergen County can
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1 the midst of the review.
MR. BERNSTEIN: Right. Inthat case,
Mr. Chairman --

MR. DEPINTO: It'saprocess. It'sa
process, and that process takestime. | wish that we
could go down to the County or call the County and ask
aquestion and get an immediate answer and have that
answer in hand when an applicant appears before us --
because that happened accidentally --

MR. BERNSTEIN: -- these communicated
back to the residents in the area who are going to be
impacted?

MR. DEPINTO: Beg your pardon?

14 MR. BERNSTEIN: How will that be
15 communicated back to the --
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16 MR. DEPINTO: At apublic hearing on

17 July 5th.

18 MR. BERNSTEIN: Okay, thank you.

19 MR. DEPINTO: Okay.

20 Yes, sir?

21 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Why was Saturday the

22 day selected as a representative weekend peak, and was
23 any analysis done of late morning or early afternoon

24 peak conditions, which are commonly the busiest

25 periodsfor Trader Joe's?

Page 187

probably tell you how much -- hopefully they've done a
traffic study about traffic in general in thisareaon
Chestnut Ridge Road, which when Tice was devel oped,
necessitated them making sure that there was no
lefthand turn coming out on the driveway from that
parking area onto Chestnut Ridge Road. What we have
here --

MR. DEPINTO: Let me-- I'm going to
interrupt you one second. The applicant is required
in connection with making an application for amended
site line approval to take various steps. One of the
stepsin this particular case is to communicate with
Bergen County Traffic Department and Engineer's
office. They'rein the process of doing that.

© 00O ~NOO OB~ WN PP
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15 Isthat correct?

16 MS. PRICE: That's correct.

17 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. And haveyou

18 received final reports from them with respect to any

=
(o]

recommendations as to turning lanes, changing of
signal timing, or anything at all other than they

N
o

21 received your application?
22 MS. PRICE: No, other than Eric Timsak
23 said, "I know | have reviewed these driveways on prior

24 occasions," so -- and he asked me to resend him the
25 plans. That's exactly what happened. Sowearein
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1 MR. PETRORO: We looked and we
2 counted --
3 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: | think it died.
4 MS. PRICE: Itdied. Here, use -- oh.
5 MR. DEPINTO: It heard my announcement.
6 MS. PRICE: | know. Oh, there you go.

7 MR. PETRORO: The-- the -- isthat

8 dtill on -- the counts that | mentioned that we

9 conducted, we counted on a weekday from seven in the
10 morning to nine -- | believe -- sorry, 6:30 am. to
11 9:30 am., and then we also counted from 3:30 p.m. to
12 6:30 p.m. on aweekday. On Saturday, we counted from
13 11:30 am. to 2:30 p.m.
14 Within those allotment periods, we
15 defined our pesk hour and we analyzed that specific
16 peak hour during those -- weekday AM, weekday PM, and
17 Saturday midday. Typically, those align with rush
18 hour traffic volumes of the roadway, and typically,
19 that's when retail establishments like the shopping
20 center here would have peak generations.
21 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Can you explain how
22 the 30-40 pass-by rate was selected and whether a
23 sengitivity analysis was performed using alower pass-
24 by assumption?
25 MR. PETRORO: The pass-by rates | had
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1 mentioned are based on Institute of Transportation 1 shoulder, and in Westwood roll up on the street.
2 Engineersdata. That datais being provided based on 2 And if you have people coming in and
3 red studies that have been conducted at similar sites 3 out based on also the St. Joe's, the Goddard School
4 likethis. And that's why we used those -- those 4 opening, and unfortunately for our area, alot of
5 rates based on real data that was conducted. So 5 development along Chestnut Ridge, right, both imminent
6 there'sno weekday AM hour, so no credit was taken for 6 and oneslong-term, sort of what are the plans for
7 that time period. 7 that? Because there could be 20 cars waiting to get
8 MONTVALE PUBLIC: With only 8 inon either way. And if you notice -- for the
9 approximately 55 feet of projected queuing at the 9 traffic patterns, if you ever saw it, that when you
10 Chestnut Ridge exit, what contingency exists if queues 10 come down south on Chestnut Ridge Road in that area,
11 exceed projections during peak conditions? 11 it -- aMontvale police officer waits on the border
12 MR. PETRORO: The -- the 55-foot length 12 between Montvale and Woodcliff Lake to get people
13 of queue would be for the left turn lane that's shown 13 speeding. And if you have people queuing and not
14 on Chestnut Ridge. That's -- that's only for that 14 noticing, there could be more accidents getting into
15 particular one; it'slessfor the right turn 15 the entrance and exit -- the north one.
16 movements. And that's the 95th percentile queue, so 16 MR. DEPINTO: And -- and again,
17 it'santicipated to only occur 5 percent of the time 17 Councilwoman?
18 asfar asthat queue length. Therest of thetime it 18 MS. MARGOLIS: Yes, sorry.
19 would not be. 19 MR. DEPINTO: Asyou are aware,
20 But, you know, as a-- if queues appear 20 Chestnut Ridge Road is a county road.
21 to belonger than that, potentially they might find 21 MS. MARGOLIS: Correct. Yes, | know.
22 other waysto -- 22 MR. DEPINTO: They have complete
23 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Sothat'sonly 23 jurisdiction over it.
24 contingency? 24 MS. MARGOLIS: So that would be a
25 MR. DEPINTO: Weéll, intypical --in -- 25 question to include in your, | guess, questions to the
Page 191 Page 193
1 when you have a sitelike this, you typically like to 1 County?
2 have at least two access locations, one basically for 2 MR. DEPINTO: Exactly.
3 emergency purposes too. 3 MS. MARGOLIS: That'sfine. Yeah.
4 MONTVALE PUBLIC: Thank you. 4 MR. DEPINTO: And we are waiting on
5 MR. DEPINTO: Thank you. 5 that report. Fortunately, Montvale has a very good
6 Okay. | guesswe could take one more. 6 relationship with Eric Timsak, who has been involved
7 Yes, kindly step forward. 7 with this community for many years. Wefollow his
8 MS. MARGOLIS: Hi, thank you. 8 recommendations very closely, we work with him; we
9 MR. DEPINTO: You. Thiswill bethe 9 have not heard back from the County yet with respect
10 last one for the evening. 10 tothisapplication. But trust me, many of us have
11 MS. MARGOLIS: Hi, everyone. Jen 11 sat here for many, many years.
12 Margolis from Woodcliff Lake. For full disclosure, 12 MS. MARGOLIS: Right. Okay.
13 I'm acouncilwoman, but just -- | know Dieter, so 13 MR. DEPINTO: And we -- we take these
14 helll tell everyone anyway. 14 applications very, very seriously. Public safety is
15 But | just wanted to say -- and | know, 15 our greatest concern and that's what we're looking
16 it'll be part-question -- but | just -- I'm hoping as 16 for, and it's yet to be proven to us that they have
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acouncil member that you take into account our
residents concerns and confusion and just general
understanding of where they're coming from, from their
neighborhood behind it.

But my question is more concerned about
gueuing along Chestnut Ridge Road and what is planned
for that when -- if you ever go to the Trader Joe'son
Route 17 or even the one in Westwood, the line's
sometimes on the street, both on Route 17 and the

17 met al of the criteria. But that's the way of public
18 --

19 MS. MARGOLIS: Right. Of course.

20 MR. DEPINTO: Have you served on the
21 Planning Board of Woodcliff Lake?

22 MS. MARGOLIS: | have not.

23 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. I'll putinaword
24 to haveyou --

25 MS. MARGOLIS: Pleasedon't -- don't
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1 suggest | serveonit for the --
2 MR. DEPINTO: Any other questions?
3 MS. MARGOLIS: Well, no. Okay. | was
4 just waiting for the end.
5 MR. AIELLO: Just aquick follow-up.
So the design, if | understand your comment -- your
last comment correctly, there's concern about whether
or not cars will back up out into Chestnut Ridge --

MS. MARGOLIS: And both -- and both
going south to north aswell; right? Both at the
light or getting into the left turn onto -- to the
parking lot.

MR. AIELLO: Sointhisqueuing area

© 00N O
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here?
MS. MARGOLIS: Yes, both -- both ways.
It could queue back up past where you thought it was.
MR. AIELLO: Sure. Okay. Sowe have
information in the traffic analysis relating to that
we will certainly provide -- clarify, I'll pull that
out.
But just in general, the way that this
22 driveway was determined was to deal with exactly this
23 issue. We wanted to make sure that all entering
24 traffic from Chestnut Ridge Road coming from the north
25 or through the south comes in unimpeded; that you have
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MR. AIELLO: Wereally used the front
of the -- the front as much as we could in terms of
providing parking in addition to the circulation
that -- proposing.

MS. MARGOLIS: And -- and obvioudly,
Woodcliff Lakeis happy that you're not asking for a
change in the setback in the -- on the west side of
it. But the lights that you're suggesting, those will
be facing towards the building as opposed to away from
our neighborhood?

MR. AIELLO: Correct. Theselightsare
on the perimeter --

MS. MARGOLIS: And facing down?

MS. PRICE: Yes.

MR. AIELLO: Facing down, throwing the
light towards the building, and will also have shields
to shield the source. It'sa-- it isacover that
goes onto the light that actually has angles, because
LEDs are individual -- lights.

MS. MARGOLIS: Gotit. Okay, yeah.

MR. AIELLO: So that the angled shield
will keep you from seeing the LED from behind.

23 MS. MARGOLIS: Great. And | think al
24 of us here thank you for taking the time and doing all
25 of this. Thisis-- Woodcliff Lake isnot normally --
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the opportunity to comein here and make a right
unimpeded and then go and filter into the parking area
at thetop up. Then you continue up until this point
right here unimpeded, without -- to -- to explicitly
look to try to reduce any kind of queuing out of
Chestnut Ridge Road. That driveway isreally for that
specific purpose.

MS. MARGOLIS: Okay. And then just two
follow-up questions regarding the parking and the
lights that you mentioned in the back that weren't
previously there that's going there. |s-- thefirst
one being isthere any -- since you're going for a
variance to 11 spaces, | -- | take it that there's no
more spaces there 'cause there's no more room for
spaces. But would there be an opportunity to add back
in spaces since people seem to be concerned with the
taking away of spaces with the projected Trader Joe's
and the three restaurants?

19 MR. AIELLO: To -- parking spacesin

20 the back?

21 MS. MARGOLIS: Parking spaces anywhere
22 to sort of give yourself more parking spaces.

23 MR. AIELLO: We can certainly look into
24 that, but weredly try -- wereally --

25 MS. MARGOLIS: Matched that?
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1 comes to meetings that often, so thisis big for us.
2 Sowethank you. But thank you. We'll continue
3 the -- the open minded --

4 MR. DEPINTO: And thank the Board for
5 staying later than actually normally we do.
6 With that said, Ms. Price, we're going
7 to haveto carry the hearing obviously.
8 MS. PRICE: Right.
9 MR. DEPINTO: We're going to carry you
10 until January 6th, which isthe first Tuesday in
11 January.
12 Will, I know it'sa challenge --

13 MR. LINTNER: Unless| --

14 MR. DEPINTO: The choice, Gail, isif

15 you can't carry -- if your witnesses can't return on
16 the 6th, our next meeting thereafter will be the 20th.
17 MS. FONDACARQO: | -- | wonder though
18 with the holidays, whether it'll give your

19 professionals more time -- and carry to the 20th to
20 get --

21 MR. DEPINTO: We have no problem

22 carrying it to the 20th. However, | do want to make
23 an announcement before these people leave.

24 MS. FONDACARQO: | know. So -- sorry,
25 the 20th -- because that will give everybody time.
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1 MR. DEPINTO: Okay. Members of the
2 public that are here that have interest in this
3 application, please be advised that at the applicant's
4 request, the meeting has been carried to January 20th.
5 Our meeting starts at 7:30 p.m. The applicant's
6 attorney will provide to the Board any extension of
7 timethat may be required for the Board to make a
8 decision.

9 Isthat correct, Ms. Price?
10 MS. PRICE: Yes. Yes.
11 MR. DEPINTO: And with that said,

12 please be also advised of the fact that no further
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1 CERTIFICATE OF TRANSCRIBER

2 I, ROBERT SZIVAK, do hereby certify that

3 thistranscript was prepared from the digital audio

4 recording of the foregoing proceeding, that said

5 transcript is atrue and accurate record of the

6 proceedingsto the best of my knowledge, skills, and

7 ability; that | am neither counsel for, related to,

8 nor employed by any of the partiesto the action in

9 which this was taken; and, further, that | am not a
10 relative or employee of any counsel or attorney
11 employed by the parties hereto, nor financially or
12 otherwiseinterested in the outcome of this action.

13 notice will be provided to you that the meeting is ﬁ oy
14 being carried. For confirmation, you can reach out to ferl il ke
15 the Board secretary during normal business hours to 15 HUBER 1 S21VAR
16 confirm that the meeting will still be on that day. 16
17 MS. FONDACARO: That'sgood. Happy |17
18 holidays. 18
19 MR. DEPINTO: Happy holidays, everyone, 19
20 And thank the residents for coming as well. 20
21 (Whereupon, at 11:54 p.m., the 21
22 proceeding was concluded.) 22
23 23
24 24
25 25
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1 CERTIFICATE
2 I, ERIC KIM, the officer before whom the

3 foregoing proceedings were taken, do hereby certify

4 that any witness(es) in the foregoing proceedings,

5 prior to testifying, were duly sworn; that the

6 proceedings were recorded by me and thereafter reduced
7 to typewriting by aqualified transcriptionist; that

8 said digital audio recording of said proceedings are a

9 true and accurate record to the best of my knowledge,

10 skills, and ahility; that | am neither counsel for,
11 related to, nor employed by any of the partiesto the
12 action in which this was taken; and, further, that |
13 am not arelative or employee of any counsel or
14 attorney employed by the parties hereto, nor
15 financially or ==~~~ "=*=====""=*== jytcome of
16 thisaction. . ’
Ere Y Kun
17 ERIC KIM
18 Notary Public in and for the
19 State of New Jersey
20
21
22
23
24
25

51 (Pages 198 - 200)

Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440

973-410-4040



[& - 35] Page 1
& 11,000 57:14 | 1963 38:21 2477 57:761:1
& 9:719:10 58:23 1982 32:18 24/7 108:12
0l 2111 110 70:24 1996 535 25 34:2535:1
7.3 433 111 39:2 1997 535 57:6 61:1
0 117 11:2121:22 19th 93:7 91:25 96:17
118 117:22 5 179:10
0.2 8915 11:30 160:13 |, g4 399 26 34:25
07645 1:13 189:13 sisaon | 27 961611314
1 11:54 198:21 o510 799t 113:16
1 2818 31:21 12 1:12 38:16 2000 139:23 28 75:22
33:21 48:18 38:18 133:6,15 2’200 86:24.24 29 48:9
1000 1832 120 117:19 200 o011 | 230 141:22
1,161 10:20 122:20 123:4 2,810 99:13 189:13
o411 123 56:12 20 agos 1aas  2nd 33118
1,980 59:11 12th 98:24 144:16 152:22 3
1-30 28:18 13 1394 162:9181:119 | 3 48:1866:11
10 48:2057:14 | 13,500 41:19 181:23 192:7 67:19 105:21
77:396:24,24 | 591220 2004 512 125:25
97:1,9 13562 56:13 5005 1781 | 3000 51:2
10,000 5823 | 136 3494 38:1848:12,15 | 3200 86:23
100 38:1785:18  10:1720:9 48:17,2176:21 | 30 61:20 133:16
105:22122:19 | 137 168:19 77:23162:16 | 1381516
126:17 157:7 | 14 481517 203 20:9 156:12,13
179:2 14th 48:8 203a 9:410:18 = 168:12
103 117:20 150 31810522 | 15.9 30-40 189:22
108 117:21,21 | 154 316 20th 48:7 300 107:35
109 56:12 16 1:797.23 197:16.19.22 308 139:15
10th 55:11,21 | 17 191:24,25 197:25 198:4 184:21
55:2272:19,24 | 18 481277:2 1 51 gy 3101 28:18
76:21 144:3162:16 | 53 43.17 32882 200:14
11 3411513 |19 4821 2377 57:8 34894 199:16
195:13 1903 9:410:17 ' 54 38141442 | 35 35
20:10
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[35,000 - 9th] Page 2
35,000 10:19 5 6.9. 1087 863 95:7
20:13 c ag1gegg | 60 392021 80 518
36 5366122 | g9 100:17 07:161442 800 111:6
6125988  g5q4g og1p | 60'S 39:20 82 3:10
154:25 =3 18100 | 62 70:88 84 24:11
360 4123835 | a5 9810 62,000 11311 | 85 436
83:5 1142 178:5 113:16 884 20:14 24:20
330 18911 | ras g1 | 65 111:24 89 708
4 0 20163811 | 67 13217 89,585 78:15
2 38124818 | 971217 6:30 189:10,12 | 8:00 21:16
57:1 66:10 500 38:2569:13 Oth 160:16 9
71:20 138:7 69:25 838 197:10.16 9 84:1899:9
45 98:14,16 | 525 435 ! 144:5
114221782 | 527 7822984 7 63810618 9,800 89:15
181:192123 | 117:13,14 7500 110:17 | 91:494:11
183:2 178:19 7600 4121 | 90 85:1189:8
40 168:12 537 117:11 42:454:11 135:10 14314
171:22185:16 | 55 140:8170:3 | 57:2458:25 146:25 147:7
185:16 190:9,12 86:20 901 48:10
409 98:5117:16 56 3:6 7084 9612 | 904 37771
178:22 58 38:23 7317 9610 91 311
41 154:24 5:30 11425 | 74000 7815 93 313
168:18 Sth 188:17 | 75159 78:1519 95th 190:16
417.34 5844 6 77 389 9% 46:2072:8
444c 969 6 941017 7779566 120 | 13423
45 62:3 0104818 | 7230 1985 99 3:1445:17
4541 97:11 6116842023 742 18 143:10 175:10
457c 96:23 106:23 7th 6:23 9:30 1815
46 154:25 6.200 8219 8 189:11
485 38:22 1121621 8 6398418 | oh 9310
430 2116 113:6 94:2 106:18
6,300 8222 81 108:6
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[a.m. - add] Page 3
a a8 3:1499:3,4,6 | accessbility 199:16 200:8
am. 2116 99:8 41:11 200:12
135:3 1815 a9 3:15154:13 | accessible 88:5 | activate 41:23
189:10,11.13 154:14,14,20 88:16 activated
al 3535911 abide 34:1 accident 135:24 | 135:25
35:12.16.20 ability 85:13 accidentally active 54:5
4624 47-21 199:10 200:7 188:9 140:8
48:5 24 49:23 able 65:6 70:23 | accidents activity 15:17
49:24 55:8 70:24 86:10 134:17 145:18 15:19 81:6
76:13 93:5.6.8 95:16 105:19 172:24 173:2 87:23
171:8.9 139:3 153:14 185:7 192:14 actual 53:2
22 365525 160:2 183:13 accommodate 79:18
56:1.2 57:2 185:4 73:17 115:9 actually 5.5
72:18 above 56:18 154:4 174:10 43:1051:11
a3 37397 57:761:1,3 accommodated 57:1761:21
76:24 77:4.6.7 08:11 182:9 170:5 62:364:13,18
91:19 94:4 absolutely accomplish 87:992:6 97:8
97:21 98:23 106:24 107:8 40:12 41:20 08:25 101:24
99:25 100: 1 161:5 accor dance 102:18 118:10
102:13 1123 abstain 7:7,9 92:1 133:25 121:5,6,16
ad 3:977:9.10 7:17 8:12 account 146:18 154:6,23
77-14 78:10 abuts 139:20 168:22 169:9 155:11,11
80:5 accents 61:9 191:17 164:16 169:1
a5 3:1082:10 accept 53:20 accuracy 25:10 172:20173:13
82:15 896 76:9163:14 accurate 254 196:18 197:5
90:3 96:25 accepted 163:1 155:21 199:9 ada 83:18,22
97:19 10311 163:13172:14 200:5 83:22 84:1
26 311 90:23 access 41:24 achieve 29:25 87:9,9,16 88:5
91:1.9.14.16 42:2 59:22 89:22 88:7,16 90:11
a7 3129312 79:3,11,13 achieving 94:8 | add 41:9,13
93:13,14,20 80:1583:4,18 | acres 89:15 63:8 97:15
154:10 86:4,5101:5 act 50:25 154:3 158:25
128:24 153:1,6 | action 87:23 195:15
191:2 95:14 199:12
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[added - al€] Page 4
added 39:14 116:1 1277 aid 43:9 128:21 130:9
7718 83:22 151:16 155:3 aid's 43:10 130:23 131:3,8
84:13 86:4 adjacent 54:15 | aiello 75:2,8,8 132:19,25
97:21 65:6 83:16 75:14 76:16,20 133:5,10,17,24
adding 46:3 147:17 77:8,16,2378:1  134:18135:14
145:23178:23 | adjust 141:16 78:9,19,21 82:3 | 135:23136:7
addition 89:7 administrative 82:17 91:3,16 136:19 137:5
89:18 90:3,11 15:323:127:2 93:3,16,19,22 137:19,21,24
102:11131:12 | adopted 127:14 | 93:2594:3 138:2 141:9
139:8 196:3 advanced 11:8 96:4 98:22 143:25 144:8
additional 41:9 | advise 34:20 99:4,8100:9,18 | 144:12 145:5,9
83:284:14 advised 6:20 101:7,12,16 146:20,23
88:22 89:11,18 31:18,20 198:3 103:4,11,14,20 147:5 148:10
89:2091:4,6 198:12 103:24 1047 154.6,18,22
96:2397:3,21 | aerial 3:16 104:10,17 155:9,11,23
118:14 153:5 77:1982:11 108:4,5,9,13,16  156:4,10
168:17,20 91:17 153:13 108:23 109:2 157:14,19
174:5,24 154:1 109:20 110:6 159:2 180:2
178:25179:12 | aesthetic 40:23 110:14 111:8 181:16,16
additionally aesthetically 111:13,20 182:14,20
173:24 41:6 131:12 112:19,24 194:5,13,17
address 10:15 | aesthetics 41:4 113:2,9,13,18 195:19,23
20:845:8,13,15  102:21 114:4,14 115:5 196:1,11,15,21
56:5 70:23 affirm 9:12 115:11,17,19 air 63:16,22
747 78:4,7 afternoon 115:21 116:4 65:1 148:11
98:17 108:25 164:25 188:23 116:16 117:1,4 | airport 160:19
119:22 170:15 | aged 40:24 117:13,17,20 aisle 145:10
addressed ago 39:20,21 117:23118:2,5 | aidles 144:2
34:18 107:13 60:4 118:10,25 145:10
107:14 140:14 | agree 112:13 119:3,10,18 alarm 17:15,20
addressing agreed 5:21 120:12,16,24 25:25 26:17
34:16 112:11 121:22 121:5,12,18,22 | aldi 43:16
adequate ahead 71:2 122:4,16,22 ale 32:10
104:24 115:18 132:14,20 123:7,12,17,24
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[align - applicant]

Page 5

align 189:17 altadana 71:19 170:2 188:23 answering 59:7
aligned 57:18 71:2072:4 189:23194:18 @ answers 42:15
alignment 79:1 138:6,7 analyze 154:7 | anticipate
allegretti 36:4 | alterations 3:3 164:2 51:11
36:8,14 37:8,10 | 11:921:13 analyzed 94:19 | anticipated
37:10,13,16,19 | alternate 2:14 164:11 165:2 86:22 110:16
37:21,2538:48 | 2:15 165:23 169:23 132:18 133:6
38:842:18,22 | alternative 6:1 189:15 171:25172:4
43:20 45:3,20 79:11 anchored 43:1 173:8 180:12
49:6 50:20,22 | alyssa 171:22 43:3,15,1654:1 | 190:17
51:552:10,11 | amazon 14:11 @ andrew 9:7 anticipating
58:12,1959:4,8 | 14:14,25 10:11 20:5 112:23
59:8,19,23 60:2 | amend 17:22 angled 78:24 antique 60:6
60:6,11 68:22 17:22 21:8 80:16 144:15 159:12
69:14,17,17,23 26:16 144:17 145:5 anybody 6:16
1647722 amended 28:20 146:24 196:21 | anymore 158:1
105:3,7,7,13,16 = 32:20187:10 angles 196:18 | anyway 191:14
106:4,10,15,22 america's angry 107:7 apologies 37:16
107:6,11,14,16 39:14 angular 143:14 131:8
107:19,24 amount 86:25 | anita 2:154:20 | apologize 32:7
122:10 112:22 113:16 16:24 25:15 appear 29:21
allocated 115:9 120:20 138:18 44:15 67:11 190:20
allocation 173:12 175:23 117:9 appeared 53:13
112:9 175:25 184:24 | announcement | appearing 30:3
allotment amr 168:8 189:5 197:23 100:10
189:14 analyses 94:23 | answer 484 appears 24:12
allow 31:13 183:6 50:10,18 64:19 111:15 159:3
64.23 80:19 analysis 3:15 64.24 68:13,14 188:8
81:14 83:17 50:6 72:12 74:4 100:3 applicant 5:14
86:4,8 105:10 90:11,24,24 105:9 106:11 5:219:810:12
141:17 174:1 114:17 134:20 109:11 126:15 10:20,23,24
allowed 174:21 135:14 154:18 127:2 128:2 11:24 20:6,13
allows 34:25 156:15 169:3 132:19 142:5 20:15,17 22:17
83:285:16 169:10,12 185:6 188:7,8 30:2,17 31:14
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[applicant - asking] Page 6
47:1,8,1950:5 | applied 166:12 | approximately 103:25104:15
50:12 73:2 applying 68:1 10:19 20:13 105:1 117:25
102:22 140:23 | appointed 38:2241:19 130:3 131:15
147:14 1879 184:16 54.1156:12 131:19,19,20
188:8 appreciate 57:21,24 61:18 137:1145:16

applicant's 43:19,21 184:2 82:19 135:10 151:10,15
5:2531:16 184:19 152:12 190:9 153:7 168:3,6
127:5198:3,5 | appreciates architect 33:8 169:2172:11

application 3:5 102:22 53:965:16 177:11182:21
5:196:210:6,9 | approach 71:1572:18 185:23 187:2,6
10:22,25 11:10 173:25 73:1296:14 188:11 192:4
11:25 12:4,16 | approaching architect's 192:10 194:13
12:16 17:14 129:6 64:24 77.22 195:2
19:9,25 20:3,18  appropriate ar chitectur al areas 4111
20:20 21:8,17 30:6 35:4 50:9 54:18 55:7 72:1474:1,2
21:25 22:2,15 124:19 72:19 131:11 95:9101:21
22:16 24:10,10 | approval 5:12 | architecture 115:4 147:17
24:12,14 2820 5:14,17,20 34.641:5 arose 935
29:11,16 31:22 28:20 29:17 48:16 53:2 arrange 29:2
32:21 33:15 32:21 33:25 63:2,25 arrangement
34:235.8,21,22 | 34:241:16 area 24:23 80:7
35:25 36:3 68:10 72:20 26:24 39:25 arriving 85:17
39:17 40:6,8,9 98:19,20 41:858:22,24 | arrow 174.23
47:5 48:6,22 110:25 118:11 59:20 60:16 asked 5:21
69:7 70:1,12 133:2172:15 75:18,18,19 30:11 34:10
72:1 80:22 187:11 78:14 80:20 35:7 467
92:6 95:5 approvals 82:6,24 83:19 136:16 138:24
99:18,22 29:25 69:11 84:3,7,8,10,11 152:2,2,7
162:14 1641 05:22 111:1 84:24 87.7,21 187:24
173:5187:10 133:2 87:2589:12,15 | asking 61.16
187:21 193:10 | approve 6:24 89:16 92:9,15 64:17 69:9
198:3 8:318:627:11 94:10,18 95:1,7 | 143:24152:16

applications approved 95:11 96:11,24 181:8 182:10
148:5193:14 148:7 158:3 98:11 99:14 184:1 196:6

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[asset - based]

Page 7

asset 39:23 48:24 65:19 171:19 162:2
assets 38:11 198:6 199:14 b backside 62:21
assigned 11:20 200:10 . : 63:4
21:22 attractive 33:3 b 1:63412%4127% 17 | backward
assisted 162:23 | atypical 79:25 bl 317 150:19 92:20
163:4 audience 37:9 150:21 bad 32:13
associated 82:7 | audio 199:8 bachdor 7515 bagdat 2:15
95:9,14 97:4 200:3 bachelor's 4:20,21 7:22,23
129:13 166:6 august 38:18 162:4 8:24,25 16:25
179:23 authenticate back 51112 17:6,919:1,2
assume 17:24 55:17 301 33:1’7 25:16 28:8,9
126:20 authorized 38:2 551 44:16 67:12
assumed 70:6 75:21 57-11.17 59:5.6 117:10,15,18
assuming authorizes 40:9 62:23’25 63:2’2 117:21,25
159:14 available 6:20 702 4’80:3 118:3,7,19
assumption 33:247.6,12,13 81:17 92:713 bar 58:1559:10
13:1 189:24 135:1 106:20 11 4:1 barrier 123:14
ateres 10:14 ave 39:2 121:11 122:21 bars 145:11
12:12 20:7 avenue 3494 195:2 11 base 164:17
atlantic 75:18 10:15,17 20:9 127:1;9 199:17 based 38:19
attached 11:10 43:5,7 184:25 131:20.20 63:9 66:15
12:1521:14 185:14 137°9 1’39: 3 68:8 81:18,19
22:15 average 57:7 150:16 151:22 115:20 124:25
attaching 55:19 | 61:1185:14 152:8.14 153:4 136:20 137:14
attempted avoid 134:3 153:1’8 160:21 144:21 14514
140:24 aware 12:13 168:1 169:14 146:12 165:3
attended 64:25 78:12 173:13 178:10 165:18 166:12
162:23 163:5 84:10 192:19 188:11.15 168:10,13,20
attendees 2:2 awareness 84:8 1939 1’9 4:8.16 169:19 172:6
attest 72:23,23 | awesome 195:10.15 26 172:18,20
73:6 138:14 135:17 backgr Ol’Jn d 173:10,21
attorney 25 aye 44:2552:8 5205 75:12 178:1 190:1,2,5
10:11 20:5 71:13 74:18 77:19 82:12 192:3
29:330:2,16 125:19 150:14
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[basement - bob] Page 8
basement 58:24 | 61:965:4 55:2 68:22 board 1:12:5
59:3,14,15,15 84:23 85:11 83:2587:24 2:12,135:14
59:17 60:5 100:10 101:7 110:1 199:9 6:13,15,16 8:2
68:23 73:3,9,10 104:21 112:2 200:6 10:8 13:8 20:2
78:14 82:21,24 113:21 115:13 | better 31:5 23:21 29:3,14
95:298:11 124:3 126:8,9 38:4,540:12 29:15,23 30:4,6
99:14 112:16 136:3 140:18 46:7,13 55:4 30:7,10 31:19
157:7,12,13,15 150:19 152:21 77:2081:14 33:16 36:10
159:11 158:11 159:11 82:1383:18 43:22 45:5
basement's 178:14 189:10 84:21 86:4 47:2,2,3,11
112:20 bell 149:23 88:24 96:12 48:24 49:1
basically 29:15 | beneath 59:3 136:16 147:1 52:2353:9
82:2583.9 benefit 89:21 170:17 173:25 55:257:11,12
87:4114:16 89:23 179:17 61.6 64:10
115:8,10 134:3 | bergen 95:23 beyond 181:19 72:21,23 75:13
151:12 152:15 98:18,19 bid 684 76:377:15,17
158:6 173:14 121:16 128:5 big 69:3123:19 81:23 98:18
180:18,21 128:14,17 197:1 108:3128:4
191:2 141:15,18,24 biggest 45:22 136:21 138:24
basis 15:17 142:18 170:8 bill 5:316:14 139:21,21
bays 144:1,2 173:4,22 174:6 27:1574:16 142:22 1487
bear 85:20 18423 186:25 111:4 125:17 160:12 161:3
bearing 12:1 187:13 bit 38:651:6 161:25 162:19
bears 21:25 bernstein 55:1129:17 163:8,19 164:7
beating 109:19 139:14,15 144:19 153:17 171:12 184:9
beautiful 54:6 140:21 141:1,4 | black 61:8 184:15,15
bed 97:12 141:13 142:2 blank 20:22 193:21 197:4
beg 107:18 142:12 143:6 block 9:410:17 198:6,7,15
188:13 184.20,20 20:10 28:18 board's 47:7
beginning 186:4,7,12,16 | blocking 88:25 98:20
34:14 76:14 186:24 188:2 blow 58:15 boards 53:14
behalf 9:8 188:10,14,18 59:10 163:2,4
believe 29:9 best 39:10 blue 101:19,20 | bob 31:24
49:4 53:12 41:13,14 42:5 35:14 36:5
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[body - business] Page 9
body 127:10 bought 107:2 build 42:368:3 114:16 118:13
bolson 9:6,7,13 109:23 166:2,3,4,7,8 132:2 136:25

10:5,7,11 12:2 | boulevard 166:19,23 137:7 147:22
12:5,8,11,19,21 | 32:16 167:2,7 169:13 151:21,23,25
12:2513:4,7,12 | box 62:2,2 169:13,15,16 152:9,13,19,21
13:15,20,23 137:11 157:23 174:3,3175:13 152:23 153:1,4
14:2,4,6,8,12 158:1,5,13,14 175:14 177:1,1 153:13,19
14:21 16:7 159:17 building 10:16 156:21 157:1
17:18,21 18:1,3 | boxes 159:17 10:19,21,24 157:15 159:14
18:4 19:24 brand 155:9 17:15,20 20:8 178:3196:9,16
20:1,5,2321:3 | branding 5:9 20:12,14,16 buildings 63:22
21:6,7,922:1,3 | bread 31:5 24:2,334:24,24 86:5122:2,3
22:6,9,12,19,23 | break 85:25 35:240:1 131:9 158:13
23.2,4,9 24:15 125:2,8 41:24 42:4 built 39:20
24:19,25 25:2 | breather 1259 54:13 56:9,16 56:20 57:22
26:14,1927:7,9 | brief 52:24 56:18,2157:3,6 | 58:179:20
bolted 153:3 brilliant 107:8 57:10,11,13,20 114:22 129:24
bonds 166:6 bring 40:6 57.2558:2,6,24 | 130:4 151.25
border 120:14 42:13 45:24 59:17 60:22,22 178:12 181:20
192:11 84.8 88.8 60:2561:7,12 | bunch 111:7
boring 121:2 160:23 61:19 62:1,25 139:18
borough 1:11 bringing 41:14 63:17,2567:20 | bureau 169:25
2:10,11 10:19 68:24 73:16 78:13 burglar 26:6
20:11 29:18 brings 80:17 79:24 81:17 bus 88:8
37:440:3,5 87:19172:2 82:19,2383:1,5 | buses 136:11
94:14 95:22 bristol 184:25 83:20,24,25 136:11
98:24 99:23 bronxville 39:1 86:1887:1,3,8 | busiest 182:3
127:10 133:2 39:3 88:11 96:13,19 188:24
164:7 brought 41.7 96:2097:13,17 | business 11:4,7
borough's 92:1 119:17 124:21 97:25 98:2 13:8,24,25 17:3
165:13 152:17 101:25 102:1,6 17:7 20:22
boston 39:5 bucket 153:15 102:10,17 21:11 22:21
bottom 67:4 155:17,17,19 103:25 110:24 23:17 38:13
156:8,9 111:16,18 43:10 114:8
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[business - center]

Page 10

198:15 70:19,20 74:21 | car 1075 188:2
businesses 119:4 149:14 108:21 139:5 categories 96:6
114:12 151:19 166:7 167:21 categorization

busy 54:5 188:6 care 104:24 177:7
114:18 135:2 called 9:17 carl 2:1136:19 | categorizes
145:25 181:2 19:15 34:23 37:448:25 176:20
buy 107:22 36:15,20,25 49:1120:7 category 41:14
C 52:1575:3 142:5 cause 17:24
c 132141 124:11 161:9 carried 33:18 46:13 121:3
11:1 20:19 164.22 198:4,14 152:10 153:21
959 34:23 calling 154:15 | carry 5:170:3 159:8,10,18
52:20 94:20 calls 17:16 107:3 160:16 168:9 195:14
164:23 calming 90:5 197:7,9,15,19 | cava 42:657:4
c000 37489 cameras 26:6 carrying 61:3,21 66:13
76:25 campione 197.22 70:8 86:22,24
010 397716 52:14,20,20,22 | cars 63:18 ccl 48:10
c100 82'11 53:1,11,16,23 88:2595:10 cedar 43:4,5
250 99:24 54:16,19 55:9 130:7 135:8 cementitious
112:12 55:18,22 56:4 155:14 173:10 61:6
c300 94:4 57:1,9,1658:20 | 192:7 194:8 center 32:24,25
c800 111:24 58:2560:18,21 cart 83:19 33:139:19
801 112:3 60:24 62:7,10 105:19,23,23 41:4 43:2,3,5,6
calculate 99:9 62:13,16,19,22 105:24 106:1,3 43:9,12,13,15
calculated 63:5,19,2464:3 106:5,8,11,20 43:17 45:18
168:16 64.6 65:4,23 107:4,4 109:6 46:948:11,14
calculation 66:2,1567:3 carts 84:11 48:2054:1
70:7.9 68:1,22,25 106:1,19 56:8 58:14
calculations 70:19,22 71:25 107:10 108:11 62:25 63:21
94:13 110:11 72:15,22 73:6 109:1 64:14,16 69:18
.y 7E Q- 73:2174:4,9,20 | case 21:423:18 79:2,21,23 80:1
call 4:27:58.8 .
1810 27:17 candidate 30:388:15 80:7 83:6
36:850:17 129:4 107:2,22,25 85:19,23 86:4
57:2 68'5 canopies 61.9 136:1 138:20 89:10 90:20
151:11 187:12 91:24 92:21
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[center - chipotle] Page 11
98:8,13104:15 cetera 95:10 chance 455 32:23 39:18
114:16 115:2 chair 6:238:2 | change 5.8 48:11,13,19
115:10,14,23 18:527:10 70:16 72:21 63:18 79:6,13
118:6 134:13 30:11 32:13 84:16 85:1 79:15 80:11,19
136:21,24 33:644:19 86:387:192:5 81:1,6 84:5
162:10 168:13 46:17 52:2 122:24 142:22 85:5,6,9 87:20
169:5173:19 53:20 71:7 174:2 196:7 88:8,19 90:7
185:4 189:20 74:12 76:9 changed 98:2 95:21,25 96:25

centers 1.3 77:25108:4,4 100:15 101:14 97:7 101:2
28:19 37:23 125:14 150:9 changer 123:20 111:17 112:1
38:10,18 39:6 163:14171:13 | changes 10:5 116:21 127:23
40:8 46:10 chairman 2:3,4 19:24 20:1 128:7,18 129:1
54:4,6 59:9 4:.22 5.4 724 45:1947:10 133:21 134:10
75:23,24 105:8 9:1,7 10:7 82:18 135:11 137:14
147:6 148.6 15:2316:1,16 | changing 152:12 155:2
182:21 16:19,23 17:10 119:13,13 159:4 164:19

central 170:23 18:4 19:3 22:3 187:19 164:22 167:1,6

certain 32:22 24.6,8 25.14 charged 34:19 170:1,4,9,11,24
60:9 102:24 27:928:10 charging 118:9 173:6,15,23
104:22,25 31:1532:6,19 | check 105:18 174:9,25 185:5
105:1,19 43:25 44:11 107:1 109:1 185:25 187:3,6
108:19 113:18 53:18 55:10 113:19,21 190:10,14
166:11 58:19 59:23 121:1,14 191:22 192:5

certainly 51.7 60:2,3,11 66:21 | checked 121:17 192:10,20
53:1 109:25 679 76:7 122:25 194:8,24 195:6
116:4 136:8 102:12 113:23 | checkerboard chief 124:2,4
140:11 156:10 118:19 124:5 120:17 135:5 150:17
194:19 195:23 124:18 154:6 checking 17:18 150:18 154:7

certificate 16:5 188:3 68:18 156:17 157:20
24:2 199:1 chairs 33:22 checklist 48:6 159:19
200:1 67:24 148:1 children 136:11

certify 199:3 challenge cheshire 54:2 chipotle 148:23
200:2 197:12 chestnut 1:3 148:23,25

5.7 28:18,19
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[choice - committee] Page 12
choice 110:1 clifton 105:21 | college 75:16 167:25 173:15
197:14 105:25 107:1 colonial 103:1 174:13,14,23

chris 2:6 4.6 107:21 color 65:21 181:21,22
16:3 23:25 close 18:352:2 77:1891:17 187:5191:19
25:844.5 74:12 80:18 colors 6:1 192:2 194:24
109:7 148:3,4 85.887.24 combination 198:20

cincinnati 53:3 127:23 144:18 91:.7 comment 49:8

circulation 150:10 152:11 | combined 105:3 131:4,17
40:14 83:5 152:20 114:15 154:9 165:15
90:1 196:3 closed 30:16 come 5:1859:5 165:17 169:24

civil 33:8 74:21 133:21 159:22 68:4 80:12,15 194:6,7
162:9 170:22,24 81.2085:5,23 | comments 6:17

claimed 51:16 | closely 193.8 86:8,10,14,15 24:14 31:4

clarification closer 97:6 86:1587:14 56:557:5
60:22 184:8 159:7 178:14 90:6 108:21 60:25 66:20

clarify 194:19 | closet 131.6 125:2 127:24 91:13116:9

clarity 47:18 closing 27:8 130:16 131:22 117:7 156:20
72:17 77:20 31:497:4 137:13,13 161:2 163:24
82:13 151:18 166:25 149:13 151:22 165:12

class 39:1041.6 closure 170:20 153:11,21 commer ce
41:14 42:6 cmu 56:2361:5 160:21 173:9 45:24
122:11 176:18 | coast 54:7 183:3,6 192:10 | commercial

classic 41:4 code 21:24 195:1 25:20,21,23

cleaning 95:15 34:25 100:17 comes 57:20 75:24 162:11

clear 35:19 110:5 147:22 136:25 164:13 | commission
165:12 181:17 148:4 183:4 194:25 197:1 4:24

clearly 40:19 code's 152:21 | coming 37:21 | commitment

clerical 23:1 codes 11:25 81:688:2,19,20 | 40:5160:17

client 9:1012:3 148:13 89:1110:15 committed 40:8
13:7 15:5 coffee 5:9 111:17 126:4 committee 5:2
19:12 22:2,20 | collapse 157:5 130:13 133:23 6:529:21
24.16 65:24,25 | collectively 137:6 146:2 124:20 153:10

clients 15:9,12 76:23 149:25 153:20 157:6 184:16

155:1,2 159:20
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[common - confusion] Page 13
common 11:18 | complain 140:22 145:13 144:13 151:11
11:22 21:20,23 149:14 146:9 148:15 165:11 166:20
commonly complaints 150:4 153:9,25 166:23 167:8
188:24 149:9 151:7,7 155:14 156:24 169:13,14,15
commons 43:3 ' complementary 174:17 177:13 169:22 175:1
communicate 61:5 193:15 194:7 17711784
140:24 187:12 | complete 5:17 | concerned 188:24 190:11
communicated 47:572:2 104:4 105:15 conducted 50:5
140:23 1417 192:22 157:6 164:15 165:10 189:9
188:10,15 completion 191:21 195:16 190:3,5
communicati... 133:4 concerning conductivity
30:4 complex 1:11 145:21 86:7
communities 151:25175:15 | concerns 45:22 | configuration
39:11,13 177:15,18 139:19 161:4 78:24 80:21
community 179:2 183:11 163:18 170:15 81:1391:22
41:10,11 140:9 | complexes 191:18 147:8
181:13 193:7 158:14 concluded configurations
companies compliance 198:22 127:20 129:6
39:15 40:5 5:1372:13 conclusion 170:25
140:24 141:3,8 100:17 127:24 confirm 25:10
company 11:4 | compliant 62:5 | concurs 180:9 42:17 50:14
11:5,7 13:10 84:188:7 condition 72:12,18 73:2
21:12 22:22 96:14 164:17 165:25 198:16
38:25 140:4,14 | comply 35:1 166:2,3,4,7,8 confirmation
141:1 50:24 72:16 167:2,5 169:16 25:7198:14
company's 147:22 170:23 conflict 80:13
13:20 component conditions 3:9 80:14 85.7
compar ability 31:22 3:1034:16,20 | conflicts 86:12
176:24 concept 40:2 78:3,11,2279:4 | 88:3
compar able 180:1,4 79:17 80:9 confused
175:24 176:19 | concepts 40:21 81:382:9 89:5 178:19
181:13,15 concern 45:23 89:6,16 96:20 | confusion
compared 73:4 50:3100:15 98:4,5,9105:12 191:18
96:19 17421 104:18 140:1 135:12 137:14
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[conjunction - coor dinated] Page 14
conjunction considered 169:25 continued 5.5
32:20 33:15 34:15 127:19 consultants continues 88:4
94:6 127:20 129:21 75:20 173:20
connect 130:16 129:25 165:6 consultation continuing
connecticut 166:1,17 142:23 85:20 168:5
54:2 162:7,23 167:18 168:7 consulted contractor
163:7 172:11 168:10 176:18 141:19 99:21
178:9 176:19,23 contact 155 contractor's
connecting 181:12 182:23 141:9 99:19
39:13 considers contacted control 50:25
connection 179:20,23 141:10 142:6,9 145:11
87:18 88:13 consistency contain 158:23 147:19
136:7 162:13 102:24 contained 11:9 | controlled
163:25187:10 | consistent 25:2 21:12 58:17 147:15
connections 103:2,3 contains 21:22 | convenience
95:20 130:17 consisting 48:9 | conte 9:7 87:11123:13
130:19 156:21 48:17,18,23 context 77:20 convenient
156:23 consists 48:5 81:4,10 82:12 41:25 42:1
connectivity 78:12 91:18 88:16
41:10 constitutes contiguous conveniently
conservation 97:16 58:10 57:25
98:19 constrained contingencies conventional
conservative 82:1129:9 41:17 89:9
169:3,9 137:1 contingency conver sation
consider constraints 190:10,24 157:23
127:22 130:5 129:13 contingent conver sations
131:2 166:9,10 | construction 42:18 105:10 81.18,19
166:16 174:7 2:65:22 continue 50:1 136:20 170:8
175:3183:5 109:10 118:1 53:22 60:20 conversely 97.7
consider ation 132:18,24 62:2076:7,11 | cookies 107:22
116:24 126:24 133:8 147:25 85:24 86:14,16 | cooperating
consider ations 148:4 116:13 195:3 102:23
126:19 consultant 197:2 coor dinated
163:8 165:14 102:16

800-227-8440

Veritext Lega Solutions

973-410-4040




[coor dinates - cubic] Page 15

coordinates 163:11,19,20 counsal 9:9 couple 65:18
34:1 163:23 164.3,4 19:11 31:13,16 171:24

coordinator 2:9| 164:8,9171:10 53:21 76:10 course 36:1
30:2 185:6,22 163:15 199:10 193:19

copies 6:14 187:15,16 199:13 200:7 court 71:20
47:549:2,17 192:21 196:11 200:10 125:25 138:7,8

copy 150:24 198:9 count 104:9 138:23
1519 correctional 126:7 165:2 courteous

copycat 32:9,11 90:6 176:5 106:20

corner 83:12 corrections counted 164:24 | cover 196:17
87:6 104:2 10:519:24 165:1,6 167:3 | coverage 40:23
137:9138:8 correctly 176:4 189:2,9 96:8
185:1 103:16 112:18 189:11,12 covered 67:2

cornices 58:3 117:11 1947 counterpart create 39:9

corral 106:21 corresponden... 49:14 48:16 53:4

corrals 105:25 6:13,14,20 country 147:6 | creating 40:12
106:1,5,8,11 31:21 counts 164:17 | creative 11.6
108:22,25 corresponding 165:3,4,10,18 21:2,3,539:12

correct 12:21 82:22 93.17 189:8 credit 39:7,8
14:20 23:19 118:15 county 95:23 117:24 118:15
24:21 26:25 correspondin... 98:18,19 121:6 168:9
27:4 29.6 55.8 100:25 121:16 128:5 169:1,6 190:6
55:958:20,20 | corridor 174.8 128:15,17 criteria 33:12
60:18 62:16 costco 106:11 141:25 142:7,8 183:1193:17
69:176:15,16 | council 2:7 4:8 142:9,18 143:4 | cross 49:10
77:2291:15 7:118:13 166:18 170:8 130:5 141:18
93:18,20 101:6 18:15 27:22 173:4,22 174:6 | crossing 54:2
103:10 104.7 33:16 127:10 175:2 18424 84:11 130:11
113:9 115:17 183:10 184.9 186:2,25 crosswalk
117:17 120:16 184:11,12,13 187:13 188:6,6 88:14 90:17
121:12,18 184:14 191:17 192:20 193:1,9 129:25 130:10
122:22 126:12 | councilwoman county's 134:1 131:1
140:25 162:14 191:13 192:17 141:15,19 cubic 69:21
162:15 163:10 99:11 112:25

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[cubic - delay] Page 16
113:2,5,5,10,12 | curve 85:16,16 181:10 190:2,2 | december 1.7
113:14 154:3 190:5 8:133:.17

culhane 2:12 cushion 115:1 | date 10:24 55:11,21,22
4:457:6,789 | customary 20:17 33:1 72:18,24 76:21
8:1015:25 83:20 76:19 116:6 77:393:10
18:11,1224:8 | customer 50:15 | dated 31:21 98:23
27:18,1944:21 | cut 59:16,16 48:8,12,15,17 | decide 86:9
115:7,15,18,20 99:10,11 136:2 48:2055:11,20 | decision 198:8
115:25 116:7 136:3 153:17 72:18 76:21 decisions 80:12

curb 874 156:1 77:293.7 decor ative

curbing 40:25 | cutting 126:5 98:23 162:15 102:15

curious 66:13 179:2 dates 36:2,5 decreased
135:5 cycle 174:21 dating 32:18 51:11

current 39:25 d david 12:12 deduction
41:18,24 51:12 . . 22:12 118:17
59:13 81:12,13 d 3;';13;'4%0 day 51:2 deemed 475
82:20 83:1 174:3 110:18 127:13 | deems 30:6
88:21 95:2 d'arminio 134:11160:21 | deep 113:8
104:21 137:5 3216 188:22 198:16 | deeper 144:20
137:14 151:10 dangerous daycare 146:2 | defendant
178:20 126:2 134:12 days 21:15 12:20

currently 10:23 185:12 dead 80:1,3 defined 40:19
20:15 38:11 darlene 2:10 deaf 110:7 189:15
39:657:11 34:23 36:24 deal 62:2063:1 | definitely 182:6
58:10,18 65:4 49:15 67:17 63:380:4 88:1 | degradations
78:22,23 79:25 712 120:1 135:25 1488 176:13
81:17,20 85:4 dashed 57:19 194.22 degree 41:23
85:1389:17 data 16612 dealing 66:4 53:275:15
96:9,1597.7 168:99.10.14 141:14 182:22 89:8 143:14
100:14 103:17 168: 2’0 ’172’: 3 deals 104:19 146:25 1477
112:7 117:11 172:13.17.20 debbie 45:16 delaware 162:5
118:8 119:2 173:10’ 17’7:9 deborah 143:9 | delay 169:19
143:16,18 177-16.23 175:10 170:18 174:1
168:3 175:24 ’

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[delays - depinto] Page 17
delays 176:10 118:17 134:16 25:17 26:9,21 102:20 103:7
deliver 137:12 141:15,19,21 27:1,6,10,13,15 103:13,15,22
delivered 31:19 142:18 1435 28:10,11,16,24 104:3,8,11,18
deliveries 50:12 148:8 150:20 29:1,731:17,24 | 105:5,11,14,17

50:1551:12 151:9 185:13 32:9,11,13 106:7,13,16
73:1581:16,16 187:13 37:24 38:1,7 107:1,7,12,15
116:13 132:4 departments 42:21 43:18,22 107:18,21
134:25 136:14 142:25 44:1,4,7,9,12 108:2,8,11,14
136:18,20,23 depend 133:1 44:15,17,22 108:17,24
137:6 depending 45:1,14 46:5,15 109:3,7 111:3
delivering 152:3176:11 46:22 471,22 113:24 115:6
137:10 depends 180:19 | 48:1,3,2549.5 116:10 117:8
delivers 137:11 | depicted 62:1 49:16,25 50.7 118:20 119:24
delivery 50:13 | depiction 25:5 50:17 51:13,19 120:6,9 123:25
51:10 73:3 depiero 1:12 51:23,25 52:6,9 124:7,24 125:5
126:3 135:21 depiero's 53:2054:16,21 125:7,13,17,20
137:20 143:22 145:15 54:25 55:14 126:8,11,13
delta 112:7 148:19 57:958:9,16,21 127:1 132:10
demand 50:4,6 | depinto 2:34:2 59:2,18,21,24 132:15 134:22
177:24 179:21 4.22,23 6:4,8 60:4,8,13,19,23 136:15 138:3
180:6,21 6:12 7:2,24,25 62:4,8,11,14,17 139:10 140:19
demolished 859:1,210:3 62:2063:1,16 140:22 141:2,6
57:24 10:8 11:14 63:2064:1,5,9 141:12,23
demonstrate 12:15,22 13:2,6 | 64.20,22 658 142:4,9 143:3,7
80:23 14:17 15:1,6,9 65:12,17,25 146:6,10,15
demonstrated 15:13,16,20,24 66:3,9,22 67:10 147:11 148:3
100:20 16:2,13,17,20 67:13,16 68:12 148:18,21,25
dep 82:694:15 16:24 17:11 68:17 69:16 149:2,5,8,11
95:15121:15 18:2,5,8 19:3,4 70:371:2,5,11 150:8,12,15
133:2137:1 19:9,23 20:2 71:14,18 72:6 151:5 154:2
department 21:5,7,1022:14 | 73:1074:10,16 156:17 157:11
3:17 12:17 23:10,13,16,20 74:19 76.9 157:18,20
17:14,17 22:16 23:2524:7,15 100:2,5,8101:4 | 159:19,22
34:9,9 110:25 24:22 25.6,15 101:9,13 160:4,9,22,25
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[depinto - discussionsg] Page 18
161.6 162:15 103:1 devices 141:17 | dimension
163:14171:11 | detailed 67:21 | dialogue 170:9 144:1
171:17,20 67:23 diane 71:20 dimensions
175:5180:16 detention 94:25 | 138:7,8,23 25:10 154:8,22
183:13,17,25 95:17 die 110:3 dining 34:1
184.6,11,13 determine 5:23 | died 109:19 41:11
186:9,14,22 177:16,23 189:3,4 dinner 146:4
187:8,17 188:4  determined dietary 118 direct 160:5
188:13,16,19 5:13167:12 13:21,22 directing
189:5 190:25 194.22 dieter 2:77:2 135:20
191:5,9192:16 = develop 133:13 23:22 27:13 direction 145:2
192:19,22 133:18 44:2 52:6 directional
193:2,4,13,20 | developed 64:10 71:11 5:24 144:24
193:23 194:2 29:17,18 42:14 74:16 108:3 145:3
197:4,9,14,21 140:8,17 119:25 191:13 | directly 14:15
198:1,11,19 167:22 1873 dieter's 66:25 86:7 106:6

describe 22:24 | developing difference 138:25
2357714 46:10 77:18112:8 dirt 68:24
111:11 development 146:24 disability

description 3:2 29:22 54:18 differences 140:10
155:21 75:20 100:11 90:1 disclosure

design 48:16 130:14 133:11 | different 36:2 191:12
53:4 72:25 166:4,7,21,24 51:375:23 discretion
102:16 128:16 167:9,18 78:8 80:13 116:15,17
147:9,20 169:16,17 85:4 90:4 discussed 40:3
165:25 194.6 175:20 176:16 99:19 101:11 73:8,10 94:7

designate 84:7 176:16 178:22 101:22 102:9 128:4 18423

designed 56:16 192:5 114:20,21,21 discussion 7:4
73:17 94:6 development's 115:24 123:3 8.:718:927:16
147:16 167:22 162:10 165:2 44:23

designee 2:8 developments 177:11 180:4,5 | discussions

detail 42:11 41:7 162:11 digital 199:8 96:5 110:14
61:3 62:18 166:16 200:3 166:14 170:13
101:10 102:19

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[dismissal - ear g Page 19

dismissal donuts 5:8 164:20 171:23 145:25 180:14

145:17 door 16:870:23 175:10 181:1,6
distance 105:20  106:6 108:19 driven 130:7 dropping

123:9 doors 88:15 drivers 84.9 167.25
distinction 131:21 driveway 46:2 | dry 58:1559:10

184:17 dot 166:12 79:14 80:11,25 95:15 165:12
distribute double 70:23 81:11,1585:3,3 | due 153:14

115:23 113:18,20 86:7,787:22,24 |  158:19
distributed downhill 88:18,21,24 duly 9:1719:15

6:15,22 8:2 106:19 185:16 90:20 97:4 36:15,20,25
distribution dozen 53:17 100:24,25 52:1575:3

14:18 drainage 41:2 111:25 120:15 124:11 161:9
distributors 47:20 51:16,16 126:1,2 127:25 199:5

15:13 drawing 3:8,9 128:8,14,23 dumont 43:4
district 98:19 77:16 82:10 129:1,5,7,10 dumpster
disturbances 91:1994:4 130:10 151:18 131:19

134.5 99:24 100:19 159:4 164:12 dunkin 5:7
dive 49:15 102:13 1116 164:19,22,23 duty 34:19

120:11 123:22 112:12 119:16 167:3,4,6 168:4 | dynamic 39:22
divide 113:13 155:16 170:1,14,14,20 e
divided 113:16 | drawings 3:7 170:22,24 . 1A
documentation | 685676:14,17 174241853 | © 13':;’1157':112' 131

3:14 76:18,24 97:20 187:5 194:22 52:91 75: ’
documents 111:11 195:6 161:15.19.21

47:14,24 48:22 | drive 1:12 driveways 79:4 161:22’ ’

49:2,17 45:17 46:21 126:6 127:20 carlier 12617
doing 13:15 72:8 78:25 129:14 164:21 157:22

30:24 55:18 79:5,8,11,12 167:1176:4 carly 73:4

94:17 101:15 80:16,16 86:4 187:23 134:24 135:2

106:8 187:14 88:21 97:8 driving 40:19 136:12 145:17

196:24 132:17 134:23 84:990:19 188:23
domestic 138:20 139:15 185:18 cars 110:8

158:15,18 143:10 153:20 | drop 88:9

153:22 164:18 137:8 138:10
Veritext Lega Solutions

800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[ease - entertain] Page 20
ease 42:1 electrician 23:6 | enabled 84:16 160:5,23 162:6
easel 54:23,25 | electronic enclosure 162:8,18 164:2

55:19 77:13 87:18 131:10,11 1648
easier 88:23 element 96:16 132:1,3,5 engineer's
easly 90:10 114:19 enclosures 187:13
east 54:7 elements 78:7 131:25 engineering
104:15 elevation 61.15 | encourage 34:6 48:14
eastern 101:2 62:167:4 116:13 49:12 56.6
edge 83:3 82:25 149:19 encouraging 63:2 75:16,21
education eleven 159:24 117:1 110:10 120:2,9
162:1 eliminate 34:23 | encroaches 120:10,11
educational 86:12 82:7 140:2 141:15
52:24 75:12 eliminating encroaching 141:19 142:18
effect 146:18 112:17 155:4 157:2 162:5,9
egress 40:13 elimination encumbered engineers 98:12
116:21 185:24 40:18 116:22 127:8 167:11
eifs 56:2261.5 | email 16:12 ends 145:10 168:14 172:7
eight 103:9 emer gency energize 39:18 190:2
113:7 155:18 66:19 135:19 enforce 105:12 | england 75:18
155:18 158:2 135:24 136:9 enfor cement enhance 40:7
either 12:222:1 4 191:3 105:12 110:5 enjoy 41:12
29:16 69:9 emerson 43:1,2 engaged 170:7 | enlarged 61:15
81:14 90:7,8 employed engineer 2:11 enter 85:14,17
102:10 111:25 199:11,14 5:22 30:23,23 111:24,25
152:6 153:6 200:8,11 30:25 33:9,9 120:3
154:24 192:8 employee 11:24 34:8,1246:7,13 | entered 24:16
elected 128:22 21:24 105:1 49:1 50:9,23 80:6
184:14,15 199:13 200:10 51:20 67:15 entering 112:4
electric 19:10 employees 69:20 72:1 194:23
20:4 21:11 11:14 21:18 74:5,22 75:17 | entertain 6:23
23:11 27:3 41:25 103:18 76:294:15 8:318:627:11
140:7,13 104:5,14 179:8 125:21 126:10 44:19 46:18
electrical 23:12 179:9,10,15,21 126:11 142:1 52:271:8
23:13 179:24 146:13,16 74:12 12514
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[entertain - existing] Page 21
150:9171:14 essentially everything's 11:10,12 12:17
entire 35:8 54:12 63.6 113:19 25:11 35:16
39:19 89:12 144:25 172:21 | evidence 54:22 55.6
91:22 115:10 180:10,11 150:19 56:257:277:4
117:25118:4,5 | establishments | exact 84:22 77:8,10,13,14
130:22 148:19 189:19 | exactly 47:19 78:10 80:23
entitled 48:10 | estate 38:13,19 57:17 72:2 81:25 82:10,15
48:13,19 estimated 74:6 175:14 89:5,6 90:3,23
entrance 46:4 110:17 179:7 187:25 91:1,9,1993:11
116:14 119:2 estimates 23.8 193:2 194.22 93:1494:4
132:24 133:8 23:8 examined 9:19 96:25 97:19,21
134:25 1373 estimating 23:1 19:17 36:17,22 98:23 99:6,25
152:6,11 et 9510 37:252:17 102:13103:11
153:11,22,22 ev 40:2187:17 75:5 124:13 111:23112:3
192:15 90:12 118:9,12 126:5161:11 120:3,4 150:21
entries 111:16 | evening 4:25 example 101:23  154:9,17,20
entry 83:11 9.6 10:4,12 129:22 155:6 165:16
environmental 20:6 30:18 excavations 165:17
4.24 48:12 32:19 335 134:7 exhibits 34:12
49:20 110:16 37.845:2 exceed 98:15 34:16 35.6
129:13 52:24 100:10 181:22 190:11 47:21 119:18
envision 134:14 | 125:24132:15 | excellent 132:8 119:21
equipment 161:1 180:20 excess 109:19 exist 78:23
26:23 59:25 181:3 182:2 116:3 existing 3.9
65:1,1 93:8 191:10 exchange 65:1 56:7,18,19
154:5 event 135:23 exciting 125:10 57:13,18,20
eric 1:19142:1 141:21 excluding 58:2,4,6,8
187:22 193.6 eventually 98:10 59:12,14 63:21
199:2,17 140:17 excuse 43:10 65:21 73:4
es 1994 everybody exhaust 147:15 78:3,11,21,24
especially 138:14 197:25 147:16,20 79:4,17 80:10
72:13 129:23 everyone's exhibit 3:3,5,6 80:20,24 81:5
135:21 140:16 33:11 3:7,9,10,11,12 81:10,11 82:4,8
148:16 3:14,15,17 82:8 83:10,16
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[existing - feet] Page 22
83:16,17 84:18 | expecting 179:3  facing 61:19 fashionable
84:25 85:23 experience 46:9 | 62:25196:9,13 37:18
86:5 87:20,22 134:10 141:14 196:15 favor 44:24
88:11,20 89:5 181:14 fact 29:12 31:8 52:771:12
92:394:21 experienced 34:17,2150:24 74:17 125:18
96:6,9,11,16,17 | 169:13,20 114:11 128:17 150:13171:18
96:20,20 97:1 | experiences 158:20 198:12 | fba 14:16,25
98:4 103:9 33:2 factor 181:20 fdcs 152:16
108:6 128:14 expert 111:10 |factored 114:11 feature 39:24
128:23 129:4,7 127:6 136:16 172:23 feel 31:10,11
130:15 144:13 171:21 factoring 172:3 110:8 153:13
174:2 experts 34:10 172:4 156:11 181:9

exists 57:11 34:19,20 42:10 | factors 146:19 182:17 183:10
58:18 85:4 183:17,19 facts 131:7 feelings 46:15
89:17 100:15 explain 57:12 fade 120:19 feet 10:20,20
103:17 190:10 77:15147:14 fair 106:15,15 20:13,14 24:11

exit 46:4 66:13 179:17 189:21 107:6 122:5 24.20 34:25,25
66:17,18 101:6 | explained fairly 100:13 35:138:12,23
112:1 134:12 110:15 fall 96:5 41:20,21 54:12
137:3170:1 explicitly 195:4 | falls 110:7 56:12,12,13
172:23173:8 explore 106:13 @ familiar 181:1 57:6,7,14,24
190:10 192:15 106:24 183:23 185:2 58:23,23,25

exit's 66:19 extension 198:6 far 17:1566:6 59:1161:1,1,18

exiting 94:12 extra 137:2 71:16 110:21 61:20,20 78:15
112:4 170:4 138:16 116:3 123:4 78:16 82:19,22

expand 125:3 f 129:11 132:25 83:985:11,18
expanded 41.8 f 16920 133:11,18 86:21,23,24

expanding 60:9 face 512 134:12 1378 87:589:15

expect 6:1 faces 67'598:2 144:18 148:13 91:2594:11
114:9129:18 facilities 9517 152:16 156:20 96:17 105:22
129:22 169:4 172:19 164:14 170:8 105:22 107:3,5

expected 50:12 facility 148:9 170:21 176:24 112:16,21
168:24 177:19 178:16 113:5,7,7,8,12

180:5,7 190:18 114:3123:4

800-227-8440

Veritext Lega Solutions

973-410-4040




[feet - fondacar o] Page 23
135:11 144:3,5 | filtration 31:18 32:17 flood 82:6
152:22 154:25 147:19 33.6 35:13 94.17
155:18,18,18 final 32:21 36:15,20,25 floor 11:11
170:3178:3 67:22,23 68:10 41:6 52:15 12:18,23 21:14
190:9 70:12 72:12 60:15 75:3 22:16 59:20

fewer 97:8 187:18 93:2 109:12,22 60:16 67:21,24
fiedld 40:15 finalized 46:25 122:11 124:11 70:13,17 78:14
79:19,21 84:18 | finally 142:20 151:8 161.9 82:25
85:21 88:15,25 175:8 167:2 184:23 floorplan 3:3
106:6 financially 195:11197:10 | florida 54:7
fields 86:6,17 199:15200:11 | fit 41:566:16 flow 40:13
86:18 find 5:16 93:25 70:2072:2 60:14 86:1
fifteen 40:4 108:5 190:21 116:19 90:194:12
160:8 176:11 fine 100:10 fithess 88:9 151:10,16
182:24 112:11 184:10 137:8 138:10 focus 161:3
fight 142:16 193:3 145:25180:14 | focused 30:25
figure 159:1 finish 32:23 181:1,6 46:14
177:14 183:14 fits 33:12,12 follow 110:20
figured 70:8 finished 82:25 | five 17:885:12 153:23 193:7
89:24 fire 3:16,17 87.5114:24 194:5 195:9
filed 34:1548.7 17:15,16,20 125:1,8,10 followed
fill 68:24 99:10 25:25 26:17 159:24 182:4 164:15
99:12,14,16 34:9 124:2 fix 110:5 following 40:4
112:22 113:10 135:5,6 150:20 | fixed 142:17 66:24
156:25 157:1,4 151:9,16,19 fixtures 91:24 | follows 9:19
filled 82:24 152:20 154:17 101:11 102:25 19:17 36:17,22
95:2 157:8,10 154:19158:16 | flagged 68:16 37:252:17
filler 113:2 158:19,23,23 flat 83:25 75:5124:13
filling 68:23 firetruck flatten 84:24 161:11
69:3 82:21 158:20 fleming's 149:6 | fondacaro 2:9
99:15 157:12 firm 32:15 flexibility 4:4,6,8,11,13
157:14 75:19,20 156:14 4:15,17,20,22
filter 195:2 first 2:149:17 | flips 135:18 7:6,8,11,14,16
9:22 19:15 7:18,20,22,24
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[fondacaro - further] Page 24
8:9,11,13,16,18 | foregoing 199:3 | 139:16 140:6 81:7 83:15,20
8:20,22,24 9.1 199:4 200:4 152:2,3 164:18 84.6,7,18,23
10:218:11,13 | forget 84:22 169:22 85:22 87:2
18:15,18,20,22 90:14 112:24 fox 9:7 88:10 89:11,12
18:2419:1,3 165:16 fpc 156:21,23 91:2395:1
27:18,20,22,25 forgive 86:19 frame 62:2 102:7 106:6,6
28:2,4,6,8,10 118:8 frames 62:3 108:6 122:15
197:17,24 forgot 89.7 francisco 54:8 123:5137:12
198:17 153:8 frank 2:134:15 151:21 153:12

food 50:1486:1 | form 22:16 7:318:8 25:17 153:14,15
147:14 148:19 78:3146:11 52:6 67:13 155:15,17
148:22 formal 99:17 71:11118:21 156:9,12,22,22

foods 43:15 formally 83:24 150:12 171:17 196:1,2

foot 34:542:4 | former 58:13 frankie 52:14 frontage 80:16
61:21 87:4 142:21 52:20 81:183:14
91:496:24,24 | formerly 59:10 | frequency 73.3 119:5
97:1,9122:20 60:16 frequently full 9:21 19:19
122:20,23 forth 24:17,19 179:8 34:15 35:15
129:22 144.:2 160:23 fresh 41:18,22 37:652:19
144:14,16,16 fortunately 51:454:11,14 72:175.6
154:25 156:12 193:5 56:7,10 57:21 79:10,13
156:13190:12 forward 33:18 58:7,10 59:12 124:15 1429

footage 24.17 41:15 45:7,10 59:14 65:5 161:12 180:11
24:20 176:3 84:5 85:2 79:19 80:2,17 191:12
177:25178:3 92:18,19 82:2083:10 fully 34:1540:8

footcandle 110:24 125:22 119:1,10 137:5 40:9 42:14
100:19 139:20 140:16 137:11 159:9,9 74:2,5170:5

footcandles 150:18 1917 159:10 175:24 | function 182:1
100:23 found 165:3 176:7 17712 further 11:19

footprint 58:18 167:12 169:11 179:6 181:10 11:23 21:23
82:19 83:9 founded 38:21 | friday 21:16 26:8 67:9
96:19 four 11:917:8 | front 53:23 113:23 146:16

forbid 135:6,18 62:13,14 63:25 54.13 56:15 150:1198:12

85:12 139:5,15 61:1962:1 199:12 200:9

800-227-8440

Veritext Lega Solutions

973-410-4040




[furthered - going] Page 25
furthered 53:3 | generalities ginger 32:10 148:1,13
future 5:196:3 180:17 give 9:12 137 149:11,12

72:21 818 generate 22:20 30:22 150:16 153:12
165:25 166:3 104:20 31:4 36:4,5 153:22 158:11
166:20 169:15 | generated 50:10 75:11 158:13 160:6
169:17,21 99:16 76:25 78:17 167:23 168:24
175:19176:15 | generating 81:10 125:5,10 168:24 169:14
176:16 104:21 114:10 156:3,4 161:12 169:20 173:10
g gener ation 161:25 183:13 178:14,19
g 4:137:13 167:12 168:12 183:20 195:22 182:1,2,5 185:4
gail 32:15 172:7_ _197:18,25 185:24 188:6
50:17 107:24 generations given 30:15 189:6 191:23
127:3 1425 189:20 128:16 147:13 195:2
154:10 197-14 | 9enerous 174:5,24 goals 29:25
gail's 166:14 143:19 gives 128:23 102:21
gallon 168:1 gentleman 156:13 god 135:6,18
. 64.18 71:16 glenwood goddard 146:2
gallons 110:17 .
gander 186:18 getting 80:25 53:25 192_:3
186:21 110:13129:23 | go 5:11 30:4,18 | godwin 43:7
garbage 131:5 142:13 153:18 31:7 337 goes 57:861:11
152:18 167:25 168:1 34:11 45:8 76:2577:1
gas 5:6 176:7 179:5 47:15 49:9,15 133:1173:18
general 11:4,6 192:14 194:11 65:12 68:12 173:20 196:18
13:17.23.95.95 giant 158:14 71:2,22 80:2 going 5:259:9
20:21’21;11’ gibbons 124:2 81:24 85:21,23 17:24 19:11
936 50:23 124:5,10,16,16 86:16 87:13,15 21:8 22:24
61:24 64:12 124:18 125:4,6 90:8,8 99:2 24:2 25.6
67-19 131°5 150:17,23 100:22 105:21 26:11,16 29:2
144:20 166:9 151:2,6 155:7 106:11 107:21 31:12,13 32:7
166:10,19 155:10,13,25 108:13 113:5 35:10 36:10
187:2 191:18 156:6,19 114:13 119:25 40:1,10,12
194:21 157:24 1588 120:20 131.22 41:20,23 42:10
159:8 132:14,20 45:25 46:3,5
136:23 144:24 48:3 49:9 50:8
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[going - gruber] Page 26
53:16 57:16 146:2,3,6 170:17 186:17 49:23 53:25
62:22 642 147:21,23,24 186:18 193:5 67:18 68:7,20
65:20 66:18 150:2,19,24 198:17 69:2,8,13,19,21
68:9,10,24 72:2 | 152:25153:21 | goose 186:18 69:24 70:2,4,10
73:778:2 154:3 157:2,15 186:20 70:1571:4
81:17 84:4 158:8,10,12 gooseneck 84:14 89:20
86:9 87:25 159:15,16 101:23 91:4 101:19,20
95:2,21 104:23 160:1,6,11,15 | governing 120:5 159:5
106:2,10 168:1 169:6,6,7 | 127:10 173:7,24
107:10 109:10 169:8 171:13 grab 108:21 174:24 18418
109:13,14,17 173:9,16,17 grade 57.7 greene 2:10
110:4,13 175:12,25 58:2259:1,2,3 | grocer 41:19
111:11,11,16 176:5 178:18 59:12 60:16 84.6 90:8
111:16,17 178:21179:3 61:1 82:25 104:21 167:14
112:17,21,22 179:14 180:8 84:16 85:1 169:6,8
114.9,25 181:14 1828 86:25 106:16 grocery 41:18
116:14 118:23 183:11,11 106:19 107:9 96:1597:19
119:8 120:2,14 184:22,22 108:6 122:24 104:19 115:3
120:20 121:1,3 187:8 188:11 123:20 176:18,19,21
121:7,10,11,15 194:10195:11 | grades 89:23 177:7 178:24
121:17 124:7 195:12 197:6,9 169:19 179:14 180:7
125:1,7,13 golf 105:23,23 | grading 83:18 181:7
126:13,18,20 good 9:610:3 122:25 gross 24:22
126:20,23,24 22:14 28:15,16 | grand 159:14 78:14
129:17 132:24 32:4,14 37:8 185:14 ground 59:20
133:1,8,12,12 49:9,2551:21 | granted 70:12 | groundwater
133:18 135:7,9 52:1,1960:19 | grease 74:1 121:7
136:13 137:7,8 64:1,565:13 131:18,23 group 65:14
137:18 139:20 71:5,17 72:6 great 196:23 grove 134:10
139:24 140:12 74:11 86:25 greater 42:10 growth 166:9
140:15 142:17 106:25 107:21 88:6 178:5 166:10,19
142:18 143:13 108:8 125:24 greatest 193:15 gruber 2:64.6
144:7,8,20 132:15139:10 | green 36:11,24 4:76:9,107:8
145:3,4,21,22 151:3 152:20 37:4 49:16,19 7:98:11,12

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[gruber - hi] Page 27
12:11,1216:4,8 | 169:7 180:8,22 | happening 161:1,4 163:18
18:13,14 22:12  gyms 181:25 22:24 846 163:21,23
24:1 27:20,21 h 87:23 134:15 171:24 178:15
44:6 109:8 . . happens 189:5193:9
110:2,7,23 h 6:1%:.;212.521121 135:18 139:22 | hearing 5.6
148:3,20,23 hair 5;3:11 13 157:24 173:14 6:18 7.5 8:8
149:1,4,7,10,13 half 53 17’ 173:14 18:10 27:17
149:20,24 83:17 87'5 happy 35:14 28:18 29:11,14
150:5,7 157:20 121:4 160:13 37:8,9,20139:8 | 30:131:2
157:22 158:5 184:21 155:23,24 32:17 44.24
158:25 159:21 hampshire 54:7 156:15 196.6 160:11,16

guard 102:6 hand 911 45:7 198:17,19 161:4 183:15

guess 43:23 24:24 110:22 hatched 84:7 188:16 197:7
70:10 114:5 125:22 186'8 hate 142:12 hears 29:16
127:16,18,19 1888 hazard 82:6 heavily 178:24
129:16 138:19 handicap 115:8 94:18 157:5 heavy 165:7,8
138:22 154:3 116:2 hazardous height 34:24
163:12 175:21 handicapped 185:19 35:256:957.6
177:5178:17 123:9 140:11 he'll 5:18 16:6 58:2,361:1,18
179:1181:1 handle 5:15 191:14 61:22 96:13,15
182:7,9,17 25:19 157-3 head 136:2 heights 152:1
183:9191.6 handled 136:8 heading 69:4 held 30:1
192:25 handlers 63:16 hear 9:1313:12 | helicopter

guidance 35:2 63:22 38:140:11 160:18

guide 120:14 handrail 102:6 50:9 124.25 hello 38:5,5

guides 144:24 102:11 160:2,13 help 55:590:10

guys 38:1 handrails 1025 161:16 183:18 144:25
122:13 146:22 happen 129:18 183:18 helpful 89:25
178:8 180:15 140:3 145:18 heard 30:21 helps 89:22
183:10 184:5 happened 31:8 32:4 45.9 90:18,19 95:11

gym 88:9103:9 142:15 173:21 53:24 76:13 hereto 199:14
114:18 118:13 187-25 188:9 77:24 110:20 200:11
135:2 1534 112:18117:10 | hi 132:16 143:9
159:13 168:24 124:3 146:12 171:22 175:9

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[hi - improvements] Page 28
191:8,11 honestly 181:15 howell 162:24 | immediately
high 11:739:16 | honey 109:20 hurt 46:16 11:1 20:19
41:6 61:20 honeygrow 145:19 imminent
87:4 106:17 42:6 57:4 huseynov 4:17 192:5
145:23 61:22 70:8 hydrant 151:19 impact 48:13
higher 113:21 71:22 86:22,23 151:20 152:10 49:20 60:13
114:8 149:18 hopefully 32:23 | 158:17,20 73:15110:16
177:2180:21 158:22 187:1 hydrants 134:8 136:13
highest 56:10 hoping 191:16 151:24 156:22 170:21
56:11 57:7 hopping 146:4 158:3,17 impacted
61:2 horton 6:1 hydrocarbons 188:12
highlands 76:5 | horton's 5.9 95:9 Impacting
highway 90:15 | hot 157:23 i 147:17
hill  43:4,5 158:1,5,13,14 | . . Impervious
109:6 159:17,17 'dfgz:gg'z 95:11 96:10
hip 150:25 hour 134:3 ideal 39:9 implement
historic 95:15 146:3 160:13 127:24 12711
historical 63:10 | 165:21,21,22 identification import 99:13
hit 151:20 166:18 168:19 11:13 35:17 important 32:2
hits 151:12 180:19,20 56:3 77°5.11 81:4,5 98:6
158:20 181:23189:15 | go.16 91:’2 110:9
hmm 146:8 189:16,18 93:15 99:7 Impossible
hoa 142:22 190:6 150:22 154:21 1354
hold 37:2450:8 | hours 21:15 identifies 57-2 improve 40:17
51:19 62:17 50:13 134:1,6 identify 12:3 40:17 41:3
64.20,20 75:15 137:15,18 999 4.9 4224 80:8 102:21
120:2,5121:11 165:3,19,20,23 56:2i’L ’105: 5 improved
126:14 168:11 174:4 125:22 40:2351:16
holidays 37:9,9 180:13 198:15 illuminated Improvement
197:18198:18 | house 139:3 61:10 68:5 104.6
198:19 housekeeping immediate 108:10
home 167:25 92:23 80:12 188:7 Improvements
homes 152:14 | how's 99:3 51:17 84:4
135:8,11 92:7,23
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[inch - intersection] Page 29
inch 61:21 incredibly ingress 40:13 intends 10:20
158:2 134:12 116:21 10:24 20:13,17
inches 61:20,23 | increments inherently 22:17
61:25 62:3 176:11 144:17 intensities
78.6 indicated 11:18 | initial 3:535:8 94.21,22
include 29:4 21:14 113:22 35:25 48:23 intent 63:13,19
46:2 99:22 indicates 10:22 76:13 164.6 111:19
192:25 20:15,18,20 input 143:4 intention 60:9
included 47:21 21:17 inside 153:1 111:21,23
55:890:591:7 | indicating ingpection 6:21 112:5 119:7
91:10,20 99:18 22:17 25:947:6,13 intentions
100:19 104:8 individual installation 138:11
118:11,14 94:16 196:19 11:5 interest 6:19
165:4 industry 98:11 | installed 29:10 62:4
including 40:13 | 98:15 144:3 133:25 160:11 171:11
40:18,21,24 147:8 167:10 installing 134:4 | 198:2
41:9,25 62:14 177:21,23 institute 98:12 | interested
75:2378:14 178:1,6 181:10 127:8 167:11 199:15 200:12
80:2 162:9 181:12,18 168:13172:6 interfere 101.5
incor porate 182:9 183:7 172:17 190:1 129:2,5 130:12
169:3 inefficient instructs interior 89:19
incor por ated 144:17 104:14 interject
118:12 147:19 | infill 83:8 intake 14:18 142:12
172:25 infiltration intelligent internal 168:23
Incor porates 121:6 184:1 169:1,6
166:5,23 info 42:12 intended 10:16 | interrupt 46:6
incor porating informally 40:2 | 11:613:10 54:17 140:20
167:17 infor mation 20:8 21:10,13 146:7 186:10
increase 51:18 29:450:21 22:22 29:18 187:9
73:394:23 66:6 99:19 61.7 72:25 intersect 80:18
116:6 166:18 135:1173:22 102:2 inter section
168:19 19418 intending 85:22 | 79:1580:18
increased infrastructure 116:12 85:8 128:13,24
134:14 166:13 40:24 151:15 129:12 141:16
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[inter section - joseph] Page 30
164:20 170:14 179:3 53:12,25 72:9 104:23 105:18
170:16 173:18 | it'd 85:24 75:17,22 76:3 106:2 107:2
176:9 it'll 59:17 82:6 162:6,19 108:18 111:22

Inter sections 107:14 191:16 162:20,24 112:8,11 114:6
85:8 164:18,21 197:18 163:10 166:12 114:12,17
164.24 169:22 | ite 98:14 199:19 115:9,12,15
175:18 176:14 114:14,23 jmc 3:748:.8,11 116:2,5119:11
176:25177:4 167:11 168:9 48:14,20 75:20 129:19 131:24

introduce 168:10,20 76:24 132:3139:8
31:14 125:2 item 156:23 job 1:205:6 141:21 145:23
150:16 items 355785 33:1064:1 146:1 153:6,14

Introduced 82:2 183:23 100:11 110:3 157:16 171:25
85:16 iteration 39:25 158:22 172:2,8,10

introduction iterations 40:2 | joe 16:2125:12 175:25176:2
40:20 j 37:10,21,24 177:11178:9

inventory : : 38:842:16 178:11,23
14:18 Jagg:sfg ville 44:12 59:8 179:9180:13

Investment january 160:16 66:23 69:17 181:11 182:3
38:20 197-10.11 105:7 116:11 185:15 188:25

invoices 23:8 1984 ’ joe's 41:1950:3  191:23192:3

involved javid 4:17 50:4,5,1351:3 195:17
128:11 142:19 jeanne 2:99:25 51:6,7,9,12 joes 135:13
193:6 jeff 124:7 54:.1356:8,11 | john 2:3,8,12

iIsand 84:15,16 jeffery 124:10 56:12,22 57:14 4:4,13,22 16:18
84:2590:17 12416 58:7,17 59:13 18:8 24.7
153:16 156:1 jen 191:11 60:15 61:5,17 44:10,22,22

Idands 97:16 jersey 10:11,11 62:15 63:12 66:3 71:19

Issuance 11:1 20:5 32:17 ’ 67:171:23 113:25 115:6
20:19 258 37-2338:10 83:11,12,15,21 125:17 138:6

Issue 185:12 39:5 42:23 83:23 85:20 150:12
194:23 43247813 86:1 88:12 joseph 2:14

issued 164:7 43:1’4 16 1’7 02:4,8 95:1,3 4:18 36:14

issues 124:21 50:25’53; 510 96:21 100:21 37:9
151:8 178:16 ’ 103:9 104:2,20

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[journey - land] Page 31
journey 12318 | 168:22180:23 | 143:12,18 66:20 71:9
judicial 29:15 = 181:3195:5 144:23 145:2 74:14 109:4
july 188:17 kindly 45:7 145:15 146:2 184.7,12
jurisdiction 191:7 146:22 156:7,8  kpmg 139:20

128:791515 | kinnelon 4312 | 156:20,21 140:16 174:23
170:11 173:6 43:12 766 157:1,5159:15 | kraft 39:2
192:23 162:24 165:12 169:24 |
jurisdictions kitchen 66:17 170:13,19,19 . .
31:20 66:18 147:15 172:20 173:24 | 7357:;31:1%(’)1;275'9
justification knew 108:20 174:1 176:3,6 1100 3119115
183:7 157:7 176:10,24 oL 16
" knock 156:25 | 177:7101122 1,00 280190
Kk 5721804 know 17:15 179:7 180:7,8 100:13.19
1370 202420813 | 180211828 | 1,00 10913
keep 62:2364:1 34:5 45:22,25 186:19 187:23 labd 132
o511 9513 66:61160:10 | 189:6190:20 | &l pog
128221451 | (011786 191:13,15 92:11 154:10
1810 18640 81:22 84:10 19221197:12 | |y oo
10695 86:14 89:8 197:24 oo
keeping 118:23 =~ 20:89LIL Tknowing 6523 || 44 153:35
kept 128:16 92141494113 | 6525 153:9 156:7
kevin 191420 @ 92139818  knowledge lake 32:17
296 105:11 108:1 63:10 137:25 43:13 71:20
(i 1305 109:25110:15 | 199:9 200:6 o0 1497 15
146'1 118:8,22 122:6 | known 10:17 142:24 185’:2
Killed 185:7 123:6124:6,19 | 20:941:13 191:12 192:12
kim 1:191992 & 1242212617+ 50:4 193:21 196:6
199:17 127:1128:16 koelling 2:7 4.9 196:25
kind 30:2 64:13 128:19 130:4 4:107:1,12,13 lakes 4314
90:21110:7,24 | 130:16132:6 814151816 | g 33:1342:7
116:18 119:4 133:20 134:15 18:17 23:23 53:9 76'2
123:4126:3 ﬁg; éllflﬂ_s i; :1))2&_;2?’524 127:21 162:10
145:22 154:7 Ta2aets | ceageasiy | 1621817289
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[land - lin€'s] Page 32
172:12 lead 142:1 61:22 67:19 142:10,23
landing 160:18 | leading 174:23 91:12 98:23 143:1173:11
landlord 12:23 | leaning 142:13 110:19,22 185:15 186:6
13:538:14 lease 24:16,17 112:14 120:3 194:11 196:16
landscape 68:3 124:20 125:3 196:18
97:12 leases 42:17,18 150:20,24 lighting 3:8
landscaping 105:10 151:9,13 154:9 40:22 41:1
3:11 40:25 leave 80:5 169:19 61:12 78:5
78:579:16,18 85.14 116:17 letters 47.7,9 91:.2092:2,3
79:22 89:11 197:23 61:25110:4,5 100:13,14,16
90:2397:15,21 | leaving 88:2 111:2 141:8 101:10,17,22
131:13 116:23126:21 | level 39:16 102:4,17,18,25
lane 83:4 88:19 155:6 59:22,24 60:10 103:6 109:5
129:6 170:1,3,4 | led 40:2191:24 60:16 78:16,19 | lights 91.23
170:6 190:13 196:22 170:17 174:2,3 92:9,10,11,18
lanes 79:1 leds 103:2 174:25 101:17,18,23
88:20 144.25 196:19 levels 100:19 101:25 102:1
145:4 147:3,4 | left 26:24 55:4 101:1 169:12 102:10,10,11
187:19 67:489:5 169:18,21 102:12 185:22
large 100:13 90:24 116:14 175:18 176:8,9 195:10 196:8
113:17 134:13 153:12 176:13 196:11,19
larger 24:13 155:4 170:4,5 | lexington likely 126:21
96:21 173:10 186:8 102:14 103:5 153:21
lastly 98:3 190:13194:11 | liaison 2:7 limit 30:20 31:9
late 161:24 lefthand 185:3 | license 53:7 112:5 126:24
18421 188:23 185:20,24 licensed 53:5,6 | limited 27:1
law 10:11 20:5 187:5 75:16 162:6,7 60:15 79:17,21
33:13 length 132:21 163:9 105:1
lay 151:21,22 135:12 144:22 | life 40:773:14 | line 56:7,18
152:14 190:12,18 light 46:379:14 | 57:19,22 96:25
layout 24:9,12 | lesser 174:1 92:12,13,16,17 178:18 179:12
66.7 67:24 176:3 92:18,19 101:1 187:11
68:11 128:6 letter 3:18 102:2,13,14,15 | line's 191:24
145:22 170:6 33:20 49:8 141:16 142:6
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[lined - louder] Page 33
lined 57:17 llc 1:39:510:10 | locks 108:14 177:22 181:18
lines 46:11 10:14 12:12 locust 109:20 185:19 193:15
lintner 2:44:11 13:9 20:7 logistics 99:20 | looks 25:3

4:12 5.4 6.6 28:19 long 17:637:21 32:2533:1
7:14,15 8:4,5 load 112:7 132:23 133:20 121:25 144:14
8:17 16:15 loading 40:14 134:11 144:16 | loop 153:11
18:18,19 27:14 42:150:12 160:5 171:23 looping 153:20
27:2528:1 79:25 92:7 192:6 losing 159:6
55:10,13 74:15 111:21 112:6 longer 103:5 lot 5:239:4
111:5,10,14 local 39:13 190:21 10:17 20:10
112:10,20 located 39:2 look 5:2584:4 28:18 40:23
113:1,6,11,15 43:6 58:10 89:397:20,25 42:9,12 45:24
113:20 125:16 74:1 84:2 879 98:1 102:25 57:358:172:3
197:13 87:19 92:9 103:1 108:24 82:8 84:15
list 2:235:15 97:2 115:12 110:1 116:24 86:2087:1
39:15 76:25 151:20 123:1,6 130:9 89:19 91:22,25
listen 30:6 locating 152:18 139:17 174:7 96:8 100:14
literally 138:9 | location 13:16 176:8,15 101:16,17
138:10 149:16 14:22,23 17:2 178:11 180:16 102:11 105:2
litner 8:16 24:11 26:12,13 195:5,23 109:14 114:6
little 38:6 39:20 26:14 81:12 looked 110:10 114:10,13,13
51.655:1 83:24,25 86:13 115:22,23 114:25 126:2
85:13 114:7 87:17 88:22 154:23 165:2 126:21 129:22
121:24 122:19 92:4 105:21 165:18,20 133:1,16 136:4
123:3129:17 129:5 131:23 167:8 170:22 138:13 145:22
144:19,21 152:3 159:18 177:25 189:1 145:24 146:22
153:17 157:6 177:13 178:6 looking 24:9,11 152:14 156:11
live 46:2071:20 | locations 39:9 42:1354:13 177:12179:11
92:15 125:25 170:21 172:16 63:20 80:8,22 179:16 183:23
132:17 135:1 191:2 94:20 97:13 184:22 192:4
138:7 139:15 lock 105:24 103:11,16 194:12
140:4 107:10 108:20 110:19 114:15 | lots 178:11
lives 64:14,18 | locking 106:2,8 128:17 151:9 louder 38:6
106:9 109:1 159:2 173:4
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[low - master] Page 34
low 56:19 101:1 158:3,18 makes 107:11 193:3,12,19,22
140:2 mains 158:2 120:24 122:7 193:25 194:3,9
lower 59:22,24 | maintain 14:17 123:2 194:15 195:8
60:10 86:17 39:642:753.:7 | making 39:12 195:21,25
189:23 maintenance 41:942:2 196:5,13,20,23
lower case 120:18,22 84:21,21926 | mark 76:23
61:22,24 major 38:24 96:11 108:7 99:3 150:19
lunch 123:11 69:4 98:21 115:1 116:22 marked 11:12
lunchtime 112:13 122:12 147:3 11:20 12:17
180:19 majority 99:14 153:9154:1 21:14,21 35:6,8
m 99:15 130:7 155:3179:16 35:16 56:2
. . 147:6 187:4,10 76:12 77:4,10
mlgéz).2213512(:).2%,2 make 16:446:1 mall 54:871:24 7714 82:15
ma'am 143:8 46:4 50:23 159:12 91:193:14
made 65 33:2 60:8 69:10 management 98:2599:1,6
33:340:6.6 76:13 80:5 3:1234:641:1 150:21 154:20
4710575 88:23 90:22 48:19 89:14,21 171:5
80:13 81:2 91:392:16 89:24 93.5,6,9 | market 37:22
86:311 929 104:22,25 94:4,6 121:1 38:9 39:4
98:20 103:3 110:1 111:19 manager 23:3 41:18,22 51:4
138'11 1612 113:19 121:2 manhattan 54:11,14 56:7
magitech 9:5 121:14 122:2 75:16 56:1057:22
10:10 12:9 129:10 134:13 | manual 40:18 58:7,11 59:9,12
13:9.18 135:4,9 153:14 167:12 172:7 59:14 60:7
magnitude 153:18 155:4 manufacturer 65:5 69:18
113:4 155:19,20 14:4,5,15,16 79:19 80:2,17
mah 126 156:2,14 157:3 | manufacturer's 82:2083:10
main  12:8 157:9174:11 154:23 105:8 119:2,10
14:24 40'10 175:22 181:17 | map 139:17 137:6,11 159:9
78:12.16,19 185:11,20,24 marc 161:8,14 159:10 175:24
70:20 8618 186:8 194:23 161:18,25 176:7 177:13
126:3,21 130:6 195:1 197:22 margolis 191.8 179:7 181:10
130:19 156:12 198:7 191:11,12 master 6:5,6
192:18,21,24 109:21
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[matched - missed] Page 35
matched meeting 1:15:1  mention 82:3 midblock
195:25 6:2330:11,15 89:790:14 130:11
materials 56:22 | 31:333:18 170:20 midday 165:22
61:4 44.20 52:3 mentioned 189:17
math 113:19 71:8 74:13 45:25 46:24 middle 42:4,5
matter 10:13 124:1 125:14 51:16 56:4 58:14 79:7,9
20:7 147:25 150:10 60:24 63:6 81:1103:25
mayor 184:14 171:14 197:16 68:21 73:13 119:5151:18
184:16 198:4,5,13,16 85:596:14 152:7
mayor's 2:8 meetings 163:5 112:15113:10 | midland 43:6,7
140:3 197:1 114:2,23 midst 188:1
mean 70:16 member 2:12 126:17 128:25 | mike 17:12
106:2 118:8 2:134:87:11 134:24 157:22 26:10
123:19 127:4,9 8:1312:8 165:13,15 milk 168:1
136:22 137:24 18:15 27:22 166:25 169:15 | million 38:12
182:14 30:12 45:5 170:7 178:10 38:23
meaning 88:6 131:17 136:21 179:19,25 mind 62:23
means 68:23 142:21 191:17 180:3 189:8 99:13
99:12 100:24 members 6:13 190:1 195:10 minded 197:3
144:2 6:16,18 8:2 mentioning mine 54:24
measure 90:15 23:21 30:7,10 143:13 107:13,17,20
measur ed 30:19 31:23 merchandising | minimize 134:8
144:12 43.23 45:1 39:12 minimizes 88:2
mechanical 52:2355:3 mess 122:7 minimum
41:2 72:11 64:10 75:12 met 34:21 152:22 181:18
mechanism 77:25108:3 193:17 181:19
109:1 127:17 125:20 135:3 metal 61:6 minuscule
mediated 160:10,12 meter 157:25 143:24
142:20 161:2,3162:1 | methodologies minute 68:15
meese 32:16 163:18,19 134:19 164:16 125:1,8
meet 5:21 6.6 171:12 184:14 | metro 38:24 minutes 6:22
45:20,21 51:24 198:1 microphone 8:1125:11
91:11 97.22 memor andum 31.25 missed 66:1
158:4 91:13 171:1
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[misses - name] Page 36
misses 121:20 50:2,2551:15 181:2 182:1,2,4 | moxie 58:14
mix 41:14 51:21,24 62:5 182:4,5 188:23 59:10 60:17
mixed 138:12 64:11,21 65:15 189:10 multiple 33:5

159:9 71:17 72:8,17 | motion 6:238:3 | 44:2552:8
mm 1468 73:1,8,13,25 18:6 27:11 71:1374:18
mml| 3:777:1 74:8 100:17 44:1952:2 125:19 136:5
mobility 141:17 128:15134:23 71:8 74:12 142:8 150:11
modern 41:4 135:17 136:10 125:15 150:10 150:14 159:17
modernize 40:7 136:17 137:2 171:14 161:21 162:22
modifications 137:17,20,22 motor 95:7,8 171:16,19

164.2 138:1 139:16 motorists 101:5 municipal 1:11
modified 154:4 142:25 1435 mount 156:8 33:13183:19
modifying 147:13,24 mounted 63:17 | municipalities

81:13 182:25 148:7,15 102:10 162:22 163:6
moment 89:14 149:18 150:4,6 | move 9:331:12 182:25
monday 21:15 150:20 154:17 55:4 649 municipality
monitoring 154:19182:11 moved 6:258:4 148:7

26:12 183:10 184:21 18:7 27:12 murtheh 19:14
montclair 76:6 185:13 188:21 44:21 52:4 19:20,20 21:1
month 5:10 189:21 190:8 71:974:14 22:5,7,8,11,13
month's 5:1 190:23 191:4 125:16 150:11 22:23,25 23:3,7
months 133:6 192:11,12 171:16 23:12,15,19

133:15 141:14 193:5 movement 24:18,21,24

142:22 montval€e's 99:18 25:1,4,21,24
montvale 1:1 34:1127:10 movements 26:2,4,7,13,15

1:11,13 3:15,17 149:19 154:4 79:11 165555 | 26:18,25 274

5.6 10:15 183:12 165:7 190:16 28:14

12:16 17:3 monument movers 66:25 myerson 9:7

19:5 20:8 118:23 119:5 67:6 n

22:15 28:13 moody's 39:8 moving 3:14 1A .

20:19 34:9 moon 121:4 17124694 | arﬁ'el ‘g:lzizz'fl

39:24 41:7 morning 73:4 73:16 97:6 9:22 93 10’:1 10

46:20,23 479 136:12,13 110:23 145:1,2 10:1é 115 ’

47:18,24 48:2 145:17 164:25

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[name - nor mally] Page 37
16:919:19,19 | need 35:18 net 24.2251:17 162:22,24
20:4 24:3 37.6 45:12,14 50:24 89:2399:13 163.6,10
37:12 45:7,13 62:8,10,11 70:1 | 168:17 166:12 167:17
45:14 52:19,19 80:4,5,12 94:15 | network 168:6 167:19 168:2,5
59:6 75.6,7,8 05:23 98:18 never 143:25 168.8,16
119:13 124:15 102:19107:24 | new 3:710:10 172:12 199:19
138:6 161:13 108:22,25 10:11 16:5 newest 155:7
161:13,14,19 110:20 112:14 20:524:1 newsweek

name's 45:16 125:9127:11 28:17 32:17 39:14
132:16 127:14 141:20 34:15 37:23,23 | nice 45:20,21
narrative 78:3 144:1 147:23 38:10,1039:1,3 | 51:24 85:25
nasdaq 38:20 151:14 155:24 40:21 41:13 109:13
nation 38:22 156:1,14 42:2343:2,4,7 | nicely 41.5
national 41:19 159:17 170:10 43:8,12,14,15 | night 28:15,16
nationwide 174:6,7 175:3 43:17 50:25 163:18
39:9 182:12,18,19 53:5,10,12,25 | nine 55:20
nature 11:1 183:11 186:14 54:7 57:10,22 98:23 144:14
13:8 20:19 186:15 57:2561:5 189:10
22:20 23:5 needed 111:1 67:20 72:9 nj 113
26:6 60:1 83.7 112:4 166:16 75:17,18,21 njdep 98:20
87:12 145:6 177:15,17 76:3,19,20,24 | noise 50:25
navigate 90:10 | needs 99:2 82:23 85:2 51:172:10,12
naya 143:23 152:21 87:18 90:20 72:13
near 6:2115:12 | negative 33:12 91:2492:8,16 | non 59:15,17
118:14 110:21 93:8 95:20 noncompliant
nearby 147:18 | neglected 82:3 104:19 112:9 96:16
necessarily neighborhood 114:8 118:1 nonconfor ming
183:4 45:18,25 183:2 119:18,20,20 96:6,9
necessary 5:16 191:20 196:10 129:4 133:22 nonconfor mity
29:25 31:10,11 | neighbors 134:4 146:1 96:11,18 97:10
69:11 45:23 67:6 149:25 152:8 normal 152:16
necessitated neither 199:10 153:23 155:9 198:15
187:4 200:7 155:12 159:14 | normally 158:2
162:6,7,19,20 196:25 1975
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[north - office] Page 38
north 41:21,24 69:584:13 121:14 127:6 160:1 173:19
59:16 79:6 85:15 89:2 nunez 125:24 174:22 181:25
80:11 82:20,23 108:17 192:8 125:24 126:16 196:5 197:7
85:22 87:7 198:13 127:15,18 occasions
95:397:16,22 | noticed 66:12 129:16 130:21 187:24
102:5111:18 105:19 109:12 130:25 132:8 occupied 10:14
137:8 151:23 116:5 134:21 10:16 20:9
152:4,5153:11 | notices 31:19 0 60:17
153:21 172:23 not?cing 192:14 o 1341111 occupies 58:7
185:24 192:15 | noting 33:20 20:19 25:9 occupy 10:20
194:10,24 nova 19:10 52:21 75:9 10:23,25 20:14
northbound 20:4 27:2 161:15.15.19 20:15,18 22:18
185:4 november 161 19’21’21 54:14 58:17
northeast 39:4 33:17 35:13 161:22’22’ 60:15
87:6 48:7,8,12,1517 | Jiyrien ’2:11 occupying
northern 37:23 48:20,21 772 17:13.19.23 12:20
38:10 39:5 91:7 937 26:11’ 16’20 occur 50:15
42:2379:12 162:15 6 11’ 19’37: 4 79:25 80:20
81:25 82:5 number 11:8 49:1 4 120:8.10 81:16 134:2
83:3120:14 11:14,17,21 120: i’L3 17 25’ 136:20 190:17
122:19 123:10 16:9,12 24:3 121 10’13’20 occurred
128:9,13 29:8 56:25 121:23’12,2:6 165:19
136:24,25 57:170:6 122:1217.23 october 6:23
notary 199:18 78:18 84:23 1938 1’6 1’9 odor 147:18
note 35:542:11 85:6,7 90:4 ol ock’ 1’1 4:05 odors 147:15
65:20 80:10 91:11 98:22 182:4.4 147:16 148:11
97:23 98:6 99:9 100:12 obli gati’on 68:3 office 11:4,7
noted 26:19 104:24 106:24 observation 13:17,24 14:1,6
33:6,16 1433 113:17 114:2 66:25 14:7,10 15:3,4
notes 65:19 116:2 140:10 obtain  70:25 17:5 20:22
86:20 90:21 148:5,19 obviously 21:11 23:3
108:6 173:13177:17 102:20 153:23 39:2 55:20
notice 33:16,17 | numbers 86:20 156:21 1571 93:7 138:12
33:18 56:18 112:25113:9 149:12 166:15
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[office - operationsg] Page 39
187:14 46:5,16,17 134:21,22 101:18 114:9
officer 37:22 49:25 50:7,11 136:8,10 118:14 172:14
38:959:9 51:13,19,23,25 137:22 138:3 178:9192:6

69:18 105:8 52:9 55:23 139:10 140:19 | ongoing 170:9
110:3,5192:11 57:16 62:8,17 141:12 1438 online 14:10
199:2 62:19 63:5,5 144:6,10,23 onsite 164:12

officers 39:4 64:1,5,9,20,22 145:13 146.6 164:12

offices 11.8 65:8,9,13 66:9 146:11,14,14 open 31:234:3
16:9 21:12 66:22 67:16 147:10 150:8,9 44:19 64.22
24:9 39:1 69:21 71:5,14 150:15 151:4,5 65:8 71.8

official 2:65:22 | 71:1872:4,4,17 | 154:2 155:13 120:1124:1,1
148:4 74:10,11,21 156:17 159:19 125:14 17112

officials 184:14 76:9,22 78:9,20 |  159:22 160:9 171:13,14

oh 12:721:3 88:17 90:21,22 160:24 161.6 197:3
46:19 6417 93:2394:3 161:23 163:25 | opened 30:12
89:7 93:399:4 96:4 99:8,8 164:10 1719 54.2
113:6 131:3 100:2,8,8 101:4  171:11173:7 opening 42:9
154:14 156:23 101:9 103:7 175:4,6,21 192:4
182:16 185:19 104:18 105:14 177:5178:7,17 | operated 60:5
189:4,6 106:14 107:15 180:1,25 operating

okay 4.246:.8 108:2 109:8 181:22 182:7 23:17 116:24
6:12 9:3 10:3,8 110:2,23 183:8,16,16 174:25
12:1522 13:6,6 | 112:10,11 184:4,6,18 oper ation
15:6,20 16:13 113:1,11,24 185:10,10,22 21:15 46:9
16:2017:11,21 117:6,15,18 186:9,16,24 51:473:12
18:1,3,519:9 118:7 119:15 187:17 188:18 81:15 134:2
19:23 20:2 119:25 120:6 188:19 191.6 oper ational
21:10 23:9,10 120:17 121:13 193:12,23 42:12 120:22
23:16,20 25:6 122:3,4 123:24 194:3,17 195:8 | operationally
26:9,21 27:6,10 123:25 125:4 196:20 198:1 116:17 176:25
28:12,17 32:14 125:13,20 once 34:2133:3 | operations
35:7 36:6,9 126:8,16,16 one's 109:9 13:10 22:21
38:742:20 127:15132:10 | ones 76:19,20 50:21 73:4
44:17 45:1 133:7,14 134:9 80:292:11 79:25 92:8

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[operations - pad]

Page 40

104:11,12,12 113:4 141:17 overall 33:4 owners 141:11
111:22 129:3 177:14 40:22 78:14 178:16
130:12 162:8 orders 15:13 97:2599:10 owns 38:22
170:16 175:17 | ordinance 62:5 104.6,9 115:13 p
operator 51:12 118:16 127:14 115:22,22 , 1o
operators 182:25 123211331 P 15; ; g';izg
81:20 108:18 | ordinances over develop... 161:’15 1921
opinion 30:22 182:22 139:7 16122
65:9 102:24 original 5:11 overfills 138:13 o.m. 1:821:16
130:4 139:9 34:447:14 over flow 181'5.6 189:11
183:14,20 49:22 91:6 100:16 126:20 189:1,2 13
184:3 186:17 102:16 126:24 129:18 198'5 2’1
oppor tunities originally 77:2 138:20 179:4 pack 19311
85:7 89:10 origination overhang package 3:5
opportunity 11:25 21:24 153:15 155:15 34:4 35:8.21.22
29:1330:8,13 | ornamental 155:17,20 1116 Y
30:15,22 39:17 91:8101:14 overhangs packet 55:8
79:18 83:4 102:3 97:14 102:17 packets 63:7
86:16 87:14 outages 140:17 156:9 pad 3:657:2,25
91:5 130:14 outcome overkill 139:9 60:22.92 2 4’
136:2,3 159:3 199:15 200:12 | overnight 61:19,62;1 2
195:1,15 outdoor 11:23 26:24 63:25 71- 2’2
opposed 97:17 21:23 33:22 oversee 38:11 7316 74:2.6
196:9 73:17,22,24 overview 13:8 81:8 85:2 4’
opposite 130:22 | outer 61:11 22:2076:14 86:5.15.19 20
130:23 outlined 91:12 02:22 87:16 8%3: 1’
optic 92:19 outparcel 33:23 | own 42:25,25 90:9 96:14
or3 10:18 20:10 34:24 42:4 43:.2,4,7,9,11 97:14.15 1021
orangetheory outset 42:11 43:13,14,16 102:8 1149
145:16 73:24 68:4,6 118:14 12215
order 29:24 outside 16:12 owner 5.8 131:9 19.21.23
30:5 46:3 54.8 157:4 10:1312:12,24 139:2,8 1’52;8
67:23 80:5 outstanding 20:7 22:10 152:113) 153:23
91:3,10,10 49:11 29:20,22 38:17
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[pad - past] Page 41
167:15 parking 5:23 136:4,4 138:13 97:15 104:6
page 3:255:20 11:15,16,17,18 138:21,22 110:10,10
86:11 88:5 11:19,21,21 140:11 143:13 111:12 119:14
99:9 21:18,19,20,22 143:14,15,16 120:22 133:17
pallet 132:3 21:23 26:24 143:18,23 134:18 135:15
pallets 132:4 40:15,18 41:25 144:1,4,15,17 135:16 139:16
152:18 45:24 50:3,4,5 144:25 145:4,5 140:6 146:23
pam 9:16,22,23 | 57:358:1 145:22,24 167:16,16
10:112:7,10,14 | 60:14 68:7 146:18,20,21 171:6,7 172:15
13:14,17,22,25 70:772:3 146:24 147.3,7 173:5191:16
14:3,5,7,10,14 78:22,23,25 155:4,14 participate
14:2315:4,8,11 | 79:18,21 81:14 156:22 158:6,7 29:14
15:15,1917:48 | 82:883:3 159:6 164:12 particular
19:8 84.15,18 85:21 177:15,17,20 29:11 30:8
panels 61.6 86:6,17,1787:1 | 177:20,21 38:15 46:8
papers 21:4,6,7 87:25 88:15,23 178:1,11,19,22 116:1 127:13
paperwor k 89:8,9,12,19 179:2,4,11,14 148:9 172:16
238 90:12,12 91:22 179:16,18,21 187:12 190:15
parapet 56:15 91:25 96:22,23 179:22,22 particularly
67.1152:25 97:2,3,5,6,9 180:4,5,21 34:1184:14
parapets 63:13 98:3,4,7,8,9 181:17,23,24 105:20
67:2 101:16,17 182:11,18 parties 199:11
pardon 107:18 102:11 103:8 183:1,12 187:6 199:14 200:8
188:13 103:17,22,24 194:12 195:2,9 200:11
parents 146:3 104:1,5,22 195:19,21,22 partner 75:19
park 19:10 105:1 106:6 196:3 partnering
20:4 23:17 109:14 114:1 parks 138:14 180:23
43:6,7 86:10 114:13,17,20 par sippany parts 35:11
104:5,14 115:3,8 117:12 162:25 pass 167:18,19
133:15 135:3 118:12 123:9 parsons 53:3 167:20 168:2,7
182:23 126:17,21,22 part 39:349:23 168:10,12
parked 107:2 126:25 127:9 49:24 59:19 189:22,23,25
135:8 155:14 127:11,13 76:13 92:5 past 167:21
129:20 133:16 93.5,7 95:5 194:16
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[path - photography] Page 42
path 129:25 135:25 147:17 181:23190:17 personal 64:13
paths 40:19 165:7 per centage personally
patrons 42:1 pedestrians 98:1166:11,13 37:20 40:6
pattern 42:8 81:8 87:19 1687 137:15178:13

116:18 90:18 130:15 per centages per spective
patterns 178:20 | peeve 107:12 168:11 33:4177:10
192:9 107:16,19 percentile pervious 89:15
paul 9:510:10 | penalty 51:2 190:16 89:16 94:10
12:913:9 pending 41:16 | perfect 70:4 pet 107:12,16
pave 122:8 people 29:8,9 perfectly 57:18 107:19
paver 11.5 30:14 80:13 performed peter 139:14
pavers 11.6 81:6 84:11 164:11 189:23 184.20
21:2 85:17 86:8,13 | perimeter petroro 161:5,8
paving 40:25 86:14 87:11,25 56:20 61:11,12 161:14,14,18
121:24,25 88:190:10 92:11 100:16 161:18,22
122:8 108:18 109:15 101:25102:1 162:3,20 163:3
pavings 156:13 123:13 130:13 108:19 131:13 163:11,16,20
peak 50:4,15 132:12 138:22 196:12 163:23 164:4,9
94.9 134:6 140:10 141:17 | period 190:7 164:14 1717
135:12 137:15 145:19 149:14 | periods 165:2 171:10172:5
137:18 165:3 169:6 173:9 188:25 189:14 173:2,12
165:19,20,22 174:13182:1,2 | permit 5:15,19 174:14,19
166:18 174.4 182:5 185:7,18 6:2 10:9 16:6 175:16 176:2
180:5,9,13 185:19 192:2 20:3 34:268:2 176:22 177:19
181:3,6,7 192:12,13 69:594:16 178:13179:18
188:22,24 195:16 197:23 05:2398:21 189:1,7,25
189:15,16,20 percent 38:17 121:15 190:12
190:11 51:884:19,22 | permits 9:3 ph 9:2212:6
peaking 114:20 84:23 88:7 24:2 68.6 phases 174:22
peaks 180:6,7 95:8 96:10,12 110:24 philosophy
pedestrian 84:8 | 97:12,17,17,23 | permitted 39:9
90:13,16,17,17 106:18,23 79:11 96:17 photo 77:19
129:21 130:17 133:16 157:7 118:16 photography
130:18,20 168:12 181:19 82:11
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[physically - portnoy] Page 43
physically 67:21,24 70:12 63:9 67:20 point 31:649:8
11:20 21:21 70:13,17 71:25 72:11,19 76:13 49:8 56:10,11

pick 107:22 72:277:19 89:3103:15 57:761:2
121:21 158:5 79:7 81:3,5,9 133:11 155:8 64:24 66:6
picked 132:7 82:12 91:20 187:25192:6 81:3,8 88:6
picking 136:11 94:5,595:14 planted 109:13 104:13 107:8
piece 156:5,6 100:13101:20 | planting 89:18 108:21 124:21
pierce 156:3,3 102:17,18 plated 134:7 140:9 177:16
piggybacking 103:6 108:24 plaza 43:1,8,16 183:20 184:3,7
129:16 118:11,13 61:11 129:18 186:11 195:3
pile 49:5,6 120:18,22 please 4:36:20 | points 128:14
pipes 121:4 121:8,24 128:4 7:58:89:21 172:13
pitch 84:19 129:15 133:17 13:718:10 poles 142:14
88:7 141:25 153:10 19:19 22:19 police 12:16
pits 121:2 155:12 159:3 2717 31:8,9 17:13,17 22:15
157:25 164:3 170:6 37:750:1 34:9 134:16
piza 142:14 plane 154:25 52:19 53:22 142:25 143:5
place 13:10 planned 191:22  60:19,23 68:13 185:13192:11
39:1241:9 planner 2:10 14:24 75:7 policy 104:13
42:17,19 45:19 33:1034:8,11 76:11 81:22,23 | pompton 43:13
104:13 107:10 37:4 98:20 124:15 125:21 43:14
132:6 134:25 160:1,17 164:7 193:25198:3 pool 11.5
172:25178:25 | planner's 91:13 | 198:12 portion 57:13
180:15 186:7 planning 1:1 pleasing 41:6 57:2358:6,7,8
places 185:25 2:929:14 131:12 59:11,15 68:23
plan 3:85:2,17 48:12,14,16 pleasure 53:23 82:584:15
6:5,6 11:11 49:14 56:6 54:3 101:2 123:10
12:18,23 21:14 08:18 139:21 plus 59:11 156:25
22:16 28:20 163:8 184.9,15 60:16 126:17 portnoy 45:11
29:17 32:20 193:21 140:8 45:16,17,21
40:17 41:17 plans 3:629:21 | pm 165:21 46:12 143:9,9
42:14 47:11,14 33:24 34:5,15 168:11,18 143:21 144:6
48:6 51:17 46:2547:2,6,20 | 189:16 144:10,23
55:20 61:15 48:8,1555:7,19 145:8,13 146:8
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[portnoy - price] Page 44
146:14,17,21 prefaced 128:3 | presenting 49:24 50:19
147:2,10 175:9 | preference 39:17 100:11 52:12,22 54:24
175:10,21 99:23 presently 11:2 55:6,12,16,23
176:17 1775 preliminary 20:20 56:1,24 59:5
178:7,17 32:21 63:9 president 37:22 60:12 64:7,17
180:12,25 67:22 68:9 38:959:9 67:22 68:12,14
182:7,16 183:8 72:11 69:18 105:8 68:14,15,18
183:16,21 premature pressure 140:2 69:12 70:5,14
184:4 42:13 presume 12:22 70:18,21 71:1

pose 157:4 premises 10:25 103:18 149:6 73:20,23 74:21
posed 94:24 11:2,3,6,9,15 pretty 84:19 75:1176:12,17
positive 33:12 13:11 14:20 126:2 130:7 16:22 77:7,12
possible 129:12 17:16 20:18,20 134:17 138:7 77:21,24 78:2
post 54.22 20:21 21:11,12 143:19 81:2491:14
89:16 102:14 prepared 48:8 | prevalent 93:1,4,13,18,20
103:51784 48:11,14,16,20 109:19 03:2394:1
posted 55:7 54:17 93:7 prevent 147:16 96:298:17
185:15 162:12 200:3 previous 24:9 99:2,5 100:1,3
potential 80:14 | preparing 24:10 40:2 100:7 111:9
88:3 164:5 163:24 172:13 117:24 119:12
potentially preschool previously 11:3 119:20 121:19
130:12 190:21 129:23 130:3 20:21,24 21:1 126:9,10,12
pothole 122:7 134:11 33:23 34:25 127:4,16 128:1
poughkeepsie present 11:2 53:857:563.6 128:25 132:21
163.7 20:19 29:23 76:177:17 136:22 137:4
power 140:15 30:5,17,2340:1 | 162:17 165:13 141:24 142:11
140:17 77:21127:6 195:11 147:21 151:1,4
practice 75:21 | presentation price 29:6 30:3 154:12,14,16
104:13 111:12 134:24 32:5,6,10,12,15 | 157:13160:3,7
practiced 53:15  presentations 32:15,16 35:12 160:20,24
75:22 162:8 162:23 35:20,22,24 161:24 162:12
pre 35.:677:14 | presented 36:3,742:16,20 | 163:17,21,25
147:25 136:17 42:25 47.23 164:5,10171:2
48:4,5 49:3,21 171.6,8 186:19

800-227-8440

Veritext Lega Solutions

973-410-4040




[price - proposing] Page 45
187:16,22 198:22 200:4 92:19 99:10 propose 92:16
189:4,6 196:14 | proceedings 102:22 167:13 | proposed 3:3
197:6,8 198:9 199:3,4,6,8 projected 94.22  3:1011.9
198:10 200:6 104:24 165:24 21:13 50:14

primarily 15:2 | process 30:4 166:2,22 51:1754:18
22:25 31:7 172:15 173:16 177:24 56:857:18
primary 168:15| 187:14188:4,5 190:9 195:17 62:12 63:11
princeton 188:5 projections 67:5,6 78:4
10:1017:1,3,4 | processed 167:9,17 172:6 80:8 81:3,9
principal 53:4 167:5 190:11 82:14 84:25
printouts 170:2 | processing projects 75:23 85:24 8716
prior 24:13 177:4 promote 132:5 89:6 90:4
25.848:2 produce 54.6 properly 157:9 96:15,21 97:14
95:15110:25 product 14:19 | properties 98:5,9 100:11
111:1 118:11 14:19,24 15:1 29:17 38:22 100:15 101:24
163:24 166:25 23:14 59:25 39:24 42:22 101:25 102:4
182:23187:23 | products 14:9 92:21 109:22 103:8 115:13
199:5 51:9 147:18 127:21 129:14
probably 31:23 | professional property 5:25 131:10,13,25
36:1 50:23 30:14 33:10 10:13,18 12:24 140:12 143:16
55:2103:18 52:25 75:12,17 14:18 20:7 147:14 164:2
114:24 122:7 76:2 162:2,6,8 21:21 22:10 166:3,6,21,24
133:16 137:11 186:17 25:9 29:20,22 167:5,9,13,14
137:15149:17 | professionals 38:16,18 40:7 167:14 170:1
160:7 169:4 29:23 34:17 41:12 65:2,6 170:23
173:4 1871 36:11 47:3,3,7 78:23 82:5 proposing 5:8
problem 131:4 47:9,12 49:12 86:2,8 89:1 40:16 41:3,9,12
140:13 150:2 197:19 91:595:16 42:3 62:24
153:19,24 progressed 100:16,22 82:18 83:19
155:16 156:2 66:7 104:16 106:17 84:7 92:5
174:15185:20 | progression 106:18 109:16 95:17,24 98:7
197:21 174:8 137:1 140:16 98:16 101:22
proceeding project 33:.8 159:1 109:21 123:21
33:21 167:23 53:25 54:9 130:17 131.9
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[proposing - question] Page 46
185:9 196:4 providing 85:1 137:17,20,22 pursuant 97:11
proprietary 95:4 118:16 138:1147:13 push 54:25
51:9 130:10 178:4 148:15 149:18 105:19,23,25
protect 90:18 196:3 150:4,6,10 107:4
protected provisons 51:1 159:23 160:10 | put 16:12 39:22
109:14,17 105:9 147:22 161:2 162:1 57:10 59:6
protection proximity 163:19,24 63:3 105:9
151:16 158:16 72:14 171:13,15 106:20 108:14
proud 32:24,25 | pseg 140:7 188:16,21 121:7 126:22
39:8,15 142:16 189:21 190:8 126:23 131.22
proven 193:16 | public 6:18 190:23 191:4 146:10,11
provide 5:20 28:17 29:10,14 193:14,17 148:23 149:16
29:341:10 30:1,12,13,16 198:2 199:18 151:25 157:25
52:2383:2,4 30:19 31:3 publication 158:22 193:23
84:186:691.6 44:20 45:2 167:10 179:20 | putting 69:10
104:23 105:10 46:20,23 47:6 | publications 87:1147:3
128:25 151:14 47:13,18,24 177:21 pylon 119:6
151:15 154.8 48:2 50:2 publicly 38:19 q
163:3,6 168:9 51:15,21,24 162:21 .
169:2,9173:25 | 523235423 | puerto 53:6 gﬁgnfij'lés:g
173:25194:19 55:1,357:12 puglis 2:14 53:19 76:2
198:6 59:18,21 64:11 4:18,19 7.20,21 126:15 16218
provided 11:17 64:12,21,23 8:22,23 16:22 199:7
11:24 12:23 65:9,15 66:18 18:24 25:13 qualify 76:8
21:25 33:17 66:19 71:8,15 28.6,7 44:13 quality 11:7
63.7 87.7,11 71:17 72:8,17 66:24 116:12 7314 95:6.12
88:13,22 91:17 73:1,8,13,25 116:20117:3,6 quarters ’
115:10 123:13 74:3,8,1375:13 | pull 16:6 121:25
162:21 165:16 77:25104:15 194:19 quas 29:15
173:24 190:2 120:1124:2,25 | purpose 195:7 : :
question 13:13
198:13 125:9,14,21 purposes 15:3 15:18 24:8.13
provides 83:4 131:17 134:23 27:2 84:25 42:16.21 4"1:5
85:10,25 135:17 136:10 177:8 191:3 26:2 4’ 48:05
172:18 136:17 137:2
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[question - reason] Page 47

50:8,18 51:14 108:2 109:5,9 r rationale
64.23 66:11,24 109:11 111:5 r 21411921 181:24
68:21 69:20 120:9 125:21 3713 161-15 ratios 177:25
72:5,7,993.24 126:1 132:11 161:15,19,19 179:18
105:9,11 109:9 132:17 143:10 161:21.21.22 reach 108:20
109:10 110:8,9 143:11 146:16 161:22 198:14
111:14 112:15 150:9171:13 radius 154:4 reached 110:11
115:7,25 171:20,24 radiuses 1117 141:24
126:14,16 177:6 1818 rail 61:10 reactivate
138:19 146:11 184:1,22 120:14 39:18 40:11
146:24 148:9 186:15192:25 | (sinfall 94:21 | Feading 103:16
150:5157:21 194:2 195:9 94:22 reads 10:25
172:22 173:7 queue 170:3 raise 911456 @ real 381319
175:6,13 183:9 173:11,12 74:93 125:22 172:20 177:9
184:10 186:13 190:13,16,18 raised 34:17 190:3,5
186:20,23,25 194:16 139:2 reality 181:13
188:7 191:16 queues 190:10 ramp 877 really 15:17
191:21 192:25 190:20 1025 12216 41:6,12 79:17

guestioning queuing 80:20 122:17.19 80:19 85:13
186:11 85:11,13129:2 | .. 154:25 87:10 96:5

questions 6:17 130:12 135:11 range 176:10 97:3107:7
15:21,22,25 135:11,14 raspy 32:7,12 123:13 130:13
16:15,19,22 169:25 170:21 37:17 134:9 145:18
23:21,23 24:5 174:16 190:9 rate 167:18 168:4 174:15
25:13,16 26:8 191:22 192:13 189:22 195:6,24,24
30:8,11,14,21 194:13 195:5 rates 94-9 196:1
30:24,2543:22 | quick 111:5 189:25 190:5 rear 6:2156:17
43:24 44:11,13 1945 rather 34:16 62:24 65:2,5
44:18 45:3,6 quite 29:7 46:7 66:12 67:3,5
46:6,8,12 48:4 179:8 rating 39:7,8 79:23,24
52:164:8,10 quote 152:22 ratio 989 104:14 111:16
65:16,16,18 114:15 127:7 156:8
67:971.6,15 reason 49:11
7724 100:4,12 116:20 128:22

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[reason - regard] Page 48
129:10 140:18 | recommendat... | redoing 91:23 | refined 42:14
156:12 185:1 187:19 193.8 reduce 90:19 50:21

reasons 1285 | recommended 183:1 195:5 reflect 21:8
reassure 103:3 135:22 reduced 54:11 37:3
rebrand 119:9 | recommends 57.6 60:25 reflecting 47:11
receipt 10:9 178:2,6 96:7,18 129:20 | refresh 118:23
20:3 reconfiguring 199:6 refuse 131:19
receive 49:8 91:21 reducing 35:1 |reg 38:21
67.6,23,25 reconfirm 96:12,19 regan 2:59.9
received 6:14 34:18 106:23 127:21 9:20,24 19:11
6:14 34.7,13,13 | reconstructed 179:11,13 19:18,22 31:15
47:1048:2 159:4 reduction 31:18 35:7,10
49:1,17 187:18 | reconstructing 40:22 89:14 35:18,21,23
187:21 83:14 95:7,11 96:10 36:1,6,9 37:3
recent 41:5,8 record 5:20 97:10 98:6 37:11,15,18
53:24 91:9 19:18 28:25 114:2 117:19 52:18 53:8,14
97:20183:5 35:9,19,2537:3 | 143:15144:11 53:18 55:24,25
recently 53:11 37:12 42:17 168:18 67:8 69:6,25
54:179:20 47:1952:18 reductions 74:23 75.6,10
receptacle 59:791:14 89:22 94:8,10 76:1,7,24 776
131:16 99:1 105:6 redundant 78:17,2093:12
recharge 95:16 124:14 125:12 179:6 98:25 124:14
95:18 136:23 199:9 reexamine 124:17 131:4
recognition 200:5 116:7 154:13,15
172:1 recorded 199.6 | reference 45:4 161:12,16,20
recognize 12:5 |recording 29:3 49:10 50:23 162:17 163:1,9
31:885:18 199:8 200:4 56:24 76:14,18 163:12 171:4,9
124:2 recycling 74:1 98:20 114:22 regard 33:13
recognized 131:22 132:2 referenced 33:2147:16
45:6 127:7 red 101:19,19 48:24 49:2,18 61:17 78:21
recommendat... 101:19 50:20 135:10 79:3,16,23
53:2176:10 redeveloping 184:8 82:17 86:19
122:13 163:15 43:11 46:10 referring 90:23 92:24
100:12 102:15 94:3 95:6,19
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[regard - requirements) Page 49
96:8,13,15,22 | relative 46:8 102:18 103:23 | representing
97:11 98:3 149:9 199:13 126:18 157:16 10:12 20:6
101:9181:17 200:10 removing 41:21| 39:10

regarding release 121:11 82:18,21 94:10 | represents
72:1087:11 relevant 164:13 | rendered 82:13 72:1977:15
172:24 1959 relief 32:22 rendering request 31:23
regency 1.3 35:4 54:18 31:2356:21
28:19 33:7 relocated 167:4 | reopen 1348 198:4
37:22 389,17 | relocating repainted requested
38:18,21 39:6 58:14 65:21 48:24 173:3
40:8 42:23 rely 172:2 repaving 122:1 | requesting
45:18 54:4 remain 56:11 rephrase 151:13,24
59:9 68:2 103:23 1046 186:22 require 35:2
69:18 81:18 119:7 157:17 replaced 72:21 147:24
105:8 109:23 remainder 119:11 required 11:15
region 39:4 54:14 157:16 report 3:13 11:16,24 21:18
regional 39:1 remaining 4:.255:36:5,7 21:19,24 474
39:25 81:12 82:23 6:9,10 34.7,7 68:397:18
regions 37:23 86:2 88:21 78:6 93:6,9 187:9 198:7
38:11 104:1,1 94:7,14,20 requirement
regularly remains 42:13 162:13171:5 91:11 97:23,24
134:17 56:9 58:4,6 172:2,4173:1 100:23 115:22
reinvigorate remedial 95:14 193:5 134:6 148:10
39:18 remediation reported 1:19 148:14
related 28:21 121:8 reporter 28:22 | requirement's
82:187:8 remedy 80:22 | reports 34:8,11 68:8
112:8 143:11 remember 34:17 48:19 requirements
172:22 199:11 152:1 164:6 187:18 47:11 62:6
200:7 remodeling reposition 82:692:1
relating 194:18 16:5 39:23 95:12 134:1
relation 71:23 | remove 102:19 | representative 140:10,15
relationship removed 33:24 33:739:11 179:22 182:10
57:15193.6 57:1358:3 188:22 182:13,23
73:21,24
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[requires- ridge] Page 50
requires 72:23 | respecting resulting revised 3:12
87:298:13,14 129:12 166:19 168:15 33:19 56:5
147:24 respond 34:12 | results 134:20 7617 77:2
requiring 70:5 169:11 93:9,10,24
118:18 responders retail 15:8,17 112:15154:8
rerouting 136:1 | 136:9 15:19 23:14 revisons 46:25
resend 187:24 | response 575 38:12,2358:8 | revisit 123:1
reside 39:1 60:2591:12 60:5,1063:12 | rico 53.6
residence 98:22,24 99:9 73:1475:23 rid 80:25
148:17 165:15 78:12,1384:19 | ridden 122:7
residences r esponses 106:17 138:18 | ridge 5:719:10
147:18 112:14 165:17 162:10 189:19 20:523:17
resident 184:21 | responsible retailers 39:10 28:18 32:23
residential 39:14 142:17 104:4 148:21 39:1943:14
25:1972:14 rest 35:371:23 | retails 15:7 48:11,13,19
75:24 92:21 174:21 190:18 | retaining 84:17 63:18 79:6,13
100:20 126:4 restaur ant 87:2,3102:7 79:1580:11,19
149:23 162:11 78:13167:14 retention 94:25 81:1,7 84:5
residents 32:25 169:7 177:2 121:9 85:5,6,9 87:20
139:23173:20 180:20,22 return 197:15 88:8,19 90:7
179:12 188:11 | restaurants review 3:175:2 95:21,25 96:25
191:18 198:20 33:2334:2 5:1147:2,7,9 97:7 101:2
resistant 110:12 114:18 48:6 72:21,23 111:17 112:1
109:25 129:19 135:13 120:3 125:3 116:21 12723
resolution 5:20 145:24 148.6 150:20 153:10 128:7,18 129:1
29:4 148:12 149:16 170:10 188:1 133:21 134:10
respect 6:17 149:21,25 reviewed 94:14 135:11 137:14
26:22 42.22 150:1 168:25 124:20 128:10 152:12 155:2
58:2173:11,11 178:25 180:8 164:6 172:14 159:5164:19
103:7 142:6 180:13,18 173:3187:23 164:22 167:1,6
160:4 187:18 195:18 reviewing 6:19 170:1,4,9,11,24
193:9 restore 39:23 reviews 47:4 173:6,15,23
respectful result 51:17 revise 155:24 174:9,25 185:5
184:2 141:5 185:25 187:3,6
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[ridge - safe] Page 51
190:10,14 159:8 160:3,20 187:3,6 191:22 | roughly 41:21
191:22 192:5 160:20 165:5 192:10,20,20 42:3,5 168:12
192:10,20 173:14 174:1 194:24 195.6 route 43:12
194.8,24 195:6 177:19 186:12 | roadway 165:9 88:4,5,6,7,16

ridgemont 186:16 188:2 167:19,20 105:21 126:4
139:16 140:6 190:15 192:5 189:18 191:24,25

right 9:1121:3 193:12,19 roadways routinely
29:20,23 49:9 194:10 195:1,4 166:11 169:2 162:21 163:5
49:2354:12 197:8 rob 75:1181:24 182:22
57:19,20,23,23 | righthand 108:5 128:19 routing 50:13
64:11,18 68:25 185:11 180:2 181:16 90:5
69:24 70:2 rink 140:5 rob's 163:21 run 115:3
71:16 73:1,14  riparian 827 robert 2:575:2 133:22 140:4
73:23,25 74:24 94:17 75:8 132:16 140:13 155:1
79:7,8,8,9,10 rite 43:9,10 200:2,15 running 48:9
79:12 80:24,24 | river 765 rockland 140:6 | runoff 51:18
81:7 85:20 road 5:728:19 |roll 427588 89:22 94:9,9,12
87:21,22,22 63:18 79:6,13 18:10 27:17 95:4
89.6 95:25 79:1580:11,19 108:11 192:1 runs 39:482:4
100:1 113:13 81:1,7 845 rolling 106:19 | rush 134:3
113:19 119:3 85:5,6,9,25 108:25 109:6 146:3 180:20
119:13121:4 87:2088:8,19 | roof 63:9,17 181:2,3189:17
123:22 127:19 90:7 95:21 67:1138:25 ryan 2:84:13
129:7,8 130:3 96:25 111:17 139:2 152:25 4:14 7:16,17
131:8 132:1 112:1 116:21 153:2,3,5,7 8:18,19 16:19
134:15 135:22 127.23 128:18 160:18 18:20,21 28:2,3
136:24 137:3 129:1 130:19 roofs 64:15,19 44:11 114:1.5
138:9,9,10 133:21152:12 | rooftop 56:16 114:24
139:1,17 141:6 153:24 155:2 63:11,14,22 S
143:12 146:14 159:5 164:19 65:1,572:10,11 s 213141
148:17 151:19 167:1,6 168:6 | room 6:21 s&p 3825397
152:10 153:2 168:16 170:11 32:18 138:21 safe 33:341:10
153:10,12 173:6 174:9,25 155:3 156:11 427 1451
154:14 158:7 185:5,25 186:3 195:14

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[safely - separ ate] Page 52
safely 145:2 scenario 127:25  71:10,11 76:25  seeing 103:12
safer 42:246:1 176:12 110:8 125:17 144:14 168:4

46:4 1479 scene 136:9 140:20 167:7 196:22
safety 40:23 school 53:4 176:11 187:9 seek 34:1
45:23 46:14 136:11,12 seconded 7:2 seeking 29:24
147:2 181:20 145:17 192:3 8:574:15 33:2567:22
193:14 schools 165:11 171:17 72:2098:7
sale 14:11 science 75:15 secretary 6:15 101:5
2314 162:4 198:15 seem 195:16
salon 58:11,13 | screen 56:16,19 | section 96:8,23 | seems 115:3
salt 95:10 63:14,14 67:5 97.11,18 172:2
109:15,16,19 131:14 127:12 seen 69.6
109:23,25 screened 74:2,5  security 19:10 155:10 172:23
sample 14:24 screening 63:7 20:4 21:12 178:11 182:25
15:5103:1 72:10 23:11,1326:6 | selected 65:22
samples 14:21 | scrub 148:11 27:3 188:22 189:22
14:23 scrubber see 6:255:2 self 75:24
san 54.8 148:11 56:757:19,19 | sl 14:8,10
sat 193:11 scrubbers 58:560:461:7 | sdling 59:15,17
satisfied 156:15 | 148:22 61:14,23 64.15 148:22
saturday sculman 32:16 64.16,19,25 sells 11:7
145:16 165:1 sealed 48:8,15 65:5,10 69:8 send 110:5
165:22 168:11 | seasons 109:15 81:483.684:;5 | sending 110:4
168:19 188:21 139:15,16 85:389:4,7,9 sense 81:2
189:12,17 140:6 92:17 101:10 107:11 120:24
saw 168:18 seat 70:9 106:1,19 114:6 122:7 123:2
192:9 seating 73:17 114:25 116:5 135:9179:16
saying 104:5 73:18,22,24 119:15122:14 | sensitivity
122:24 17513 | seats 68:8,11 123:1 130:2 189:23
175:17,23 70:6,6 73:18 138:17,25 sent 55:20
181.9,21,22 second 2:157:1 139:1,3169:1 141:25
184:8 27:13,14 28:23 174:9 181:14 sentinel  109:22
scaled 144:21 28:23 37:24 182:8 185:19 separate 68:6
52:5,6 54:17 109:9 110:12
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[sequence - side] Page 53
sequence sewer 95:20 shift 14:15 short 122:18
142:23 110:18 ship 14:24 123:9 138:16
series 80:5 shack 42:657:4 | shipped 15:2 152:4 156:2
111:6 61:2,20 70:8 shipping 14:19 | shorter 153:17
seriously 86:21,23 shocked 145:19 | shot 90:16
193:14 shade 91.6,8,10 | shoebox 101:18 | shoulder 192:1
serve 39:11 91:11 109:20 shoot 149:17 show 155
110:19,22 shake 42:657:4 150:25 61:1572:1
111:1 141:8 61:2,20 70:7 shop 5:943:3 74:5 94:23
184:16 194:1 86:21,23 shopped 51:7 95:19111:23
served 193:20 | shaped 103:2 shopping 32:23 155:17 170:6
service 112:11 | share 45:23 33:239:19 showed 154:24
131:21 147:14 184:3 43:1,4,6,12,13 155:5 168:19
169:18 170:17 | shared 114:16 43:15,17 45:18 170:3
174:2,3175:1 114:19 180:3 46:9,1048:11 | showing 57:12
176:9,14 she'll 160:17 48:13,20 58:14 63:11 67:24
services 135:24 | sheet 48:10,18 62:25 63:21 82:11 101:19
169:12,21 54:20 56:24 64:14,16 75:24 111:21 112:7
175:19176:10 57:161:16 79:2,21 80:7 shown 25:11
serving 130:13 63:8,8 65:19 83:6 84:11 33:23 34:25
session 165:11 66:10,11 67:19 89:998:13 73:18 99:24
set 19:7 24:17 72:24 91:15,16 104:15 105:23 131:11 190:13
29:547:14 101:10 102:19 106:19 114:16 | shows 12:17
55:19 638 103:1 115:2 118:6 78:1197:1
81.22 1557 sheets 48:9,17 134:13 136:21 99:11 112:3
setback 96:24 | shell 68:2 136:24 147:6 side 38:14,15
97:1,2,6,9 sherwin 4:18 148:6 162:10 41:24 49:12
196:7 shield 132:5 168:13 173:19 54.12 58.8
setbacks 96:22 196:17,21 182:21 185:4 59:16 62:23
sets 24:19 shielded 92:13 185:17,23 67:7 68:25
seven 189:9 92:17 189:19 81:8,14 82:20
several 40:20 shields 92:12 shoprite 43:1 83:23 85:22
128:10 196:16 53:25 87:8,10,10 89:3
89:3,24,24
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[side - sKills] Page 54
91:2395:3 signalized simultaneoudly 97:15100:13
97:16 100:20 128:24 164.20 36:12 100:14 101.6
100:21 102:5 signature 12:6 | single 51:10 102:1,8 104:22
104:16 106:17 22:4,10 199:16 78:12 137:10 104:25110:13
111:18 115:2 200:14 singular 167:6 118:11,15
122:18,19 signatures 12:1 | sip 32:8 121:8 122:1,15
123:9,10,15 12:321:25 sir 27:437:6 128:10,11
128:9 130:22 22.2 74:.2376:4 131:9,20,21,23
130:22,24 signed 48:7,15 125:23 126:13 137:9,12 139:7
135:7 1377 90:21 1457 138:5 139:13 155:6 164:3,19
144:18 152:4,5 | significant 147:12 160:25 164:21,23
152:6,8 159:1 89:10 95:4,8 188:20 167:21 168:23
186:1 196:7 112:21 113:3 sit 57:3,1574.6 170:14 1766

sded 63:25 113:16 135:24 | site 3:65:2,17 178:4 180:10
sides 56:17,20 166:15 176:13 11:21 21:22 187:11 191:1
145:3 178:15 28:20 29:16 sites 109:18
sidewalk 83:13 | significantly 32:20 33:3 167:15 190:3
83:14 87:20 85:4 113:21 39:16,1940:11 | sitting 183:19
88:14 102:2 179:15 40:14,17,20,25 | situation
130:15,21 signs 6:121:23 40:25 41:2,10 142:20
131:1,20 61:19 62:21,24 42:5,8 46:2 situations
sidewalks 63:290:4,12,13 | 47:.20485 183:3
83:18 119:4 126:22 51:16 62:18 six 48:17
sign 1123 127:9,11 70:12 71.25 122:23 141:14
31:2561.:24 145:11 155:20 72:1,2 74:5 142:22 155:18
62:5,18 118:23 | slly 175:12 75:2077:18 165:8 182:4
119:2,6,7 148:1 | similar 145:22 78:11,1280:6 | size 20:12
signage 61:17 169:12,21 81:2582:12 24:14 57:25
90:6,11 172:19 175:18 85:14,17,18,24 86:21 143:15
signal 128:6,8 176:25 177:4 86:5,15,19,20 158:7
129:3,7 142:22 190:3 88:1,2,2590:9 | sizes 143:16
173:21,23 smple 5:15 90:10 92:22 skating 140:5
174:17,20 simply 89:20 94:12 95:13 skills 199:10
176:12 187:20 96:9,14 97:14 200:6
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[skipped - specifically] Page 55
skipped 93:10 94:25 101:24 57:24 58:16 gpanning 38:23
diced 315 109:3 115:15 59:3,10,14 60:5  speak 30:15,20
dight 94:23 118:2 124:1 60:10,14 69:3 49:13 51:6
dightly 56:5 131:3133:19 73:1475.25 69:14 127:16
slope 84:2 143:25 150:23 80:17 83:11,12 180:17

185:16 157:21 161:18 84:14 88:9 speaker 16:11
sloped 109:16 175:12,22 89:2091:4 19:7 24:5 38:3
sowly 121:11 179:6 182:14 92:4 952 44:8 45:12
small 83:8 186:10 189:10 96:21 138:12 50:11 65:10

84:17 138:12 192:18 197:24 138:18 158:6,7 132:14 143:20

139:5 143:11 sort 70:12 159:5,6 148:16 149:22
smaller 58:17 130:5178:18 spaces 11:15,17 186:2,5189:3

61:23 104:4 192:6 195:22 11:19,21 21:18 | speakers 44:25

174:22 sorted 66:8 21:19,22,23 52:8 71:13
smell 149:17 sought 33:14 78:23 80:3 74:18 125:19
smoke 149:15 | sound 175:12 83:16,17,22,23 136:5 1428
soil 3:1469:4 sounds 51:21 84:1 86:23 150:11,14

98:18,19,21 source 51:11 87:9,9,16,17 161:21 17116

90:18 112:13 92:12,17,18 90:12,12 96:23 171:19

121:2,16 196:17 97.3,998:4,5,8 | speaking 127:9
soils 94:21 sources 80:13 98:10 103:12 spec 1584
somebody 32:1 | south 87:10 104:6 115:13 specializing

139:20 118:13 122:18 118:12,17 11:4
somebody's 137:7 152:5 131:21 140:11 | species 109:24

17:.24 159:4 192:10 144:3,15,17 gpecific 50:5
somewhat 194:10,25 146:25,25 127:22 171.25

116:22 southeast 83:12 155:4,15 156:2 176:5 189:15
sorry 7:39:14 | southern 1771517 1957

12:19 23:11 128:12 178:1,2,5,22 specifically

28:22 45:11 space 10:23 179:11195:13 13:922:21

46:19 48:21 11:16 16:6 195:14,15,16 76:5 111:22,24

55:14 64.:21 20:16 22:17 195:17,19,21 115:12 13125

66:1,11 78:15 24:13,25 253 195:22 136:1 143:12

91:1793:19 26:23 38:12,24 163:4172:8

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[specifically - steps] Page 56
173:3176:3,6 | spraying 98:12,14,15 statement
180:17 109:15 101:17 144:4,5 30:20 48:13

gpecified 50:12 | sprinkled 147:8 164:16 110:17
71:21 159:10,13,15 167:10172:2 statements
gpecify 35:11 sprinkler 17:20 177:23 179:20 49:20 186:14
47:19 165:14 158:12,19,19 181:10,18,19 states 53:6
speed 90:18,19 158:21,22 182:9,12 183:7 75:18
185:14,15 sq 143:23 183:12 stating 151:14
speeding square 10:19 standards station 5:7
192:13 10:20 20:13,14 72:13114:14 stations 40:21
speeds 185:19 24:11,17,19,20 181:12 118:9
spell 9:2119:19 | 38:12,2341:20 | standpoint stay 82:24
37:11 52:19 41:21 42:4 89:21 127:5 160:12,13
75:6 161:13 43:16 54:12 140:2 170:18 staying 175:19
spelled 75:9 56:13 57:14,24 177:21 197:5
spill  92:20 58:2559:11 stands 64:11 stead 127:9
100:21 101:1 78:15,16 82:19 126:1 stealing 158:21
spillage 101:4 82:22 83:9 starbucks steep 84:19
spillover 50:3 86:21,23,24 143:22 145:15 | stefanelli 2:13
split 21:44 89:1591:4 stark 65:19 4:15,16 6:25
spoken 162:21 94:11 112:16 start 36:444:3 7:18,19 8:6,20
spot 55:2 112:21 113:7 44:6 133:3 8:21 15:21,22
143:15 114:3176:3 138:22 148:1 18:7,22,23,25
spots 115:3 177:25178:3,3  started 164:16 25:18,23,25
116:3117:12 squaring 83:9 | starting 23:21 26:3,5,8 28:4,5
117:22,22 st 100:21 43:23 48:9 43:23,24 44:5
126:17,25 141:21 146:1 64.10 108:3 52:467:14
129:20 138:16 185:15 192:3 starts 198:5 71:10 118:22
138:16 139:6 stable 39:7,7 state 19:1845:7 | 119:1,8,15,22
143:13,14,16 stacks 147:16 52:18 75:19,21 step 45:7,10
143:18,24 staff 179:15 168:21 182:21 125:22 150:18
144:15178:19 | stairs 87:14,15 199:19 191:7
179:2,14 standard 24:1 | stated 136:19 steps 56:13
78:490:11 151:6 58:5164:1,11
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[steps - summary] Page 57

187:11,12 storms 94:19 studied 164:18 | submission

steve 88:18 stormwater 164:18 169:22 49:22 91:7

steven 125:24 3:12 34:6 175:18 176:9 submit 68:5

sticks 155:18 48:1951:18 176:14 99:17 124:20

stipulate 134:1 78:582:1 studies 47:20 submittal 48:23

stipulated 89:13,21,24 53:3172:13 91:.9,21
73:20,23 93.5,6,9,24 178:8 183:5 submitted 10:9

stocked 11:15 94.4,6,12,24,25  190:3 20:3 33:19

stop 28:22,23 95:4,21 120:25 | study 48:10 35:13,24 47:2
43:378.7 88:8 121:17 135:15139:19 47:25 54.20
90:12 145:11 story 33:11 142:24 146:18 72:12 76:15
145:11 167:22 | straight 86:16 146:21,22 77:1797:20

storage 26:23 90:16 165:5 159:7 16415 155:8,12
59:2573:3 stream 82:4 164:16,23 162:13
74:175:25 street 100:22 166:1,10,17 submitting
83:19 95:4 129:13,24 168:17,21 72:24
132:3152:19 139:23 141:18 169:10 170:2 subsequently
157:17 148:17 155:20 170:13 172:24 109:23

store 16:10 191:25 192:1 174:4 176:20 successfully
41:18 66:14 Streets 127:12 177:8,14 37:5
83:15,2196:16 | strictly 26:5 180:15 187:2 sufficement
97:19 104:19 121:9 stuff 107:25 41:16
116:1 157:16 strip 71:23 120:11121:2 suggest 116:7
176:21 177:7 stripe 120:18 131:7 120:18 194:1
178:24179:14 | striped 170:5 sub 35:11 suggested 5:11
181:7 striping 5:23 subdivision suggesting

stored 131:18 5:24 88:22 29:16 196:8

stores 62:12 strollers 87:12 | subgrade 58:23 | suggestion
66:12 83:16,23 123:14 subject 10:13 106:25
103:8,10,17,19 | strong 160:11 10:24 13:11 suite 9:410:18
106:17 123:5 structural 14:19 20:14,16 12:19 16:12
146:4 149:3 157:5 65:2 70:16 20:9 39:2
176:18,19 structure 82:5 95:22 summary
179:13 180:14 119:14 170:12

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[summer - temporary] Page 58
summer 54:10 114:7 115:1 systems 23:11 172:25 190:6
summit 3:49:4 120:12 121.:2 23:14 26:1 199:3,12 200:9

10:14,17 20:9 121:14 122:2 147:19 149:15 | takes 1324
184.25 122:25 1233 158:12 146:18 188:5
super mar ket 128:21129:10 | szivak 200:2,15 | talk 38:5,6
73:5172:8 145:14 146:3 t 57:1089:13
176:23 154:11 156:14 t 311921 116:4
supplement 157:3,7,9 161:5 37:13.14 talked 141:25
13:18,18,21,22 162:3164:14 161:1:5 1921 179:19
47:17 174:11 175:23 161:22’ ’ talking 58:22
supplemental 187:4 194:17 table 621 106:18 143:21
63.8 194:23 90:18 11213 151:17 174:12
supplemented surrounded 11213 174:12 178:23
47:15 62:2 tables 33:22 185:18
supplements surveys 172:18 67-24 tall 87:591:25
11:8 sustainability taco 149:23 tank 151:12
supplied 34:4 40:20 take 13:10 target 54:1
supply 13:19 swear 9:9,11 17:93 92:22 taryn 125:25
35:14 19:11 36:9,10 31:9.10 327 team 39:3,23
support 27:2 124:8 35:3’14 783 technical 47:3
supposed switchback 10 4::2 411113 | technically
135:19 122:14 1232 116:23 1231 97:24 130:25
sure 16:420:23 | sworn 9:17 195:17 132:24 tell 9:1819:16
24:24 31:17 19:15 36:5,8,15 13 4:2:5 142:21 33:11 36:16,21
37:13,25 42:25 36:20,25 37:4 148:11 164:10 37:152:16
45:10,11,11,16 52:12,15 75:3 166:17 168:8 754 124:12
49:14 50:2 124:11 161:1,9 168:22 169:9 161:10 185:13
53:24 68:8,17 199:5 180:2 184:7 187:1191:14
68:21 69:10 symbol 38:21 18711 191'6 template 70:17
70:2471:19 synergies 182:6 191:17 193:13 155:1
75:14 90:22 synopsis 52:24 195:13 templates 94:2
92:9,16 102:22 | system 130:15 taken 109:18 temporary
105:5,7 110:1 158:19,19,21 118:15 126:7 134:5
112:17 113:19 158:22
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[ten - think] Page 59
ten 40:3103:9 | tested 135:12 44:1,4,7,9 thing 71:21
113:8118:12 testified 9:19 51:13,21,23 120:13 122:14
160:7 176:11 19:17 36:17,22 52:10,11 54:21 135:7 151:8
179:9 182:24 372454 56:1 60:21,21 153:8 158:10
tenant 11:20 52:17 755 64:5,6 65:13,17 169:8 174:12
16:524:1 124:13 161:11 66:22 67:8,10 179:25
38:14 41:14 testifies 30:23 67:16 70:4 things 26:6
58:968:4,4,5 testify 29:24 72:6 73:174.8 46:2 59:25
80:3176:5 65:2 69:20 74:19,20 75:10 84:6 92:24,24
tenants 11:19 73:12 12423 78:9 100:9 99:18,19 120:8
21:2041:11,13 | testifying 199:5 111:3113:24 126:23 129:20
42:12 50:14 testimony 9:12 115:6 116:10 143:23 145:1
57.461:18 30:7,21 33:11 117:5,8 118:7 152:15,17
63:10,12 70:17 A47:16 77:22 118:19,20 167:2
74:2 86:2,21 125:1 127:6 119:23,24 think 7:931:5
88:11 112:6 134:19 135:16 120:6 123:25 32:17 35:18
116:25 167:15 146:12 152:18 124:5,17 125:6 36:7 45:22
180:4 157:11 160:14 128:21 132:8,9 46:13 50:19,20
tend 109:24 162:22 163:4,6 132:10 134:22 50:22 51:6
144:19 163:22,24 138:1,3 139:10 52:153:18
tendencies 164:6 166:25 143:6,7 147:11 55:1,358:11
54:15 171:21 180:3 150:6,7 159:19 69:19 73:12
term 192:6 thank 5:46:4 159:20,21 81:4 92:23,24
terms 235 6:12 9:24 10:2 163:16 171:23 93:12 96:1
82:1383:18 10:3,8 15:24 172:22 175:4,5 97:25 100:3
84.2 85:25 16:2,17 17:9,10 183:21 184:4,5 106:25 112:22
86:13 89:23 17:11 18:2 184:18 188:18 116:16 117:13
98:1 99:20 19:5,6,8,8,22 191:4,5,8 117:20 124:24
117:1 140:15 19:23 20:2 196:24 197:2,2 131:5 136:15
144:4 1739 22:14 23:23 197:4 198:20 138:11,24
181:11 196:2 26:9,21 28:12 | that'd 174:6 139:2,6,7,8,24
terrible 31.5 28:14 32:6 theme 40:10 144:20 146:23
test 66:16 70:20 37:15,19 42:15 | thick 34:578:6 149:24 150:2
121:2 151:10 42:20 43:18,20 151:2 152:2,7
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[think - towns] Page 60
153:19 156:24 115:11,16,17 188:5 190:7,17 72:20 157:11
157:23 160:5,9 116:3118:14 190:18 196:24 160:2
171:2,2 174:17 121:25 123:5 197:19,25 tonight's 164:6
175:10,11 126:6 129:19 198:7 tons 109:16
177:10 180:2 142:13 145:23 | timeline's took 47:9109:4
189:3 196:23 147:13 152:2 133:6 131:3164:1

thinking 65:24 165:2,22 times 78.8 166:24 167:3
66:2 139:21,22 178:25 195:18 113:4 114:21 top 56:7102:7

thinks 135:6 throw 92:19 127:13 128:10 102:14 103:5
182:12,18 123:23 165:19 173:21 136:2 195:3

thirds 151:12 throwing 123:3 180:5 181:4,6,7 total 11:17,21
thirteen 103:12 196:15 182:23 57:6
103:13 ti 68:5 timing 132:25 | totaling 59:12
thought 81:2 tice 32:16186:2 | 141:16,20 touch 49:11
87:24 107:8 187:3 142:25 174:20 131:6
194:16 tice's 185:1,23 175:3187:20 touched 42:9
thoughtful ticker 38:21 timsak 142:1 touching 165:9
39:23 tied 174:19 187:22 193:6 toward 185:16
thoughts 114:5 | till 62:18 tires 165:8 towards 62:25
thousand 98:10 | tim 5:96:1 titillating 63:21 84:5
98:15 114:2,22 | time 31:10,11 125:10 85:290:9
178:2,5 35:2337:21 title 13:2 145:22 196:9
threat 142:14 44:14,16 46:6 | today 31:21 196:16
three 21:13,17 66:21 106:25 33:2047:13 tower 142:13
21:18 31:23 120:19 122:20 126:2 town 79:2
33:2342:5 124:19 132:18 | together 32:22 109:18 140:3
50:1457:4 132:21,22 39:22 48:7 151:8 158:14
61:18,18,20,21 138:13 139:1 told 5:14 54:10 163:7 182:10
62:12,24 63:12 141:18 171:12 | tolerant 109:24 182:12,12,18
78:6 79:3 173:22,24 toms 765 183:10 184:8
86:21 87:17 174:1,5,20,24 | tonight 5:56:7 184:11,12,13
92:8,10 96:5 179:9,10 180:6 6:11 33:19 towns 31:9
97.8 100:23 180:11 183:14 35:7,15 37:20 147:24
110:12 113:4 183:22 184:5 40:1,11 47:19
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[township - trucks] Page 61

township 72:13 172:10175:25 159:25 160:5 trash 74:1
76:5 176:2177:11 160:11,14,23 131:6,10,22

tractor 137:10 178:8,10,23 162:8,13,18 132:1

trade 38:20 179:9 180:13 163:8 164:1,15 | traveling 63:18
39:2541.8 181:11 182:3 164.23 166.6 travels 167:21
135:13 188:25 191:23 166:10 167:8 tree 109:21

traded 38:19 195:17 167:13,20 trees 89:19

trader 41:19 traffic 33:9 170:12 171:21 91.6,8,8,10,12
50:3,4,5,13 34:7 40:13 172:3,5,13 109:12,18,24
51:3,6,7,9,12 42:8 46:3 173:15,16,17 110:3
54:13 56:8,11 47:2048:10 173:19 175:7 tri 75:19
56:12,22 57:14 50:16,23 60:14 175:14,16,24 182:21
58:7,16 59:13 63:378:24 175:25 176:20 | trigger 69:4
60:15 61:5,17 79:14 86:1 177:8,12,14,20 | trip 167:12,19
62:14 63:12 90:1,4,5,15 178:8,20,21,21 167:20 168:2
67:171.23 98:12 104:20 179:12 184:24 168:18,18
83:11,12,15,20 111:10 114:25 185:14 186:5 172:7
83:2385:20 120:20 126:4,7 187:2,2,13 triple 121:17
86:188:12,15 126:10,11 189:18 192:9 trips 168:5,16
92:4,8 95:1,3 127.:8 128:6,8 194:18,24 168:20
96:21 103:8 128:18 129:6 trafficked truck 3:15,16
104.2,20,23 129:21,23 178:24 50:13 81:14,15
105:18 106:2 130:6,20 trailer 137:10 81:16 94:2
107:2108:18 133:23 134:5,8 | transcriber 111:15,24
111:22 112:8 134:14,15,19 200:1 112:3 135:4,18
112:11 114:6 135:15,20,25 transcript 29:2 153:5,9,17
114:12,17 136:13,13,13 200:3,5 154.8,16,18,19
115:9,12,15 136:16 139:5 transcriptionist 154:23 155:5
116:1,5119:11 139:19 141:16 199:7 155:22 156:7
129:19 131:24 141:21 142:14 | transferred truck's 135:6
132:3 139:8 142:23,24 184:24 truckers
145:23 1536 143:11 145:1,1 | transportation 116:15,18
153:14 157:16 145:10,12,14 167:11 168:14 | trucks 42:2
171:25172:1,7 145:24 146:22 172:6,18 190:1 80:181:20

Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[trucks - unfortunately] Page 62
88:23116:22 154:1 155:3,5 147:3,6 151:12 u
126:3 130:7 155:19,21 152:17 156:1 u 19:21
133:8 135:8,21 156:2 165:5 159:25 164:21 ub 1:328:19
137:12,17,20 168:4 170:4,6 170:1 182:6 umbrélla
true 101:7 185:3,11,20 184:23 185:25 164:13
143:1 155:21 186:8 187:5 191:2 195:8 under 38:12,20
199:9 200:5 190:13,15 tyler 132:16,16 97:18,21 98:13
trust 38:20 194_1: 11 132:23 133:3,7 0814 114:23
193:10 turning 3:15 133:14,20 118:16 12814
truth 9:18,18 94.2 111:7,15 134:9 142-6 14414
9:1919:16,16 154:16,18 type 75:25 151:11 157-15
19:17 36:16,16 165:4 187:19 08:13 101:10 157:16 164:13
36:17,21,21,22 | turnoff 184:25 101:17,18,23 166:8 167:7
37:1,1,252:16 | turns 80:5 102:3,24 106:3 169:13 174:3
52:16,17 75.4,4 | 185:24 114:17 126:6 175:1 1784
75:5124:12,12 | twelve 103:10 152:24,25 understand
124:13161:10 | two 11:15,16 153:5 157:2 29:1 89:25
161:10,11 12:1 21:19,25 168:13 169:5 104:3 138:15
try 38:5,689:3 35:539:3 177:24178:3,6 157:18 160:16
130:18 161:3 61:2066:12,13 180:19 177:6 183:22
167:24 195:5 66:14 79:5 types 101:11,22 1946
1_95:24 83:16,22 88:20 169:5_ _ understanding
trying 41:5 89:3,2596:23 | typewriting 95:351:3 667
86:1390:10 97:298:1 199:7 66:16 67:21
134:3 183:22 104:20105:18 | typical 79:1 103:20 175:11
tsai 4:18 106:5,24 109:9 80:7 164:15 179:1 191:19
tsali's 4:25 109:11 1115 166:9 167:21 under stood
tuesday 1.7 114:5,5 119:4 190:25 70:10 110:6
197:10 120:21121:21  typically 83:6 111:2 1155
turn 31:2532:4 126:6 127:21 89:9132:4 123:7 1458
80:4 86:13 127.22,22 167:21,24 183:21 184'5
94:11 116:23 128:14 129:14 189:17,18 unfortunately
135:4 137:9 131:24 143:11 191:1 160:15 192-4
153:9,14,18 145:4,9,14
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[unidentified - veolia] Page 63
unidentified upper 86:17 162:10 168:8 valley 43:14
16:11 19:7 usage 26:22 169:5 176:23 variance 31:21
24:5 38:344:8 110:12,16 177:2 180:22 33:21,25 34:22
45:12 50:11 164:12 182:6 34:23 48:6
65:10 132:14 use 5:15196:2 | using 15:2 61:16 96:7
143:20 148:16 9:310:911:2,6 84:24 133:15 97:1398:8
149:22 186:2,5 11:16 20:3,20 165:24 177:7,8 138:15182:11
189:3 21:10,19 31:21 177:21,23 183:6 195:13
unimpeded 33:1353.9 179:13,15 variances 28:21
194.25 195:2,4 61:24 73:2,7,11 181:9 189:23 33:14 62:9,10
union 76:5 76:2 81:16 usmsas 38:24 62:11,18 92:24
159:14 84.16,2086:1 | usually 130:19 96:3,4,7
unique 120:18 91:395:15 134:3178:2 variants 32:22
121:24 106:2 117:2 utilities 94:.5,5 | varies 87.3
unit 22:24 129:6 130:15 95:19 133:22 variety 75:23
units 56:16 138:12 162:18 133:24 134:4,7 102:9
63:11,14 65:5 167:13172:8,9 | utility 41:1 various 162:9
university 53:2 172:12,12 140:4,13,24 163:6 164:1
162:5 177:24 179:21 141:2,7,11 187:11
unsafe 145:20 180:3 183:2,7 | utilization vary 144:13
unsignalized 189:4 40:14 vast 40:14
176:12 used 11:320:21 | utilized 103:5 147:5
update 156:15 20:24 272 103:18 165:21 | vehicle 95:7,8
updated 33:20 59:2591.5 172:9,10 vehicles 26:24
upgrade 40:16 102:10,16,25 utilizing 42:7 80:14 84.9
40:17 159:12,13 167:10 85:12,12 87:18
upgraded 177:14,16 v 165:6,7,8
100:25 190:4 196:1 vl 92:11 169:20 174:8
upgrades 41:1 | users 426 vacant 11:2 vendor 51:11
41:2 151:15 86:22 20:2158:13.13 | Venue 61:8
upgrading uses 33:25 valid 150:4 ’ veolia 110:11
40:24 78:13,13 85:23 154:11 141:10 151:10
upped 100:24 114:20 115:24 151:14 157:25
147:14,23 158:3
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[verbiage - we've] Page 64
verbiage 178:20 87.4 102:7 washington
119:12 volumes 165:20 157:3,9 43:2
verifying 49:7 165:25 166:10 | walls 152:25 waste 41:1
verizon 142:16 166:13,18,20 want 17:21 water 95:6,20
versus 73:14 167:3 168:15 31:642:11 107:2,3,22
170:24 180:7 168:17,19,22 49:13 50:18 110:11,12,18
180:13,24 177:1,3189:18 66:17 69:9 140:2 141:1,10
vice 2:437:22 volunteers 90:15,22 92:15 151:8,10,12,16
38:959:8 130:5 93:1,4 104:22 151:17 158:2,3
69:17 105:8 vote 7:58:8 106:13 107:13 158:11,15,16
169:7 18:10 27:17 114:7 116:23 158:17,18,18
vicinity 87:21 W 122:2,10,13 158:21
129:2 - . 123:14 124:2 way 30:132:24
view 55:4 64:24 ﬂin?ﬁz s 124221209 | 57:18633
66:6 74:3 89:1 145:18 173:11 138:15,18 77:178:25
89:25 92:13 192:7 193:4 140:14 150:16 82:186:11,12
130:3 194:4 151:1 157:8 88:5,9 89:4
viewpoints waits 192:11 158:17,21 90:8 95:25
40:24 waiver 32:22 171:4 174:11 111:19 112:6
vis 94:9,9 96:7 175:22 181:17 114:21 135:21
visibility 88:25 waivers 3314 185:6,7 197:22 144:25 145:4,6
visble 63:18,23 waldwick 43:8 wanted 34:19 145:7,9,14
visit 154 43:8.9.11 35:560:8 66:5 147:3,7,9
168:25 178:10 walk ’8’7:13 81:9108:1 151:23 152:13
vistors 11:16 122:20 123:4 111:23 123:22 153:2 167:23
21:19 104:25 12311 127.8,12 167:24 168:2,5
179:21 walking 40:19 165:14 191:15 192:8 193:17
voice 32:14 8795 129:25 194:23 194:21
37:17 146:1 wants 109:11 wayne 43:15,17
volume 114:6 wall 56:19 124:3 150:9 ways 190:22
114:10 145:24 57:22 63:14 war ehouse 194:15
172:1,1,4,24 66:12 82:23 14:2,3,11,12,14 | wb 111:24
173:9175:13 84:17 87234 14:25 15:2 we've 521
175:14 177:12 T 31:20 39:22
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[we've - work] Page 65
51:754:3,3,6,9 | went 90:21 windsor 53:12 | woodcrest
60:25 70:11 94:13 105:17 162:24 45:17 132:17
77:14,18 84:13 | west 53:12 winter 109:15 143:10 171:23
85:15 86:3,3,11 66:12 152:8 wish 45:6,9 175:10
88:13 90:5 162:24 196:7 188:5 woodmont
91:994.24 westerly 86:12 | withdrawn 46:20 72:8
100:18,24,24 westwood 31:22 79:5,10,15
102:17 105:9 116:2 191:24 witness 9:17 81:12 86:15
109:17,21 192:1 19:15 30:7,9,17 88:21 90:7
118:12,14,15 whatnot 149:15 33:6 36:15,20 97:8 101:3
128:4 140:17 whatsoever 36:25 46:8 112:1,4,5
141:24,25 138:21 50:18 52:15 116:13 117:2
145:14 146:12 A whedon 9:16 64:7 75:3 126:1,22
171:24 172:9 9:22 100:6 124:11 127:12,23
172:10,11 whedl 105:24 126:9,14 128:6,23,24
177:10 182:24 106:2 150:16 161:9 129:22 130:1

weather 165:11 | whedls 106:8,9 199:4 130:11 131:1

website 154:24 107:9 108:20 witnessed 134:23,25

week 34:14,14 | white 61:7,8 137:16 135:2,19 137:6
4710 65:19,20,24 witnesses 29:9 137:13 138:8

weekday 66:2 30:533:6 138:14,20,23
164:25 165:21 | wholesale 15:8 34:18 35:4 151:22 152:6
165:21 180:24 15:10,11 159:25 197:15 153:20,22
182:3189:9,12 | wide 61:21 wonder 197:17 164:18,20
189:16,16 116:22 135:7 wondering 170:13173:8
190:6 144:5,16 46:1 64:15 173:16,20,23

weekend 54:2 | widening 83:13 114:10 182:17 174:16 179:4
135:12 180:23 | wider 144:21 woodcliff 32:17 | word 62:3
188:22 width 144:4,14 71:20 72:9 193:23

weight 157:3 wife 51:7 142:7,15,24 words 92:14

welcome 195 william 2:4 185:2 191:12 work 40:25
28:12 74:9 4:11 192:12 193:21 66:16 85:2
138:2 willing 160:12 196:6,25 89:11 94:16

95:14,24
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440 973-410-4040




[work - zoning]

103:19 157:2 28:24 35:18 162:9 182:24
167:25 182:5 43:20 47:1 193:7,11
182:20 193:8 49:24 51:5 yep 26:777:12
worked 546 55:12,16 69:12 125:6 142:11
working 38:15 69:16,23 70:19 | yield 90:13
54:4,9 75:22 70:2171:1 york 10:14
170:8 88:17 99:5 12:12 20:7
workout 93:8 100:7 107:1 37:23 38:10
works 121:14 108:9,16 39:2,3162:7,22
world 177:9 113:20 117:3,4 163:7 172:12
worried 138:22 117:10,13,21 7
139:20 122:12 123:17 .
worst 151:11 123:18 124:24 2611;2:12721'12724’:2121
would've 130:23 132:20 174:18 175:4
185:10 132:23,25 Jer0 874
wrapping 137:25 139:14 zip 11:2521:24
33:10 140:21 141:23 sone 10:18
wrong 185:22 142:2 147:21 20:10 827
wykoff 43:5 149:1,14 152:7 94:17
X 154:14 156:10 zoning 2:6 6:9
x 31 157:19158:89 | 965 109:9
159:2174:18 110:2 149:14
y 182:15183:25 5550 oe
yard 652 186:4 193:3 1834
151:24 152:1 196:20 '
156:22158:17 | year 39:1454:5
yards 69:22 120:21 165:25
99:11,12,13 166:5,13
112:25113:2,5 years 17:8
113:10,14 38:14,16 39:20
yeah 154,15 39:21 40:4
17:4,8,13,23 41:8 54:4 60:4
18:123:7 75:22 120:21
25:18 27:5 139:4 148:5
Veritext Lega Solutions
800-227-8440

Page 66

973-410-4040



	Meeting
	Word Index
	All
	& - 35
	35,000 - 9th
	a.m. - add
	added - ale
	align - applicant
	applicant - asking
	asset - based
	basement - bob
	body - business
	business - center
	center - chipotle
	choice - committee
	common - confusion
	conjunction - coordinated
	coordinates - cubic
	cubic - delay
	delays - depinto
	depinto - discussions
	dismissal - ears
	ease - entertain
	entertain - existing
	existing - feet
	feet - fondacaro
	fondacaro - further
	furthered - going
	going - gruber
	gruber - hi
	hi - improvements
	inch - intersection
	intersection - joseph
	journey - land
	land - line's
	lined - louder
	low - master
	matched - missed
	misses - name
	name - normally
	north - office
	office - operations
	operations - pad
	pad - past
	path - photography
	physically - portnoy
	portnoy - price
	price - proposing
	proposing - question
	question - reason
	reason - regard
	regard - requirements
	requires - ridge
	ridge - safe
	safely - separate
	sequence - side
	side - skills
	skipped - specifically
	specifically - steps
	steps - summary
	summer - temporary
	ten - think
	think - towns
	township - trucks
	trucks - unfortunately
	unidentified - veolia
	verbiage - we've
	we've - work
	work - zoning

	Alphabetical
	Numbers and Symbols
	& - 35
	35,000 - 9th

	A
	a.m. - add
	added - ale
	align - applicant
	applicant - asking
	asset - based

	B
	asset - based
	basement - bob
	body - business
	business - center

	C
	business - center
	center - chipotle
	choice - committee
	common - confusion
	conjunction - coordinated
	coordinates - cubic
	cubic - delay

	D
	cubic - delay
	delays - depinto
	depinto - discussions
	dismissal - ears

	E
	dismissal - ears
	ease - entertain
	entertain - existing
	existing - feet

	F
	existing - feet
	feet - fondacaro
	fondacaro - further
	furthered - going

	G
	furthered - going
	going - gruber
	gruber - hi

	H
	gruber - hi
	hi - improvements

	I
	hi - improvements
	inch - intersection
	intersection - joseph

	J
	intersection - joseph
	journey - land

	K
	journey - land

	L
	journey - land
	land - line's
	lined - louder
	low - master

	M
	low - master
	matched - missed
	misses - name

	N
	misses - name
	name - normally
	north - office

	O
	north - office
	office - operations
	operations - pad

	P
	operations - pad
	pad - past
	path - photography
	physically - portnoy
	portnoy - price
	price - proposing
	proposing - question

	Q
	proposing - question
	question - reason

	R
	question - reason
	reason - regard
	regard - requirements
	requires - ridge
	ridge - safe

	S
	ridge - safe
	safely - separate
	sequence - side
	side - skills
	skipped - specifically
	specifically - steps
	steps - summary
	summer - temporary

	T
	summer - temporary
	ten - think
	think - towns
	township - trucks
	trucks - unfortunately

	U
	trucks - unfortunately
	unidentified - veolia

	V
	unidentified - veolia
	verbiage - we've

	W
	verbiage - we've
	we've - work
	work - zoning

	X
	work - zoning

	Y
	work - zoning

	Z
	work - zoning




